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Under various federal, state and local environmental laws, ordinances and regulations, a current or previous owner or operator of
real estate may be required to investigate and clean up hazardous or toxic substances or petroleum product releases at the
property and may be held liable to a governmental entity or to third parties for property damage and for investigation and clean-
up costs incurred by those parties in connection with the contamination. These laws typically impose clean- up responsibility
and liability without regard to whether the owner knew of or caused the presence of the contaminants. Liability under these laws
has been interpreted to be joint and several unless the harm is divisible and there is a reasonable basis for allocation of
responsibility. The costs of investigation, remediation or removal of the substances may be substantial, and the presence of the
substances, or the failure to properly remediate the property, may adversely affect the owner’ s ability to sell or lease the
property or to borrow using the property as collateral. In addition, some environmental laws create a lien on the contaminated
site in favor of the government for damages and costs it incurs in connection with the contamination. Persons who arrange for
the disposal or treatment of hazardous or toxic substances also may be liable for the costs of removal or remediation of the
substances at the disposal or treatment facility, whether or not the facility is owned or operated by the person. Finally, the owner
of a site may be subject to common law claims by third parties based on damages and costs resulting from environmental
contamination emanating from a site. If we become subject to any of these claims, the costs involved could be significant and
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations. Risks Related to
Our Corporate Organization and Structure Anti- takeover provisions in our governing documents, governing law, and material
agreements may discourage, delay or prevent a merger or acquisition that our stockholders may consider favorable or prevent
the removal of our current board of directors and management. Certain provisions of our Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation and our Amended and Restated By- laws may discourage, delay, or prevent a merger or acquisition that our
stockholders may consider favorable or prevent the removal of our current board of directors and management. We have a
number of anti- takeover devices in place that will hinder takeover attempts, including: a staggered board of directors consisting
of three classes of directors, each of whom serve three- year terms; removal of directors only for cause, and only with the
affirmative vote of at least a majority of the voting interest of stockholders entitled to vote; right of our directors to issue
preferred stock from time to time with voting, economic and other rights superior to those of our common stock without the
consent of our stockholders; provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated by-
laws limiting the right of our stockholders to call special meetings of stockholders; advance notice requirements for stockholders
with respect to director nominations and actions to be taken at annual meetings; requirement for two- thirds stockholder
approval for amendment of our by- laws and certain provisions of our Certificate of Incorporation; and no provision in our
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation for cumulative voting in the election of directors, which means that the
holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of our common stock can elect all the directors standing for election. Further, we
entered into an investor rights agreement with certain of our largest stockholders that prohibits certain change of control
transactions without the prior written consent of Conversant Fund A and the existence of a majority stockholder, such as
Conversant, may also have the effect of deterring hostile takeovers, delaying or preventing changes in control or changes in
management, or limiting the ability of our other stockholders to approve transactions that they may deem to be in the best
interests of our company. Several of our loan documents and other material agreements also require approval in the event we
undergo a change of control of our Company. These provisions may have the effect of delaying or preventing a change of control
of the Company even if this change of control would benefit our stockholders. In addition to the anti- takeover provisions
described above, we are subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law. Section 203 generally prohibits a
person beneficially owning, directly or indirectly, 15 % or more of our outstanding common stock from engaging in a business
combination with us for three years after the person acquired the stock. However, this prohibition does not apply if (A) our
directors approve in advance the person’ s ownership of 15 % or more of the shares or the business combination or (B) the
business combination is approved by our stockholders by a vote of at least two- thirds of the outstanding shares not owned by
the acquiring person. A substantial majority of the voting power of our issued and outstanding securities is held by a small
group of stockholders. In November 2021, we issued 41, 250 shares of our Series A Preferred Stock to affiliates of Conversant
Capital LLC. The holders of our Series A Preferred Stock are generally entitled to vote with the holders of our common stock on
all matters submitted for a vote of holders of shares of common stock (voting together with the holders of shares of common
stock as one class) on an as- converted basis. As of December 31, 2823-2024 , the Conversant Investors collectively owned a
majority of the voting power of the Company’ s issued and outstanding securities. Pursuant to our investor rights agreement,
Conversant Fund A is entitled to designate four individuals to be appointed to the Company’ s board of directors , (which will
increase to five individuals on May 3, 2025) , including the Chairperson, and Silk Partners LP is entitled to designate two
individuals to be appointed to the Company’ s board of directors, in each case so long as they and their respective permitted
transferees and affiliates maintain minimum aggregate holdings of our stock as described in further detail in the investor rights
agreement. Notwithstanding the fact that all directors are subject to fiduciary duties to us and to applicable law, the interests of
these stockholders and their respective director designees may differ from the interests of our security holders as a whole or of
our other directors. Additionally, the consent of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock is
required in order for us to take certain actions, including issuances of securities that are senior to, or equal in priority with, the
Series A Preferred Stock, significant acquisitions, change of control transactions and incurrence of indebtedness in excess of a



certain amount. As a result, the holders of Series A Preferred Stock have the ability to influence the outcome of certain matters
affecting our governance and capitalization. The issuance of shares of our Series A Preferred Stock reduced the relative voting
power of holders of our common stock, and the conversion of those shares into shares of our common stock would dilute the
ownership of common stockholders and may adversely affect the market price of our common stock. The holders of our Series
A Preferred Stock are entitled to vote, on an as- converted basis, together with holders of our common stock on all matters
submitted to a vote of the holders of our common stock, which reduces the relative voting power of the holders of our common
stock. In addition, the conversion of our Series A Preferred Stock into common stock would dilute the ownership interest of
existing holders of our common stock, and any conversion of the Series A Preferred Stock would increase the number of shares
of our common stock available for public trading, which could adversely affect prevailing market prices of our common stock.
Our Series A Preferred Stock has rights, preferences and privileges that are not held by, and are preferential to the rights of, our
common stockholders, which could adversely affect our liquidity and financial condition. The holders of our Series A Preferred
Stock have the right to receive a payment on account of the distribution of assets on any voluntary or involuntary liquidation,
dissolution, or winding up of our business before any payment may be made to holders of any other class or series of capital
stock. In addition, dividends on the Series A Preferred Stock accrue and are cumulative at the rate of 11. 0 % per annum,
compounding quarterly. Any declaration of dividends is at the discretion of the Company’ s Board of Directors. If the Board
does not declare a dividend in respect of any dividend payment date, the amount of such accrued and unpaid dividend is added
to the liquidation preference and compounds quarterly thereafter. During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and
2022-, accrued and unpaid dividends of $ 2. 7 million and $ 5. 0 mithemand-$2-3-million, respectively, were added to the
liquidation preference of the Series A Preferred Stock, which will be payable under the redemption features . During the year
ended December 31, 2024, the Company declared and paid $ 2. 8 million cash dividends on the Series A Preferred Stock
. The holders of our Series A Preferred Stock also have certain redemption rights, including the right to require us to repurchase
all or any portion of the Series A Preferred Stock upon prior written notice of certain change of control events for a repurchase
price equal to the greater of (i) the proceeds that would have been received in respect of the shares of Series A Preferred Stock in
such change of control if they were converted into common stock immediately prior to such change of control and (ii) an amount
in cash equal to 100 % of the then- current liquidation preference thereof plus all accrued but unpaid dividends. These dividend
and share repurchase obligations could impact our liquidity and reduce the amount of cash flows available for working capital,
capital expenditures, growth opportunities, acquisitions, and other general corporate purposes. Our obligations to the holders of
our Series A Preferred Stock could also limit our ability to obtain additional financing, which could have an adverse effect on
our financial condition. The preferential rights could also result in divergent interests between the holders of our Series A
Preferred Stock and holders of our common stock. We are a holding company with no operations and rely on our operating
subsidiaries to provide us with funds necessary to meet our financial obligations. We are a holding company with no material
direct operations. Our principal assets are the equity interests we directly or indirectly hold in our operating subsidiaries. As a
result, we are dependent on loans, distributions and other payments from our subsidiaries to generate the funds necessary to
meet our financial obligations. Our subsidiaries are legally distinct from us and have no obligation to make funds available to us.
Risks Related to Other Market Factors Various factors, including general economic conditions such as ristnginflationelevated
labor costs , could adversely affect our financial performance and other aspects of our business. General economic conditions,
such as inflationelevated labor costs due to shortages of medical and non- medical staff, competition in the labor market,
increased costs of salaries, wages and benefits, and immigration laws . the consumer price index, commodity costs, fuel and
other energy costs, supply chain disruptions eompetitiontin-thetabor-market, increased insurance costs of salaries-, wages
tariffs , elevated benefits-and-insaranee;-interest rates and tax rates, affect our facility operating, general and administrative, and
other expense. We have no control or limited ability to control such factors. Current global economic conditions and
uncertainties, the potential for failures or realignments of financial institutions and the related impact on available credit may
affect us and our business partners, landlords, counterparties and residents or prospective residents in an adverse manner
including, but not limited to, reducing access to liquid funds or credit , increasing the cost of credit, limiting our ability to
manage operating costs nterestrateriske, increasing the risk that certain of our business partners, landlords or counterparties
would be unable to fulfill their obligations to us, and other impacts which we are unable to fully anticipate. Our non- labor
operatlng expen%es have hlqtorlcally comprl%ed of approxunately one- third of our total operatlng expenses and are %ub]ect to the

%1n—292€—9&ﬁnﬁﬂ-—1abor force avallable to us and other factors, mcludlng government regulatlons. In some geographlc
areas, the scarcity of specialized medical personnel, experienced senior care professionals and other workers has
impacted, and may continue to impact, our operations by increasing our labor and operating expense-in-costs. Labor
shortages may also impact our ability to comply with minimum staffing requirements under applicable federal and state
regulations. Failure to comply with these requirements can, among other things, jeopardize a senior living community
portfolio-deereased-approximately-$-0-> s compliance with the conditions of participation under relevant state and federal
healthcare programs . §-mitlion-eompared-In addition, if a senior living community is determined to be out of compliance
with the-these prier-rear-requirements, it may be subject to fines and other regulatory penalties, including the suspension
of resident admissions, the termination of Medicaid participation or the suspension or revocation of licenses . Future
offerings-sales of equity securities by us or certain stockholders may adversely affect the market price of our common stock.
We have increased, and may again in the future, attempt to increase, our capital resources by offering additional equity
securities. During 2024, we completed the 2024 Private Placement pursuant to which we issued and sold an aggregate of
5, 026, 318 Shares of our common stock to certain of our largest stockholders, including the Conversant Investors, at a
price of $ 9. 50 per share, we issued and sold an aggregate of 667, 502 shares of our common stock pursuant to our At-
the- Market Sales Agreement with Mizuho Securities USA LLC, and we issued and sold 4, 830, 317 shares of our



common stock in an underwritten public offering at a public offering price of § 27. 00 per share. Additional equity
offerings , including sales under our ATM Sales Agreement, may dilute the economic and voting rights of our existing
stockholders and / or reduce the market price of our common stock. Our decision to issue equity securities in a future offering
will depend on market conditions and other factors, some of which are beyond our control. We cannot predict or estimate the
amount, timing or nature of our future offerings. Thus, holders of our common stock bear the risk of our future offerings
Ieducm,g_ the market pnce of our common stock and dllutm;: their holdmvs in our (ompany Further pu-rsu&ﬂt—te—t-he—Reglstﬁrtteﬁ
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stockholders that are either outstanding or issuable upon conversion of Series A Preferred Stock and the exercise of outstanding
warrants. The resale of a substantial number of shares of common stock in the public market, or the perception that such resale
might occur, could cause the market price of our common stock to decline and impair our ability to raise capital through the
sale of additional equity securities . Any shares sold in a registered resale will be freely tradable without restriction under the
Securities Act. While we cannot predict the size of future resales or distributtons-offerings of our common stock, if there is a
perception that such resales or distributtens-offerings could occur, or if the holders of our securities registered for resale sell a
large number of the registered securities, the market price for our common stock could be adversely affected. Our stock price
has fluctuated in the past, has recently been volatile and may be volatile in the future, and as a result, investors in our
common stock could incur substantial losses. Our stock price has fluctuated in the past, has recently been volatile and
may be volatile in the future. During the year ended December 31, 2024, our common stock traded at a low of $ 8. 65 and
a high of $ 34. 26. We may continue to experience sustained depression or substantial volatility in our stock price in the
foreseeable future unrelated to our operating performance or prospects. As a result of this volatility, investors may
experience losses on their investment in our common stock. The market price for our common stock may be influenced
by many factors, including the following:  our operating and financial performance and prospects; * our quarterly or
annual earnings or those of other companies in our industry; ¢ the public’ s reaction to our press releases, other public
announcements and filings with the SEC; ¢ changes in earnings estimates or recommendations by securities analysts who
track our common stock; * market and industry perception of our success, or lack thereof, in pursuing our strategies; ©
strategic actions by us or our competitors, such as acquisitions or joint ventures; ¢ our ability or inability to raise
additional capital and the terms on which we raise it;  changes in accounting standards, policies, guidance,
interpretations or principles; ¢ arrival and departure of key personnel; * changes in our capital structure;  trading
volume of our common stock; ¢ sales of our common stock by us or our stockholders, including Conversant and Silk; ¢
changes in general market, industry, economic and political conditions in the U. S. and global economies or financial
markets; and ¢ other events or factors, including war, terrorism and other international conflicts, public health issues
including health epidemics or pandemics and natural disasters such as fire, hurricanes, earthquakes, tornados or other
adverse weather and climate condltlons. Smce the stock pme of our common stock hds fluctuated in substantialy-overthe
past , ; b has been rrecently volatile and
may eeﬂtmue—te—be volatlle in the future subjeet—te-srgm-ﬁeaﬂt—ﬂuetu&&eﬂs-lnvestors in our common stock could incur
substantial losses. In the past, following periods of volatility in the market, securities class- action litigation as-has a-often
been instituted against companies. Such litigation, if instituted against us, could result in substantial costs and diversion
of a—va-rteey—e%faetefs—management’ S attentlon and resources , W hich could materlally and adversely affect are—deserrbed
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guarantee that our stock price will remain at current levels or that future sales of eetld-deeline-as-a-result—This-velatity
may-prevent-you-frombeing-able-te-setbyour— our common stock will not be at er-abeve-the-priee-prices youpaid-for-your

eommon-steel-lower than those sold to investors . Our trading volume may not provide adequate liquidity for investors. Our
common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange. However, the average daily trading volume in our common stock is
significantly less than that of larger public companies. A public trading market having the desired depth, liquidity and
orderliness depends on the presence of a sufficient number of willing buyers and sellers for our common stock at any given
time. This presence is impacted by general economic and market conditions and investors’ views of us. Because our trading
volume is limited relative to larger public companies, any significant sales of our shares of common stock could cause a decline
in the market value and price per share of our common stock. We may issue debt and preferred equity securities or
securities convertible into preferred equity securities, any of which may be senior to our common stock as to
distributions and in liquidation. In the future, we may issue additional debt or preferred equity securities or securities
convertible into or exchangeable for preferred equity securities, or we may enter into debt- like financing that is
unsecured or secured by any or all of our properties. Such securities may be senior to our common stock as to
distributions. In addition, in the event of our liquidation, our lenders and holders of our debt and preferred equity
securities would receive distributions of our available assets before distributions to the holders of our common stock.
ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS. None. ITEM 1C. CYBERSECURITY Cybersecurity Risk Management and
Strategy We have developed and implemented a cybersecurity framework intended to assess, identify, and manage risks from
threats to the security of our information, systems, products, and network using a risk- based approach. The framework is
informed in part by the National Institute of Standards and Technology (“ NIST ”’) Cybersecurity Framework, NIST 800- 53 and
International Organization for Standardization 27001 (“ ISO 27001 ) Framework, although this does not imply that we meet all
technical standards, specifications, or requirements under the NIST or ISO 27001. Our key cybersecurity processes include the
following:  Risk- based controls for information systems and information on our networks: We seek to maintain an information




technology infrastructure that implements physical, administrative and technical controls that are calibrated based on risk and
designed to protect the confidentiality, integrity and availability of our information systems and information stored on our
networks, including customer information, personal information, intellectual property and proprietary information.
Cybersecurity incident response plan and testing: We have a cybersecurity incident response plan and dedicated team to respond
to cybersecurity incidents. When a cybersecurity incident occurs or we identify a vulnerability, we have a strategic partner (a
Managed Security Service Provider (““ MSSP 7)) that is responsible for leading the initial assessment of priority and severity.
Our cybersecurity team assists in responding to incidents depending on severity levels and seeks to improve our cybersecurity
incident management plan through periodic tabletops or simulations at the enterprise level. * Training: We provide security
awareness training to help our employees understand their information protection and cybersecurity responsibilities at the
Company. We also provide additional role- based training to some employees based on customer requirements, regulatory
obligations, and industry risks. * Supplier risk assessments: We have implemented a third- party risk management process that
includes expectations regarding information and cybersecurity. That process, among other things, provides for us to perform
cybersecurity assessments on certain suppliers based on an assessment of their risk profile and a related rating process. We also
seek contractual commitments from key suppliers to appropriately secure and maintain their information technology systems
and protect our information that is processed on their systems. « Third- party assessments of the Company: We have engaged
third- party cybersecurity companies to periodically assess our cybersecurity posture and to assist in identifying and remediating
risks from cybersecurity threats. We also consider cybersecurity, along with other risks to us, within our enterprise risk
management framework. The enterprise risk management framework includes internal reporting at the enterprise level, with
consideration of key risk indicators, trends and countermeasures for cybersecurity and other types of significant risks. In the last
fiscal year, we have not identified risks from known cybersecurity threats, including any prior cybersecurity incidents, which
have materially affected us, including our operations, business strategy, results of operations, cash flow or financial condition.
Cybersecurity Governance The Audit Committee of our Board of Directors is responsible for board- level oversight of risks
from cybersecurity threats, and the Audit Committee reports back to the full Board of Directors about this and other areas within
its responsibility. As part of its oversight role, the Audit Committee receives reporting about the Company’ s practices,
programs, notable threats or incidents and other developments related to cybersecurity throughout the year, including through
periodic updates, from our Chief Technology Officer. Our Chief Technology Officer reports to our Chief Executive Officer and
leads the Company’ s overall cybersecurity function, including the assessment and management of cybersecurity risks. The
Chief Technology Officer has over 25 years of experience in managing and leading information technology or cybersecurity
teams and participates in various cybersecurity organizations. The Chief Technology Officer collaborates with operation vice
presidents and department vice presidents to identify and analyze cybersecurity risks to us; considers industry trends;
implements controls, as appropriate and feasible, to mitigate these risks; and enables business leaders to make risk- based
business decisions that implicate cybersecurity considerations. The Chief Technology Officer meets with senior leadership to
review and discuss our cybersecurity program, including emerging cyber risks, threats, and industry trends. The Chief
Technology Officer also supervises efforts to prevent, detect, mitigate, and remediate cybersecurity risks and incidents through
various means, including by collaborating with external security personnel and internal business stakeholders, and incorporating
threat intelligence and other information obtained from governmental, public, or private sources to inform our cybersecurity
technologies and processes. ITEM 2. PROPERTIES. Our executive and administrative offices are located at 14755 Preston
Road, Suite 810, Dallas, Texas 75254, and consist of approximately §-12 , 986-723 square feet. Our sublease---- lease on the
premises extends through January3+April 30 , 2025-2028 with a three- year extension option . As of December 31, 2023
2024 , we owned e, managed , or invested in the senior housing communities referred to in Part [, Item 1 above under the
caption “ Operating Communities. ” ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS. We have claims incurred in the normal course of our
business. Most of these claims are believed by management to be covered by insurance, subject to normal reservations of rights
by the insurance companies and possibly subject to certain exclusions in the applicable insurance policies. Whether or not
covered by insurance, these claims, in the opinion of management, and based on advice of legal counsel, should not have a
material effect on our consolidated financial statements if determined adversely to us. ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY
DISCLOSURES. Not applicable. PART II ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’ S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES. (a) Market Information and Holders
of the Registrant’ s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters. The Company”’ s shares of common stock are listed for
trading on the N¥-SE-New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “ SNDA. ” As of March 25-13 , 2024-2025 , there were 4+
39 known registered stockholders of record of the Company’ s common stock. Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity
Compensation Plans The following table presents information relating to the Company’ s equity compensation plans as of
December 31, 2623-2024 : Plan CategoryNumber of Securities tobe Issued UponExercise of OutstandingOptions, Warrants
andRightsWeighted- AverageExercise Price of theOutstandingOptions, Warrantsand RightsNumber of SecuritiesRemaining
Available forFuture Issuance UnderEquity Compensation Plans (Excluding SecuritiesReflected in First Column) Equity
compensation plans approved by security holders — $ — 684809 , 617-209 Equity compensation plans not approved by
security holders — — — Total — $§ — 664809 , 617209 (b) Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities; Use of Proceeds from
Registered Securities. No activity as of December 31, 2023. During the first quarter of 2024, we completed the 2024 Private
Placement pursuant to which we issued and sold an aggregate of 5, 026, 318 Shares of our common stock to certain of our
largest stockholders, including the Conversant Investors, at a price of $ 9. 50 per share for gross proceeds of approximately $
47. 8 million. We used approximately $ 15. 4 million of the proceeds from the 2024 Private Placement to fund the remaining
cash portion of the purchase price for the-Proteetive-LifeoanPurehase-a buyback of certain of our mortgages . We expeetto
use-used the remaining proceeds from the 2024 Private Placement for capital expenditure projects at our senior living

communities, working capital, petential-aequistttorracquisitions eppertunities-and other general corporate purposes. (c)



Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers. The following information is provided pursuant to Item
703 of Regulation S- K. The information set forth in the table below reflects information regarding the aggregate shares
repurchased by the Company pursuant to its share repurchase program (as described below) as of December 31, 2623-2024 .
PeriodTotal Number ofShares Purchased (1) AveragePricePaid perShareTotal Number ofShares Purchased asPart of
PubliclyAnnounced Plans orProgramsApproximate DollarValue of Sharesthat May Yet BePurchased Under thePlans or
Programs (2) Total at September 30, 262332202432 , 941 $ 104. 10 32,941 §$ 6, 570, 222 October 1 — October 31, 2623-2024
———20,570, 222 November 1 — November 30, 2023-2024 — — — 6, 570, 222 December 1 — December 31, 2023-2024 —
— — 0,570, 222 Total at December 31, 262332-202432 , 941 § 104. 10 32,941 §$ 6, 570, 222

(1) Does not include shares withheld to satisfy tax liabilities due upon the
vesting of restricted stock, all of which have been reported in Form 4 filings relating to the Company. The average price paid per
share for such share withholding is based on the closing price per share on the vesting date of the restricted stock or, if such date
is not a trading day, the trading day immediately prior to such vesting date. (2) On January 22, 2009, the Company’ s board of
directors approved a share repurchase program that authorized the Company to purchase up to $ 10. 0 million of the Company’ s
common stock. On January 14, 2016, the Company announced that its board of directors approved a continuation of the share
repurchase program. The repurchase program does not obligate the Company to acquire any particular amount of common stock
and the share repurchase authorization has no stated expiration date. All shares that have been acquired by the Company under
this program were purchased in open- market transactions. The Company may evaluate whether to acquire additional shares of
common stock under this program at its discretion. ITEM 6. [ RESERVED ]. ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT”’ S DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS. This Management’ s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“ MD & A ”) is intended to help provide an understanding of our
business and results of operations. This MD & A should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial
statements and the related notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10- K. This report, including the
following MD & A, contains forward- looking statements regarding future events or trends that should be read in conjunction
with the risks, uncertainties and other factors described under “ Cautionary Note Regarding Forward- Looking Statements * and
“Ttem 1A. Risk Factors ” in this Annual Report on Form 10- K. Actual results may differ materially from those projected in
such statements as a result of such risks, uncertainties and other factors. Overview The following discussion and analysis
addresses (i) the Company’ s results of operations on a historical consolidated basis for the years ended December 31, 2024 and
2023 and2022-, and (ii) liquidity and capital resources of the Company, and should be read in conjunction with the Company’ s
historical consolidated financial statements and the selected financial data contained elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form
10- K. The Company is a ene-ofthe-leading owner —, operators— operator of-and investor in independent living, assisted
living and memory care communities and services for secnior adults heusing-eommunities-in the United States in terms of
resident capacity . The Company’ s operating strategy is to provide value to its senior living residents by providing quality
senior living services at reasonable prices, while achieving and sustaining a strong, competitive position within its
geographically concentrated regions, as well as continuing to enhance the performance of its operations. The Company gereratsy
primarily provides senior living services to the 75 population, including independent living, assisted living, and memory care
services at reasonable prices. Many of the Company’ s communities offer a continuum of care to meet each of their resident’ s
needs as they change over time. This continuum of care, which integrates independent living, assisted living, and memory care
that may be bridged by home care through independent home care agencies, sustains our residents’ autonomy and independence
based on their physical and mental abilities. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , the Company eperated—7Howned, managed, or
invested in 94 senior housing communities in +8-20 states with an aggregate capacity of approximately 8-10 , 000 residents,
including 6+81 ewned senior housing communities thatthe-Company-(including four owned through joint venture
investments in consolidated entities, four owned through a joint venture investment in and-- an +6-unconsolidated entity,
and one unoccupied) and 13 communities that the Company managed on behalf of a third parties-party . Recent Acquisitions
Cincinnati Acquisition In December 2024, the Company closed on the acquisition of an unoccupied single senior living
community located in Cincinnati, Ohio for a purchase price of $ 16. 3 million. Sonida funded the transaction with $ 18. 3
million of senior mortgage debt, including $ 2. 0 million for capital expenditure investment into the facility, which is
expected to be utilized to furnish and update the community prior to opening. The non- recourse mortgage has an 84-
month term and 24- month interest waiver to support lease- up and stabilization, with a 3 % fixed- interest- only rate
thereafter. The asset acquisition was recorded at relative fair value. The Company recorded $ 16. 4 million in “ Property
and equipment, net > for tangible assets purchased in the Company’ s consolidated balance sheets. Atlanta Acquisition In
October 2024, the Company entered into a purchase and sale agreement (“ Atlanta PSA ») to acquire 2 senior living
communities in the Atlanta, Georgia market for $ 29. 0 million. On November 1, 2024, the Company closed on the
acquisition of these 2 senior living communities. The asset acquisition was recorded at relative fair value. The Company
recorded $ 24. 7 million in “ Property and equipment, net ” for tangible assets purchased; $ 4. 8 million in “ Intangible
assets, net ” for in- place leases; and $ 0. 1 million in “ Other long- term liabilities ” for below- market leases in the
Company’ s consolidated balance sheets. Palm Acquisition In August 2024, the Company entered into eight asset
purchase agreements (the “ Palm PSAs ”) with various affiliates of Principal Senior Living Group, pursuant to which the
Company acquired eight senior living communities (collectively, the “ Palm Communities ) for an aggregate cash
purchase price of $ 102. 9 million (such acquisition, the “ Palm Acquisition ). The Company closed on the Palm
Acquisition on October 1, 2024. Five of the Palm Communities are located in Florida and the other three Palm
Communities are located in South Carolina. The asset acquisition was recorded at relative fair value. The Company
recorded $ 89. 2 million in “ Property and equipment, net ” for tangible assets purchased; $ 15. 6 million in “ Intangible
assets, net ” for in- place leases; and $ 0. 4 million in “ Other long- term liabilities ” for below- market leases in the




Company’ s consolidated balance sheets. Macedonia Acquisition In April 2024, the Company entered into an asset
purchase agreement to acquire a community located in Macedonia, Ohio for a purchase price of $ 10. 7 million plus
transaction costs of $ 0. 4 million. In May 2024, the Company closed on the acquisition and entered into a mortgage loan
totaling $ 9. 4 million. The Company purchased a Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“ SOFR ”) based interest rate cap
(“ IRC ) to reduce exposure to the variable interest rate fluctuations associated with the new mortgage. The total cost of
the IRC was $ 0. 2 million and has an aggregate notional amount of $ 9. 4 million. The IRC has a 24- month term and
caps SOFR at 6. 00 %. See “ Note 8 — Debt ” and “ Note 14 — Fair Value. ” The asset acquisition was recorded at relative
fair value. We recorded $ 10. 0 million in “ Property and equipment, net ” for tangible assets purchased; $ 1. 2 million in
“ Intangible assets, net ” for in- place leases; and $ 0. 1 million in “ Other liabilities > for below- market leases for this
acquisition in our consolidated balance sheet. Recent Investments Investment in Consolidated VIE On July 1, 2024, the
Company entered into two joint ventures (collectively, the ¢ Palatine JVs ) with affiliates of Palatine Capital Partners,
which acquired four senior living communities located in Texas (3) and Georgia (1). The Palatine JVs acquired these
communities for a purchase price of $ 32. 8 million plus transaction costs of $ 0. 1 million for net cash of $ 11. 2 million
and financing of $ 21. 7 million of senior mortgage debt. The Company is a 51 % owner in the Palatine JVs. The
Company has evaluated its investment in the Palatine JVs under ASC 810. The Company has determined that it has the
power to direct the activities of the VIE that most significantly impact its economic performance and is the primary
beneficiary of the VIE in accordance with ASC 810. Accordingly, the Company has consolidated the activity of the
Palatine JVs into its condensed consolidated financial statements for the period ended December 31, 2024. The Company
manages the 4 Palatine JV communities in exchange for a management fee calculated as a percentage of gross revenue
and an additional incentive management fee based on earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization, rent,
and management fees, and on other customary terms and conditions. The asset acquisition was recorded at fair value.
The Company recorded $ 27. S million in “ Property and equipment, net ” for tangible assets purchased; $ 5. 6 million in
“ Intangible assets, net ” for in- place leases; and $ 0. 2 million in “ Other liabilities ” for below market leases in the
Company’ s condensed consolidated balance sheets. Investment in Stone Unconsolidated Entity In April 2024, the
Company and KZ Stone Investor LLC (“ KZ Investor ”) formed a new joint venture, Stone JV LLC (the “ Stone JV ”)
for the purpose of acquiring, owning, and operating four senior housing communities located in the Midwest. In May
2024, the Stone JV purchased the four communities for a purchase price of $ 64. 0 million. KZ Investor is the controlling
managing member of the Stone JV and owns 67. 29 % of the entity as of December 31, 2024. Sonida owns a 32. 71 %
noncontrolling interest in the Stone JV as of December 31, 2024, which was acquired through cash contributions in
connection with the closing. Sonida operates the four communities for a management fee based on gross revenues of the
applicable communities, as well as, in some cases, an incentive management fee based on earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation, amortization, rent, and management fees, and on other customary terms and conditions. The Company has
evaluated its investment in the Stone JV under ASC 810. The Company has determined that it does not have the power
to direct the activities of the VIE that most significantly impact its economic performance and is not the primary
beneficiary of the VIE in accordance with ASC 810. The Company' s interests in the VIE are, therefore, accounted for
under the equity method of accounting. The carrying amount of the Company' s investment in the Stone JV and
maximum exposure to loss as a result of the Company' s ownership interest in the Stone JV was $ 10. 9 million, which is
included in investment in unconsolidated entity on the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheet as of
December 31, 2024. The Company evaluates the realization of its investment in unconsolidated entities accounted for
using the equity method if circumstances indicate the Company' s investment is other than temporarily impaired.
During the year ended December 31, 2024, there were no impairments. New Management Agreements The Company
has property management agreements with a third- party owner pursuant to which the Company manages certain
communities on their behalf for a management fee based on gross revenues of the applicable communities, as well as an
incentive management fee, and other customary terms and conditions. During June 2024 the Company executed
management agreements to assume the management of two communities owned by a third party. During August 2024
the Company executed management agreements to assume the management of one community owned by a third party.
Recent Financing and Corporate Transactions 2024 and 2023 Fannie Mae Loan MedifteationrModifications ©n-In December
2024, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries entered into an Omnibus Amendment to Multifamily Loan and
Security Agreements (the “ Omnibus Amendment ) with Federal National Mortgage Association (“ Fannie Mae ). The
Omnibus Amendment amends the terms of each of the loan agreements (each, a “ 2024 Loan Agreement ” and
collectively, the “ 2024 Loan Agreements ”) relating to 18 of the Company’ s 37 senior living communities encumbered
by mortgage agreements with Fannie Mae to, among other things, extend the maturity dates of each 2024 Loan
Agreements from December 1, 2026 to January 1, 2029 in exchange for $ 10 million of scheduled principal paydowns on
the 2024 Loan Agreements, which included a $ 2 million paydown made at closing and a series of $ 2 million, $ 3 million
and $ 3 million due in November 2025, 2026 and 2027, respectively. In June 29;-2023, we entered into a
forbearance agreement (* Fannie Forbearance ” and * Fannie Forbearance Agreement ”’) with the Federal National Mortgage
Association (“ Fannie Mae ”) for all 37 of its encumbered communities yeffeetive-as-ofJune152023-(Fannie Forbearanee
EffeetiveDate>)-. Under the Fannie Forbearance, Fannie l\l‘u agreed to forbear on its remedies otherwise available under the
community mortgages and Master Credit Facility (“ MCF ) in connection with reduced debt service payments made by us the
Cempany-during the forbearance period. In connection with the Fannie Forbearance, we the-Company-made a $ 5. 0 million
principal payment in July 2023. The Fannie Forbmmnu was the first of a two- step process to modify all existing mortgage
loan agreements with Fannie Mae by October 2023 under pmpoxul loan modl ication &gfeeﬁaeﬂ-t—agreements as dulmul in the
Fannie Forbearance (“ Loan Modification A"lumgnls— ) 5 oth




6—2—92—3— We T—he—Gemp&ny—cnlucd 11110 Loan NlO([lilLdllOl] Amccmcnl\ with Fanmc Mac otrin Oclobu 2—2( 23. T—he—Some Of
the material terms of the Loan Modification Agreements are as follows: « Maturities on 18 community mortgages, ranging from
July 2024 to December 2026, were have-beencxtended to December 2026 (and were subsequently extended to January
2029, as described below) . The remaining 19 communities under the MCF have existing maturities in January 2029. « We
were is-not required to make scheduled principal payments due under the 18 community mortgages and 19
communities under the MCF through the initially revised maturity date of December 2026 or 36 months from the Fannie
Forbearance Effective Date, respectively. « The monthly interest rate was will-bereduced by a 1. 5 % weighted average on all
37 communities for 12 months from the Fannie Forbearance El[ccu\ e Date and deferred until it #s-was contractually waived in
June 2024 , when sotengas-there-isno-event-of defautt(the ** Fannic Interest Abatement Period ” -expired because of the
Company’ s compliance with certain required default covenants . - We were The-Companyis-required to make a second
principal payment of $ 5. 0 million with respect to the Fannie Mae debt , which is-due-was paid in June 2024 on June152024;
the one- year anniversary of the Fannie Forbearance Effective Date. «<Fhe-2024 Community Mortgage Loans On December
31, 2024, as part of the Cincinnati Acquisition, the Company previded-entered into a non- recourse mortgage loan fiH
eorporate-ghuaranty-in-the-ameunt-of § 5-18 . 8-3 million for a term relatedto-theseeond-prineipal-payment-of $5-84- months

and 24 month 1nterest walver with a3 % ﬁxed- interest- only rate thereafter Oﬁﬂ-heﬂ—(t-he—Seeeﬂd—Paymeﬁt—Guaraﬂty
; [n May 2024 additionto-the

-Seeeﬂd—P&y-meﬁt—Guar&ﬁty—&beve— as part of the Macedonla Acqulsltlon, the Company a}se—pfeﬂded-entered into a $ 16-9 . 4

million mortgage loan with a 60- month term and a variable interest rate equal to 1- month SOFR plus 2. 00 % margin.
The Company is not required to make scheduled principal payments for the first 36 months. The Company also entered
into a SOFR- based IRC to reduce exposure to the variable interest rate fluctuations associated with the new mortgage
The total cost of the IRC was $ 0 . 2 million and has an aggregate notional amount
Guaranty—Adfter-the-expirattorrof $ 9. 4 million. The IRC has a 24 - menths— month term and caps SOFR at 6. 00 % from
the—Fanme—Ferbear&nee—E—ffeeﬁve—May 9, 2024 through May 1, 2026 w1th respect to such variable Ba-te—rate 1ndebtedness 7
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e%t-he—Loan Modl 1callon In August 2024 the Company entered 1nto loan modlﬁcatlon Agreements—agreements —t-he
Company-(“ Texas Loan Modification ) with one of s-its required-lenders on te-two eserow-56-owned communities in
Texas, pursuant to which, among other things, the Company received an option to make a discounted payoff (“ Texas
DPO ”) of the outstanding loan principal. On November 1, 2024, the Company paid $ 18. 3 million for the Texas DPO
whlch was ﬁnanced w1th funds recelved from our Credlt Facility. The Texas DPO represents a dlscount of 36 ef—Net

Company recognlzed AR-ag

galn -}enéer—eeﬁtreﬂed—eﬁﬂtal—e*peﬂd-rture—reseﬁe-on debt extlngulshment a—meﬂth-}yhbasrs—te-suppert—the—re—rrwesﬁﬂeﬁt—rr&e

eests—e-f—$—9—7—n=n-1—1-teﬂ—rn—lhc year cndul Dcccmbu 31, %92—3—2024 Notes Payable- Consohdated VIE In connectlon w1th the
purchase of the Palatine JVs in July 2024, the Palatine JV assumed $ 21. 7 million of mortgage debt with several lenders.
Fhese--- The eests—are—me}uéed—rrrdeferred—}eaﬁ—eests—as-mortgages have a weighted average interest rate of 7. 2 % and have
terms ranging from 2025 through 2029. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , $ 21. 7 million relating to this debt assumed
through acquisitions, remained outstanding. These purchases are non- cash financing activities and witt-be-amertized-over
the-newlives-therefore are not reflected within Capital expenditures in our consolidated statements of cash flows the
Fannte-Maetoans-. [n addition, one of the Cempanypatd-affiliates in the Palatine JVs entered into a SOFR- based IRC to
reduce exposure to the variable interest rate fluctuations associated with one of the mortgages at a cost of $ 3-0 . | million
irtransaction-eostsrelated-to-. Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility In July 2024, the Company entered into a credit
agreement for a senior secured revolving credit facility (the “ Credit Facility ”). The Credit Facility has a borrowing
capacity of $ 150. 0 million, a term of the-three toan-modifieations-years, a leverage- based pricing matrix between SOFR
plus 2. 10 % margin and SOFR plus 2. 60 % margin and is fully recourse to Sonida Senior Living, Inc. and its applicable
subsidiaries. The borrowing base by which borrowing avallablhty under the Credlt F ac1hty is determlned is generally
based upon the value of the senior living communities that was g d-ad 3

the Company’ s obligations under the Credit Facility. During the year cndcd December 31 %92—3—2024 the Company
borrowed $ 68 . 7 million under the Credit Facility, at a weighted average interest rate of 7. 3 %, whlch was secured by
two of the Company’ s previously unencumbered senior living communities and ten newly acquired communities. The
Company repaid $ 8. 7 million of the borrowing during the year ended December 31, 2024 and $ 60. 0 million borrowings
were outstanding as of December 31, 2024. 2024 Loan Purchase and Ally Term Loan Expansion We entered into an
agreement with one of our previous lenders whereby the Company agreed to purchase the outstanding indebtedness it
owed to such lender for a purchase price of $ 40. 2 million (plus the reimbursement of certain amounts advanced to the
Company by such lender). In February 2024, the Company completed the purchase of the total outstanding principal




balance of $ 74. 4 million from the lender which loans were secured by seven of the Company’ s senior living
communities (such transaction, the “ 2024 Loan Purchase ). The 2024 Loan Purchase was funded by the concurrent
expansion of the Company’ s existing loan facility with Ally Bank (“ Ally ”) by $ 24. 8 million (as described below) and
the remainder was funded by proceeds from the 2024 Private Placement, as described below. The 2024 Loan Purchase
and Ally Term Loan expansion reduced notes payable by $ 49. 6 million and resulted in a gain on debt extinguishment
totaling $ 38. 1 million. 2024 and 2023 Ally Loan Amendments In May 2024, the Company executed an amendment (“
Ally Fourth Amendment ©1-”) to the Ally term loan agreement (“ Ally Term Loan ). Ally Bank successfully syndicated a
portion of its total term loan commitment to Cross River Bank. Following the syndication, Ally Bank and Cross River
Bank owned 67. 5 % and 32. 5 % of the outstanding principal balance, respectively. In February 2024, the Company
expanded the existing loan facility with Ally by $ 24. 8 million (“ Ally Third Amendment ) to partially fund the 2024
Loan Purchase. The Ally Third Amendment required expanded monthly payments into both the Waiver Principal
Reserve Account and the IRC Reserve by approximately $ 36, 000 and amount to match the notional amount required
under the increased Ally Term Loan. Additionally, the Company made a one- time payment to the debt service reserve (“
Ally Debt Service Reserve ) of $ 0. 4 million. The expanded Ally Term Loan was secured by six of the Company’ s
senior living communities involved in the 2024 Loan Purchase. In June 29,2023 ;-and concurrent with the Fannie
Forbearance, we executed an a—seeeﬁd—dmul(lnmn (2023 Ally Amendment ”) to eurRefinaneeFaetlity-the Ally term loan
agreement (“ Ally Term Loan ” or “ Ally Term Loan Agreement ) and an anundcd guaranty (“ Second Amended Ally
Guaranty ) with Ally Bank svith-. Under the terms ofas—fel-}ews—‘—\‘hth—respeet—te—l he Second Amended All\ (Judmmv Ally
w-l-l—gr&nt—granted the Company, as gaaranter-Guarantor , a waiver (* Limited Payment Guaranty Waiver ” or * Waiver ”) of

S 'I:lqﬂ'td-llqllld Assets—assets minimum quLlIILIHLHI 0[ $13.0 mllllon [01 a 12- month pulod —Gﬁ—J-u-l-y—l— which expired on

c»._-

the Company

-I:ean—er—be—swept—iﬂfe—&nieq&Fqufe—Fuﬂd—as—was requlred to make éeﬁned—rn—&xeﬁHy—"Peﬁﬁ—I:e&fh%gfeemest

of the-monthly Aty Fermrtoanprineipat
-payuﬁeﬂt—payments (&s—pfeﬂded—feﬁrrrthe%HyiPefﬁH:eafrAgreemeﬂtﬁ—ol d])])lO\lmdlLl\ \ | 17 ()()() lhl()uLl h an Allv u)nlloll d

account (“ [RC Rcscr\ e”) mld b\ Ally, w hldl ILPILSLnlLd the quolui cost 01 a one- year interest rate cap on th full -$—8~8—1-
ﬂa—rl-l-leﬁ—nolloml \alm of the Allv Term Loan ata2- R—strike-rate—On : :

-Ba-n-leat—2—2§—%—U-ﬁt~rl-l he tefrﬁs—explratlon of -t-he—lenul Pa) ment (Jlldldlll\ \N aiver on December 31 h&ve—expﬁed—e%have

beerrmet-and-eleeted-at-the-Company—s-diseretionr, 2024, the Company ceased IREReserve-isrequired-to-bereplenished-te-its
monthly fep}aeefnefﬁ—eeH&&t&e*tem—etﬂ&ef&w—Seeeﬂd—PaymeﬁPpayments into both Guafaﬂ-ty-eFSupp-}ementa-l—F&nme

underwrltlng agreement wﬁh—AH-y—Baﬂ-}He-prowdmg for the offer ameﬁd——— and sale ( 1 he Reﬁ-nanee—Faerl-rty—“ Offerlng )
by adding-the Company, and the purchase by the underwriters, of 4, 300, 000 shares of the Company’ s common stock, at

a price two— to the public of $ 27. 00 per share. The Company also granted a 30- day option to the underwriters to
purchase up to an addmonal S‘H‘bS'l'd'lﬁﬂeS-645 000 shares of common stock the-Company-which-ews— on the same terms
e as berrowers-above . The-amendmentinereased-During

August 2024, the pﬂﬂetpa-l—by—Company raised 8—124 | million te-in total net proceeds from the Offering: an initial $ 88
110 . 4 million of proceeds on the sale of 4, 300, 000 shares and an additional $ 13. 7 million on 530, 317 shares, pursuant
to the partial exercise of the underwriters’ 30- day option. At- the- Market Equity Offerings In April 2024, the Company



entered into an At- the- Market Issuance Sales Agreement (the “ ATM Sales Agreement ) with Mizuho Securities USA
LLC, as sole sales agent. Pursuant to the ATM Sales Agreement in which the Company may sell, at its option, shares of
its common stock up to an aggregate offering price of $ 75. 0 million (the “ Shares ) through its Agent. The ATM Sales
Agreement provides that the Mizuho will be entitled to receive a commission of up to 3 % of the gross proceeds from the
sale of the shares in a transaction. During 2024, the Company sold an aggregate of 667, 502 shares pursuant to the ATM
Sales Agreement for net proceeds of § 18 7 mllllon, after appllcable commlssmns 2024 Prlvate Placement Transactlon

%92—3—2024

the Company enlued into a securltles purchase

agreement (the « Securltles Purchase Agreement ”) with affiliates of Conversant Capital, LL.C and several other
shareholders (together, the “ Investors ”), pursuant to which the Investors agreed to purchase from the Company, and
the Company agreed to sell to the Investors, in a private placement transaction (the “ 2024 Private Placement ), an
aggregate of 5, 026 318 shares of the Company s common stock at a price of $ 13-9 . S-mithonequityeommitment

50 per share. The 2024 Private Placement occurred in two tranches.
The first tranche occurred on February 1, 2024, at which time 3, 350, 878 shares of common stock were issued and sold

to the Investors for a—tefm—ef—l-S—meﬁt-hs—$ 31. 8 million . The eq&FyLGemfntﬁﬁeﬁt—had—a—eemrmﬁﬁeﬁt—fee—e%—second tranche

portion of ﬁs—paweH—taxes—meurred—d&rr&g%@%@—The—Qemp&n—y
he-other-—- the half-beeame-due-onrDeeember3+;-proceeds from

the ﬁrst closmg of the %92—2—2024 Prlvate Placement —"Phe—Gemp&ny—has—Sﬁbﬁrrtted—&mahe&ﬁeﬂs—lo enter-ito-paymentplans

m&atwes—me—l-&d-mg—p-}ans—feﬁf&t&re—gfewth— Slgmllcanl Financial and ()pudllondl HlLl lig 51 hts The ( ompany derives its

revenue primarily by providing senior living and healthcare services to seniors. During the year ended December 31, 2023-2024



, the Company generated resident revenue of approximately $ 232-267 . 6-8 million compared to resident revenue of
approximately $ 268232 . 70 million in the prior year, representing an increase of approximately $ 23-35 . 3-8 million. The
increase in revenue was primarily due to increased occupancy, increased average rent rates, and additional the-aequisitton-of
two-prew-communities acquired in ©+2622-2024 . Weighted average occupancy for the years— year ended December 31, 26023
2024 and-2622-for the communities owned by the Company during-both-periods-excluding 2024 acquisitions was 86. 4 % as
compared to a weighted average occupancy for the year ended December 31,2023 of 84. 6 % and-83—0-%0;respeetively—,
reflecting continued occupancy growth v O g
rate for these ow ned Communmes for the year ended DecembeI 31, %92—3—2024 was 5 9 —6—‘ /o higher when compared to the year

plopelty manaoement agreements w 1th third partles and its ]omt ventures pursuant to a—fﬁ-l-tafes—e%‘olefﬁas—lﬂe—éeel-}ee&ve}y—
which the Company manages certain communities on their behalf for ¥Ventas;-and-Ventaspays-the-Company-a

management fee based on gross revenues of the applicable communities, as well as, in some cases, and— an incentive
management fee and on other customary terms and conditions. The Company managed 13 and ten communities on behalf of
Ventas-a third party during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 aﬂd%@%%—llreﬁeﬁs{ry— the-respectively. The

C ompany managed four pfepeft-res—commumtles on behalf of an unconsohdated t venture and WGHfOWCT—Bﬁ'Hﬂg'




geﬂefa-l—eefpef&te—ptrfpeses— ( rmcal Aeeountmo Pe-hetes—Estlmates The plepardtlon 01‘ hndncml statements in confonnlty with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the amounts reported in the accompanying financial statements and related notes. Management bases its estimates and
assumptions on historical experience, observance of industry trends and various other sources of information and factors, the
results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results could differ from these estimates. Critical accounting policies are defined as those
that are reflective of significant judgments and uncertainties, and potentially could result in materially different results under
different assumptions and conditions. The Company believes the following are our most critical accounting policies and / or
typically require management’ s most difficult, subjective, and complex judgments. Self—Insuraneeiability-Aeeraals—The
Company-offers-full—time-employees-Acquisitions of Senior Living Communities Upon the acquisition of new senior living
communities, we recognize the assets acquired an-and eption-te-partieipate-tirits-health-and-dentat-plans-the liabilities

assumed as of the acquisition date, measured at their fair values using Level 3 inputs at the date of acquisition . The
There Company-is self—instared-up-to-judgement involved when determining the fair value of land and building values,
including the selection of key assumptions in the valuation models based on estimated replacement costs, market rental
rates, and capitalization rates, which are primarily unobservable inputs. We have estimated the value and economic lives
of certain timits-tangible assets based on historical information, industry estimates and is-insuredifelaims-irexeess
averages, which are used to calculate depreciation and amortization expense. If the subsequent actual results and
updated projections of the underlymg business act1v1ty change, compared w1th the assumptions and projections used to
develop these values + 7 , ret-we could experience
impairment charges. If our estlmates of emp%eyee—eeﬁtﬂbtmeﬂs—ts—shafed—beﬁeeﬂ—the Gemp&ny—economlc lives change,
depreclatlon or amortlzatlon expense could be accelerated or extended. Management ° s estimates of fair value are

ased upon assumptions believed to be reasonable, but which en-the

g ﬂsed—te-pay—t-he—mherently uncertaln and unpredlctable and, as a

-rﬂeuﬁed-mdy dlﬁer from the-ameuntsreserved—Any subsequentehangestncstimates are-reeorded-nrthe-period-in-whieh-they
afe—defefﬂﬂ-ﬂed- Lonﬂ— Lived Assets and Impalrment The Property 1P ; 4 ;

“ompany continuously reviews
the carrying value of its property and equlpment to determine 1t facts and circumstances suggest that they may be impaired or
that the depreciation period may need to be changed. The Company considers internal factors such as net operating losses along
with external factors relating to each asset, including contract changes, local market developments, and other publicly available
information to determine whether impairment indicators exist. If an indicator of impairment is identified, recoverability of an
asset group is assessed by comparing its carrying amount to the estimated future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be
generated by the asset group through operation or disposition, calculated utilizing the lowest level of identifiable cash flows. If
this comparison indicates that the carrying amount of an asset group is not recoverable, we estimate fair value of the asset group
and 1ec01d an 1mpdnment loss when the canymg amount exceeds fair value. To -I-n—eva-l-uat-rﬁg—etﬂ*}eﬂg—l-r\%d-assefs—fef

6 6 vel-performanee-and ; ate-estimate fair value trends;and
mdnaoement mdkes sev eml estimates and assumptlons including,but not llmlted to,the projected date of disposition,estimated
sales price, and-future cash flows of each property during our estlmated holding period ,and estimated capitalization rates.We




corroborate the estimated capitalization rates we use in these calculations with capitalization rates observable from
recent market transactions .If our analysis or assumptions regarding the projected cash flows expected to result from the use
and eventual disposition of our properties change,we incur additional costs and expenses during the holding period,or our
expected hold periods change,we may incur future impairment losses. See~“WNete-4-The Company recognized a non- cash
impairment charge of $ 6. 0 million to its ““ Property and equipment, net ” during the year ended December 31, 2023, which

related to one ow ned commumty There were -I-n—&dd-r&en—t-he—@erﬂp&ny—reeegmzed—a—neﬂ» no impairments on long lived
assets g : 3 tpmentret>during the year ended December 31, 2022

2024 —Whte%r—re}a{ed-te-eﬂe—ewﬂed-eemmtmtw— ln evaluatmg our long- lived as%et% 444444 Property and Equipment, net. ”’ New
Accounting Pronouncements See “ Note 3-2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies ” in the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements for a discussion of new accounting pronouncements. The following table includes our Consolidated
Statements of Operations data in thousands of dollars and expressed as a percentage of total revenues for the years ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2022-. Years Ended December 31, 20232622-20242023 (in thousands) $ % $ % Revenues:
Resident revenue $ 267, 849 88. 0 $ 232, 032 90. 9 $268;703-87-5-Management fees2-fees3 ,3811.12, 191 0. 9 2;.359+0
Managed community reimbursement reventezt-revenue33 , 096 10. 9 21 , 099 8. 3 2/3H+H=>5-Total revenues $ 255304 ,
322-326 100. 0 % $ 238255 , 433-322 100. 0 % Expenses: Operating expenset77expense202, 015 66. 4 177 , 323 69. 5 +H5
635-72-0-General and administrative expense32-expense39 , 997 13.1 32 , 198 12. 6 36;286+2—FDepreciation and
amortization expense39-expense44 , 051 14. 539 , 888 15. 6 38;448+6—+Long- lived assct impairmentS— impairment — — 5
, 965 2. 3 5-588-0—FManaged community reimbursement expense2t-expense33 , 096 10. 9 21 , 099 8. 3 2/3HH->5-Total
expenses276-expenses319, 159 * 276 , 473 £269;-328-* Other income (expense): Interest ineome668-incomel , 681 0. 6 608 0.
2 235-6—-Interest expense (36, 990) (12. 2) (36, 118) (14. 1) B3:025-3-9Gain gess)yon extinguishment of debt, ret36
net48, 536 15. 9 36 , 339 14. 2 Loss from equity method investment ( 64+895 ) (0. 3) — — Other #reeme-{expense ¥, net (
540) (0. 2) (532) (0. 2) 407642 oss before provision for income taxes ( 3, 041) (1. 0) (20, 854) (8. 2 H543+5922-8)
Provision for income taxes ( 239) (0. 1) (253) (0. 1) Net loss $ ( 86-3,280 ) (1. 1) % $ (21, 107) (8. 3) % Less: Net loss
attributable to noncontrolling interests1, 221 0. 4 — — Net loss attributable to Sonida shareholders $ ( 242 , 167059 ) (§
0.37)% S5 (5421 ,46+107 ) (22-8 .3 ) % * Represents a percentage pesitive-ornegative-ehange-in excess of 100 % . Year
Ended December 31, 2023-2024 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 20222023 Revenues Resident revenue for the year
ended December 31, 2623-2024 was $ 232-267 . 6-8 million as compared to § 268-232 . 70 million for the year ended December
31,2022-2023 , an increase of $ 23-35 . 3-8 million, or H-15 . 24 %. The increase in revenue was primarily due to increased
occupancy ané-, increased average rent rates , and 16 additional consolidated communities acquired during 2024 (including
one unoccupied community). Weighted average occupancy for the year ended December 31, 2024 for the communities
owned by the Company excluding 2024 acquisitions was 86. 4 % as compared to a weighted average occupancy for the
year ended December 31, 2023 of 84. 6 %, reflecting continued occupancy growth. The average monthly rental rate for
these owned communities for the year ended December 31, 2024 was 5. 9 % higher when compared to the year ended
December 31, 2023. Management fee revenue for the year ended December 31, 2024 increased by $ 1. 2 million as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2023, primarily as a result of managing more communities in 2024 . Managed
community reimbursement revenue for the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 was $ 24-33 . 1 million as compared to $ 2721
.41 million for the year ended December 31, 20222023 , representing a-an deerease-increase of $ 6-12 . 3-0 million, or 22-56 .
9 %. The deerease-increase was primarily a result of managing fewer-three more third- party and four unconsolidated joint
venture communities #r-during the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 . Expenses Operating expenses for the year ended
December 31, 2023-2024 were $ +77202 . 3-0 million as compared to $ +4-177 . 6-3 million for the year ended December 31,

2622-2023 , an increase of § 524 . 7 million. In-eur-eensolidated-community-portfelio;- The increase is primarily attributable
to the increase in labor eomponent-costs of europerating-expense-inereased-approximatety-$ 15. 7 —2-million and an during
%92—3—eempared—te%922—9t-her—rnereases—— increase in other varlable opemtmo expenses were-of 5 +5 . 6-3 million as a result

s-of increased occupancy $+2

programming-expenses;-an 5 - the expenses-Company' s same store
communltles and 16 new consohdated communltles (1nclud1ng one unoccupied community acquired on December 31,
2024) as compared to the prior year . General and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2023-2024 were $
32-40 . 2-0 million as compared to $ 36-32 . 3-2 million for year ended December 31, 2822-2023 , an increase ofS +7 .98
million, or 624 . 3-2 %. The increase is due to a § 4-6 . 8-6 million year-increase in labor costs to support the Company' s
2024 acquisitions and a $ 1. 6 mllhon increase 1n stock based compensatlon

atton ses-- expense , partially offset by a § +0 . 6-4 million decrease
in s’feeleother costs. Durlng the year ended December 31 2024 there were no 1mpa1rments on long - lived assets based

ended December 31,2023, the Company recorded a non- Cdsh 1mpmrment Chdlge of $6.0 m11110r1 reldted to one ow ned

community with decreased cash flow estlmdtes as a result of recurrnm net operatms_ losses. Btlﬂﬂg—t-he—ye&r—eﬂded—Beeeﬂa-ber—Zv—l—,

year ended December 31 %92—3—2024 was b 2—1—33 1 mllllon as Compared to b 2721 . 41 million for the year ended December
31, 20222023 . a-an deere&se-lncrease of $ 6-12 . 3-0 million, or 22-56 . 9 %. The deerease-increase was primarily a result of
managing fewermore communities #r-during the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 as compared to the prior year period
. Other income and expense Interest income generally reflects interest earned on the investment of cash balances and escrow



funds or interest associated with certain income tax refunds or property tax settlements. Interest income increased by $ 8-1 . 4-1
million compared to the prior year primarily due to mere-aetive-eash-management-and-- an average increased investment
balance in money market accounts. Interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 was $ 36-37 . +-0 million as
compared to $ 33-36 . 6-1 million for the year ended December 31, 2622-2023 , an IHCIGdSQ of $ 3-0 . +9 million, or 9-2 . 4 %,
due to inereased-interestrates-the incremental borrowings associated with the C ompany ='s 2024 community acquisitions,

partially offset by a decrease in the Company' s SOFR- based vanable rate debt Galn meﬁgages—and—t-he—&dd-rﬁena-l—rntefest
expense-on extinguishment of debt for the tw A h

December 31, 2623-2024 was ﬁefest—expeﬂse-rnew}udesﬁ 4—48 35 1n11110n ef—aeefued—expeﬂse—reldted to the derecognition
defeered—peﬁteﬂ—of -rntefest—en—notes payable and llabllltles asa result of the 2024 Loan Purchase and the Texas DPO from
two of our lenders Fann rteres v

Gain on extinguishment of debt for the year ended December 31, 2023 was $ 36. 3 million related to the dereeognmon of notes
payable and liabilities as a result of the transition of legal ownemhlp of two communities to Fannie Mae, the holder of the
related non- recourse debt. As a result of the foregoing factors, the Company reported net Loss-loss enextingtishment-of
debt-$ 3. 3 million for the year ended December 31, 2622-2024 was-, compared to net loss of $ 6-21 . 6-1 million related-to-the

%GQQ—debHeﬁﬂ&nemg—theﬁxeeﬁ&e—(expense)—net—fox the year ended December 31 %922—was—$—1—9—9—mr1—1-ten—wh1eh—rne-}uded

0 0 L1qu1d1ty and
Capital Resources In addition to dpplOledtely $417 . -1—0 million of unrestrlcted cash ba-}anees— balance efrhand-as of
December 31, 2023-2024 , our future liquidity will depend in part upon our operating performance, which will be affected by
prevailing economic conditions, and financial, business and other factors, some of which are beyond our control. Principal
sources of liquidity are expected to be cash flows from operations, proceeds from our secured Credit Facility, proceeds from
equity finaneings-offerings , including sales of common stock under our ATM Sales Agreement, and proceeds from debt
refinancings or loan modifications ;-and-proecedsfrom-the-sale-efowned-assets- During 2023, we entered into loan
modifications with Fannie Mae, an amendment with Ally Bank, including a revised Limited Payment Guaranty, and an Equity
equity Commitmentcommitment with Conversant. During the-first-quarterof2024, we completed the 2024 Private Placement
Fransaetion-pursuant to which we issued and sold an aggregate of approximately 5 . 0 million 7-626;-3+8-Shares-shares of our
common stock with-to several of our sharcholders for gross cash proceeds of appreximatety-$ 47. 8 million, which enabled us to
purchase all the Company' s debt then outstanding with Preteetive-Eife-a certain lender at a substantial discount, as well as
fund future working capital and growth initiatives. Additional financing of $ 24. 8 million for the debt purchase was provided by
AdyBanlethrough-an expansion of the Company” s existing Ally Bank term loan. In addition, during April 2024, the
Company entered into the At- the- Market Issuance Sales Agreement (the “ ATM Sales Agreement ), whereby the
Company may sell, at its option, shares of its common stock up to an aggregate offering price of $ 75, 000, 000. As of
December 31, 2024, the Company has received $ 18. 7 million in net proceeds from the ATM sales. During August 2024,
the Company completed a public offering and issued 4. 8 million shares of common stock for net proceeds of $ 124. 1
million, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and the Company’ s offering expenses. During August
2024, the Company entered into a Credit Facility in which borrowing availability is determined based upon the value of
the senior living communities. As of December 31, 2024, the Company had outstanding borrowings under its Credit
Facility of $ 60. 0 million. These transactions are expected to provide additional financial flexibility to us and increase our

liquidity position. See “ Note 78 — Debt Netes—Pa-yab-}e—” 1nd Note -1-6-9 -Sﬂbseqtreﬂt—Evenfs—Securltles Flnanclng in the

Notes to C onsolldqted Fln"lncml Statements nFebruary 2024tnordertocomply-with-the lende tirementsthe-Compan y

s’f&ten&eﬁts—&fe—tsstted- The Company, from time to time, considers and evaluates flndnClal and capltal raising tIdnSdCthl’lS related
to its portfolio, including debt refinancings, purchases and sales of assets, equity finanetngs-offerings and other transactions.
There can be no assurance that the Company will continue to generate cash flows at or above current levels, or that the Company
will be able to obtain the capital necessary to meet the Company’ s short- and long- term capital requirements. Recent changes
in the current economic environment, and other future changes, could result in decreases in the fair value of assets, slowing of
transactions, and the tightening of liquidity and credit markets. These impacts could make securing debt or refinancings for the
Company or buyers of the Company’ s properties more difficult or on terms not acceptable to the Company. The Company’ s
actual liquidity and capital funding requirements depend on numerous factors, including its operating results, its capital
expenditures for community investment, and general economic conditions, as well as other factors described in “ Item 1A. Risk
Factors. ” In summary, the Company’ s cash flows were as follows (in thousands): Years Ended December 31, 20232022Net
20242023 $ ChangeNet cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ (1, 782) $ 10, 683 § (212 , 578-465 ) Net cash used in
investing activities ( 208, 923) (16, 562) § ( 192,36-361 -964-) Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities232, 042
(7, 113) 239, 155 Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents $ 21, 337 § (12, 992) $ 34, 329 Operating activities Nct



cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2024 was $ 1. 8 million as compared to net cash
provided by operating activities of $ 10. 7 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The change of $ 12. S million is
primarily due to the settlement of accounts payable and accrued expenses during the year ended December 31, 2024
compared to the prior year. Additionally, we received grants of $ 2. 9 million in the year ended December 31, 2023 from
state departments due to financial distress impacts of the coronavirus. No such grants were received during 2024.
Investing activities The net cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2024 was $ 208. 9 million
primarily due to $ 172. S million for acquisitions of new communities, $ 25. 2 million due to ongoing capital
improvements and refurbishments, and $ 22. 4 million in investments in unconsolidated entities, partially offset by a
return on investment of $ 10. 6 million in our unconsolidated entities in connection with its subsequent financing . The net
cash used in investing activitics (7for the year ended December 31 , 2023 was primarily due to ongoing capital
improvements H3)(22,-652) Deerease-ireashrand eashequivalentsrefurbishments at the Company’ s senior housing
communities of $ (+2-17. 9 million , 992)-partially offset by the proceeds from sale of assets of 5 (62, 134)-Operating-1. 4
million. Financing activities The net cash provided by eperating-financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2623
2024 of $ 232. 0 million was primarily results-due to net proceeds from inereases-roperating-the issuance of common stock
of $ 190. S million, proceeds from our Credit Facility of $ 68. 7 million, proceeds of $ 56. 0 million from notes payable,
and proceeds from noncontrolling investors of $ 7. 8 million, partially offset by repayments of notes payable of $ 72. 0
million, repayments of our Credit Facility of $ 8. 7 million, deferred loan costs paid of $ 3. 7 million, purchase of
derivative asscts and-habilities-of $ +3-3. 3 million, and dividends paid of $ 2 . 8 million. The net cash used in eperating
financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2022-2023 of $ 7. 1 million was primarily resultsfrom-netloss-due to
repayments of notes payable of b 54-13 8 mllllon, purchase of derlvatlve assets of $ 2 4 million, partiaty-offsetby

fmdncms_ costs pald of § () 8 ﬁnlheﬂ—aﬂd-pttfehase—e—ﬁdefw&fwe—assefs—e-FS—Z—*mllhon pdltld]ly oﬁset by proeeeds of $10.0
million from equlty draws unde1 the Equﬁy—eqmty GemmtﬁﬂeﬁecommltmentJPhe—ne%eash—twed-ﬁrﬁnafwmg—&efwﬁieﬁfeP&w

- n: See “ Note —7—8 Debt Nefes—Pa-yab-}e— dnd Note -8—9 -
Securities Financing ” in the Notes to ( onsolldated Fmancml Statements. Debt Covenants Certain of our debt agreements
contain restrictions and financial covenants, such as those requiring us to maintain prescribed minimum debt service coverage
ratios, in each case on a multi- community basis. The debt service coverage ratios are generally calculated as revenues less
operating expenses, including an implied management fee, divided by the debt (principal and interest). Furthermore, our debt is
secured by our communities and if an event of default has occurred under any of our debt, subject to cure provisions in certain
instances —Fhe-, the respective lender would have the right to declare all of the related outstanding amounts of indebtedness
immediately due and payable, to foreclose on our mortgaged communities and / or pursue other remedies available to such
lender. We cannot provide assurance that we would be able to pay the debts if they became due upon aecelerdtlon following an
event of default. The Exeeptfor-thenon omphanee-with-eertainr-mortgage OaR-ag e-Company
was in compliance with all eﬂ%er—aspeefs—ﬁnancnal covenants of its outstdndmé 1ndebtedness as of December 31, %92—3—2024
See-“Note+o—SubsequentEvents"in-the-Other Liquidity Factors Netes—te—Geﬁsehdated-Ftﬂ&netal—Sfa-temeﬁts—Hﬂpaet—ef
Inflattenr-The continuation of the eurrent-currently elevated inflationary environment could affect the Company’ s future
revenues and results of operations because of, among other things, the Company’ s dependence on senior residents, many of
whom rely primarily on fixed incomes to pay for the Company’ s services. As a result, during inflationary periods, the
Company may not be able to increase resident service fees to account fully for increased operating expenses. In structuring its
fees, the Company attempts to anticipate inflation levels, but there can be no assurances that the Company will be able to
anticipate fully or otherwise respond to any future inflationary pressures. Our non- labor operating expenses have historically
comprised of approximately one- third of our total operating expenses and are subject to inflationary pressures. The United
States consumer price index increased 2. 9 % during 2024, as compared to an increase of 3. 4 % during-in 2023 ;as-eompared
to-annerease-of 6—5-%12622-, with food and energy prices increasing approximately #6-200 basis points. We mitigated a
portion of the increase in food costs with the scale benefit of a higher number of residents, along with appropriate product
substitution. For As-aresult-of-ourmitigation-efforts; for2023-2024 our non- labor operating expense #retr-on the same- store
eommunity-communities portfolio-deereased-increased 2 approximately-$-0- Smillter;4 % as compared to the prior year. For

2024-2025 , we expect to continue to experience increases tied in to overall inflationary pressuares-pacing . Historically, labor
costs have Comprlsed of approximately two- thirds of our total operating expenses. We began to experience pressures associated
with the mtensely Competlme labor env 1r0nment durln}c 2022, Wthh continued throughout 2023 and —FhreYnited-States>
at-or-b : 2024 and-2622and-many-of states-expetrieneed-reeord
-}ew—uneﬁ%p-}eyﬂaeﬂt—fafes- LdbOI pressures ha\e resulted n h1ghe1 than- typical associate turnover and wage growth, and we
have experienced difficulty in filling open positions timely. To cover existing open positions, during 2622-2023 and continuing
into %92—3—2024 we needed to rely on more expensl\ e premlum labor, pl‘lnldl‘lly eeﬁff&et—l-abefshlft bonuses and overtlme —I-ﬁ
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%92—3—eempa—1=ed—te%922— The increase prlmanly resulted from merit and mcuket wage rate ddjustments more hours w orked W 1th



higher occupancy during 2023-2024 , and an increase in the use of premium labor, primarily eentraettaber-shift bonuses and
overtime. For 2824-2025 , we expect to continue to experience labor cost pressures as a result of the continuing labor conditions
previously described and an anticipated increase in hours worked as our occupancy levels grow. Continued increased
competition for, or a shortage of, nurses and other employees and general inflationary pressures have required and may require
that we enhance our pay and benefits package to compete effectively for such employees. ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND
QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK. ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SUPPLEMENTARY DATA. The consolidated financial statements of the Company are included in Item 15 of this Annual
Report on Form 10- K. ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING
AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE. The Company had no disagreements on accounting or financial disclosure matters with its
independent accountants to report under this Item 9. ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES. Evaluation of Disclosure
Controls and Procedures The Company’ s management, with the participation of the Company’ s Chief Executive Officer and
Principal Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’ s disclosure controls and procedures (as such term
is defined in Rules 13a- 15 (e) and 15d- 15 (e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “ Exchange Act ”’))
as of the end of the period covered by this report. The Company’ s disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure
that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’ s rules and forms. Disclosure
controls and procedures are also designed to ensure that such information is accumulated and communicated to the Company’ s
management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure. Based upon the controls evaluation and the material weakness described below, the Company’ s
Chief Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer have concluded that, as of the end of the perrod Covered by thr% report
the Company S drqcloeure controls and procedure% are 1neffect1ve here-haven 7 ;

pternal-eon e a img—Management’ s Report on Internal Control Over F 1nancral Reportrng
Management of the Company, 1nclud1ng the Chref Executive Officer and the Principal Financial Officer, is responsible for
establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rules 13a- 15 (f) under the
Exchange Act. The Company’ s internal controls were designed to provide reasonable assurance to the Company’ s
management and board of directors regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published financial statements. Because of
its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Therefore, even those
systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and
presentation. Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’ s internal control over financial reporting as of December
31,2623-2024 . In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“ COSO ”) in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013 framework). Based
on our assessment and the material weakness described below, we believe that, as of December 31, 2623-2024 , the Company’ s
internal control over financial reporting is ineffective based on those criteria. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of a company’ s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. ©ur-The
Company’ s system user access controls for certain financial statementelose-proeess-systems, including provisioning and
user access review, were not operating effectively. Moreover, the lack of effectlve user access control% meh-re}ate-caused
insufficient restriction of user and pr1v1leged access (0 2 e
effeetively-or-our payroll system acked S v ety HA
resulting in jeurna W e e viewedat-the-appropriateteve
of segregation of duties for certam user roles this-defieteney;-w etated-with i
transaetionreyele-. These control deficiencies could result ina materral misstatement of our accounts or drscloqureﬂ that would
not be prevented or detected on a timely basis, and accordingly, we determined that these control deficiencies in aggregate
constitute a material weakness. RemediationPlan-As diselosed-inprevious-fiings-permitted by guidance issued by the SEC ,
yre-previousty-tdentifted-a m&terta-l—wealmess—m—etu&recently acqulred busmess may be omltted from management' s report
on internal control over financial reportrng —Due e §
management excluded an assessment this-materis ; beenremedtated-as-of the 1nternal controls of the
following 2024 acquisitions from its evaluation of the effectlveness of our disclosure controls and procedures. We are in
the process of integrating these acquisitions into our system of internal control over financial reporting. * Atlanta
Acquisition purchased in November 2024 and represented 4 % of our consolidated total assets and 1 % of total revenues
for the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 as-diselosed-above;. * Palm Acquisition purchased in October 2024 and
represented 12 % of our expeeted-timeline-consolidated total assets and 3 % of total revenues for eempleting-the
remediation-year ended December 31, 2024.  Palatine JV’ s entered into July 2024 and represented 5 % of this-materiat
weakness-our consolidated total assets and 2 % of total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2024. « Macedonia
Acquisition purchased in May 2024 and represented 1 % of consolidated total assets and 1 % of total revenues for the
year ended December 31, 2024. The Company’ s independent registered public accounting firm, BDO USA, P. C., has
extended-beyond-ouroriginal-estimates-issued an attestation report on the effectiveness of the Company’ s internal control
over financial reportmg 1ncluded hereln Remedlatlon Plan We have developed a—the followmg plan for remedratlon of the
material weakness ye 5 v s-. Control
weaknesses are not con@ldered remedrated until ﬁew—enhanced 1nternal controls have been operatronal for a penod of time, are
tested and management concludes that these controls are operating effectively. We will continue to monitor the effectiveness of




our remediation measures in connection with our future assessments of the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting and disclosure controls and procedures. We will make any changes to the design of our plan and take such other
actions that we deem appropriate given the circumstances. We expect to complete the remediation process by-in 2025. ¢
Restrict user and privileged access to our payroll system to ensure appropriate segregation of duties. * Further
implement single sign- on user access for key financial systems. * Enhance key financial system user access reviews to
ensure the completeness and accuracy of users. * Further review our system user access controls and implement
additional review controls as deemed necessary. Remediation of Previously Reported Material Weaknesses As previously
reported in Item 9A of our Annual Report on Form 10- K for the fiscal year end-ended ef December 31, 2023,
management had concluded the feurth-quarter-Company had a material weakness in internal control over financial
reporting, specific to a) certain controls did not consistently operate effectively or lacked appropriate evidence, to ensure
account reconciliations, transactions and journal entries were performed or reviewed at the appropriate level of
precision and on a timely basis and b) identified deficiencies associated with its revenue transaction cycle. To remediate
the material weakness, during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024 —Fhe-, we: * establishment- Established of
effeetive-a project team to review, evaluate and remediate the material weakness in internal controls over financial
upomnu and-diselostre-. ¢ Implemented addltlonal mternal mnlmlx focused &nd—pfeeedﬁfes—ts—t-he—fespeﬂsrbﬁ-t&eﬂ-he
As-anot—ae attorron addressing the material
weakness in internal wnlmlx over lmnnudl upomnu . Retalned a third- party firm to validate the design of and test these
new controls. * Performed a complete evaluation of all controls as to design and operating effectiveness. * Required a
more robust review of the data, evidence of the completeness and retention of documentation. During the three months
ended December 31, 2024, the Company completed its testing of the operating effectiveness of internal controls impacted
by these remediation efforts and determined that the material weakness has been effectively remediated as of December
31, 2024. Changes In Internal Control Over Financial Reporting Other than those implemented to address the
previously identified material weakness as described above, there have been no changes in our internal control over
financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2024, that have materially affected or are
reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting. Report of Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm Shareholders and Board of Directors Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting We
have audited Sonida Senior Living, Inc.’ s (the “ Company’ s ”) internal control over financial reporting as of December
31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the “ COSO criteria ). In our opinion, the Company did not
maintain, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on
the COSO criteria. We do not express an opinion or any other form of assurance on management’ s statements referring
to any corrective actions taken by the Company after the date of management’ s assessment. We also have audited, in
accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the
consolidated balance sheet of the Company as of December 31, 2024, the related consolidated statements of operations,
comprehensive loss, shareholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes
(collectively referred to as the “ consolidated financial statements ”’) and our report dated March 17, 2025, expressed an
unqualified opinion thereon. Basis for Opinion The Company’ s management is responsible for maintaining effective
internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting, included in the accompanying Item 9A, Management’ s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’ s internal control over financial reporting based on our
audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to
the Company in accordance with U. S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities
and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. We conducted our audit of internal control over financial reporting in
accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control
based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. A material weakness is a
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable
possibility that a material misstatement of the company’ s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented
or detected on a timely basis. A material weakness regarding management’ s failure to design and maintain effective
system user access controls has been identified and described in management’ s assessment. This material weakness was
considered in determining the nature, timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the 2024 consolidated
financial statements, and this report does not affect our report dated March 17, 2025 on those consolidated financial
statements. As indicated in the accompanying Item 9A, Management’ s Report on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting, management’ s assessment of and conclusion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting
did not include the internal controls of the Atlanta Acquisition, which was acquired in November 2024, the Palm
Acquisition, which was acquired in October 2024, the Macedonia Acquisition, which was acquired in May 2024, and the
acquisitions by the consolidated Palatine JV’ s, which were acquired in July 2024, and which are included in the
consolidated balance sheet of the Company as of December 31, 2024, and the related consolidated statements of
operations, comprehensive loss, shareholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for the year then ended. The Atlanta
Acquisition constituted 4 % of total assets and 1 % of total revenues as of and for the year ended December 31, 2024. The




Palm Acquisition constituted 12 % of total assets and 3 % of total revenues as of and for the year ended December 31,
2024. The Macedonia Acquisition constituted 1 % of total assets and 1 % of total revenues as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2024. The Palatine JV’ s constituted S % of total assets and 2 % of total revenues as of and for the year
ended December 31, 2024. Management did not assess the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of
these acquired entities because of the timing of the acquisitions which were completed during various dates in 2024. Our
audit of internal control over financial reporting of the Company also did not include an evaluation of the internal
control over financial reporting of these acquired entities. Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial
Reporting A company’ s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’ s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’ s assets that
could have a material effect on the financial statements. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over
financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree
of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. /s / BDO USA, P. C. March 17, 2025 I[TEM 9B. OTHER
INFORMATION. ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS.
PART III ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE. #The information
required by this Item 10 is incorporated by reference to the information under the headings “ Election of Directors, ”
Board of Directors and Committees, ” “ Executive Officers, ” and “ General ” in our definitive proxy statement, which
will be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2024 in connection with
our 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. I[TEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION. #The information required under
Item 11 is incorporated herein by reference to the information under the headings “ Executive Compensation Tables ”
and “ 2024 Director Compensation ” in our definitive proxy statement, which will be filed with the SEC within 120 days
after the end of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2024 in connection with our 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS. *The information required under Item 12 is incorporated herein by reference to the
information under the headings “ Principal Stockholders and Stock Ownership of Management ” and “ Equity
Compensation Plan Information ” in our definitive proxy statement, which will be filed with the SEC within 120 days
after the end of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2024 in connection with our 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE. #The
information required under Item 13 is incorporated herein by reference to the information under the headings “ Certain
Relationships and Related Person Transactions ” and “ Board of Directors and Committees ” in our definitive proxy
statement, which will be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2024 in
connection with our 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND
SERVICES. The **nformation-information required under Item 14 is incorporated herein by Htems1+0;H51213-and14
wilt-besetforthreference to the information under the heading “ Fees Paid to Independent Auditors ” in our definitive
proxy statement, which will be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2623
2024 in connection with our 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders . PART IV ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL
STATEMENT SCHEDULES. The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10- K: (5) Financial
Statements: The response to this portion of Item 15 is submitted as a separate section of this Annual Report on Form 10- K. See
“Index to Financial Statements  at page F- 1. (2) Financial Statement Schedules: All schedules have been omitted as the
required information is inapplicable or the information is presented in the financial statements or related notes. (3) Exhibits: The
following documents are filed as a part of this Annual Report on Form 10- K. Those exhibits previously filed and incorporated
herein by reference are identified below. Exhibits not required for this Annual Report on Form 10- K have been omitted.
ExhibitNumberDescription3. 1Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant (Incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 3. 1 to the Registration Statement No. 333- 33379 on Form S- 1/ A filed by the Company with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on September 8, 1997.) 3. 1. lAmendment to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the
Registrant (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3. 1 to the Company’ s Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q for the quarterly period
ended September 30, 1999, filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission.) 3. 1. 2Second Amendment to
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3. 1 to the Company’
s Current Report on Form 8- K filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 14, 2020.) 3.
1. 3Third Amendment to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3. 1 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on November 4, 2021.) 3. 1. 4Fourth Amendment to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the
Registrant (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3. 1 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed by the Company
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 10, 2021.) 3. 1. 5Fifth Certificate of Amendment to the Amended
and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, of Sonida Senior Living, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3. 1 to
the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 16,



2023.) 3. 1. 5Sixth-6Sixth Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restdted Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, of
Sonida Senior Living, Inc. 3= d ant(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.
1 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
March 821 , 2643-2024 ) 3. 21Amendment-to-the-Seeenrd-2Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3. 2-1 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed by the Company with the
Securmes and Exchange Commlsuon on Neveﬁaber—l-G-March 8, 262+- 2013 .) 3. 2 3€Certifteate-of Designation; Rights-and
ek . 1Amendment to 64;-efthe Company-Second Amended and
Restated Bylaws of the Reglstrant (Incorporated by refelence to Exhibit 3. 2 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K

filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 10 the-Seetrittes-and-Exehange-Commission
onFebruary-6-, 2024-2021 .) +6-3 . 29Employment-Agreementby-2.2Second Amendment to the Second Amended and
Restated Bylaws of the Reglstrant between-Sentda-Sentor EivingIne-andKevinBetz-(Incorporated by referenee-Reference to

Exhibit +6-3 .1 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K ;filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on Apri-+9-March 26 , 2622-2024 .) 10-3 . 30Employment-Agreement-by-3Certificate of Designation,Rights and
betweenSentda-SentorLiving Privileges of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock , fne-par value $ 0 . and-Fimothy-Cober
01,0f the Company (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit +#6-3 . +2 to the Company” s Current Report on Form 8- K 5filed by
the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November June24-4, 2021.) 4. 1 1 42667 2007 Omnibus
Stock and Incentive Plan for Capital Senior Living Corporation (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4. 6 to the Company’ s
Registration Statement on Form S- 8 filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 31, 2007.) 4.
2 § 2F4rst- First Amendment to 2007 Omnibus Stock and Incentive Plan for Capital Senior Living Corporation (Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 4. 7 to the Company’ s Registration Statement on Form S- 8 filed by the Company with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on May 31, 2007.) 4. 3 1 3Amended— Amended and Restated Second Amendment to the 2007
Omnibus Stock and Incentive Plan for Capital Senior Living Corporation, as amended (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.
1 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May
22,2015.) 4. 4 42649 2019 Omnibus Stock and Incentive Plan for Capital Senior Living Corporation (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed by the Company with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on May 15, 2019) 4. § + SAmendment- Amendment No. | to the 2019 Omnibus Stock and Incentive
Plan for Capital Senior Living Corporation (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 4 to the Company’ s Current Report on
Form 8- K filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 4, 2021.) #4. 6Description of the
Company’ s seeurtttes4—- securities (Incorporated by Reference to Exhibit 4 . 6 to the Company’ s Annual Report on Form
10- K filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 27, 2024.) 4. 7 1 7Amendment-—-
Amendment No. 2 to Sonida Senior Living, Inc. 2019 Omnibus Stock and Incentive Plan, as amended. (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed by the Company with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on January 28, 2022.) 4. 8 1 8Amendment- Amendment No. 3 to Sonida Senior Living, Inc. 2019
Omnibus Stock and Incentive Plan, as amended. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to the Company’ s Current Report
on Form 8- K filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 16, 2023.) +6-4 . +Agreement-of
LimitedPartnership-of Friad-9 + Amendment No. 4 to Sonida Senior Living H- £Inc . £-2019 Omnibus Stock and

Incentlve Plan , as amended da-ted—Sep’fefﬂber—2-3—1-99-8—(lncorp01ated by reference to Exhlblt 10. S%te—ﬂ&e—eeﬁap&ny—s—kmta}

-J-u-lry—l—l—June7 %995—2024 .) 10. 1 '}‘

bﬁefemﬁeete—EadﬁbHG—}—te—&w—Gemp&ﬂyLs-GuﬁeﬁFRepeﬁeﬁ—F orm
the-Seeurities-and-Exehange-Commisston)+0-—8Fermof Outside Director’ s Restrlcted Share Unit Award Under the 2007

Omnibus Stock and Incentive Plan for Capital Senior Living Corporation (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to the
Company’ s Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 5,
2015.) 10. 2 + 9Employment- Employment Agreement, dated February26-as of March 26 . 2649 2021 , by and between
Capital Senior Living Corporation and MiehaeHc-David R . Fryar-Brickman (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 428 to

the Company’ s Quarterl-Annual Report on Form 10- K Q-for-the-quarterlypertod-endedJune-36;2649-filed by the Company
with the Securmes and Exchange Commlsuon on Attg-us{—9—March 31, 2649 2021 ) 10. 3Invest0r nghts 'I'QAH‘Ieﬂd'l‘ﬂeﬁt—fG




Atigst-5;20221H0—HSign—OnPerformaneeAward-Agreement, dated as of September+6-November 3 , 2649 2021 , by and
betweerramong Capital Senior Living Corporation , Conversant Dallas Parkway (A) LP, Conversant Dallas Parkway (B)

LP and Silk Partners LP BrandenM-Ribar—(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 2-1 to the Company” s Current Report on
Form 8- K filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September-November 4, 2021.) 10 ;2649
4Registration Rights y+6—12Sign—OnRestrieted-StoelkAward-Agreement, dated as of September+6-November 3 , 2649
2021 , by and betweenr-among Capital Senior Living Corporation —, Conversant Dallas Parkway (A) LP and Brandenv:
Ribar-Conversant Dallas Parkway (B) LP (Incorporated by re LlLllLL to Exhibit 10. 3-2 to the Company’ s Current Report on
Form 8- K filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September-November 4, 2021.) 10 ;2649
SWarrant H@—B—Fefbe&f&ﬂee—Aguunuﬂ ddlui as of M&fe-h—lé—November 3, %9%9—2021 by and among Mtdwes-t—hv‘[—rfae{e

Sun(n L1\ ing ( OlpOldllOll &nd—Baﬂd—R— Computershare Inc . -Bﬂekmaﬁ—and Computershare Trust Company, N A.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 28-3 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed by the Company with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 4, 2021.) 10. 6  Employment Agreement by and between Sonida
Senior Living, Inc. and Kevin Detz (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to the Company’ s Current Report on
Form 8- K filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 19, 2022.) 10. 7Second
Amendment to and Waiver Under Term Loan Agreement among Ally Bank, Sonida Senior Living, Inc. and affiliated
borrower entities dated June 29, 2023 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 2 to the Company’ s Current Report on
Form 8- K filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 5, 2023.) 10. 8Second Amended
and Restated Limited Payment Guaranty by Sonida Senior Living, Inc. in favor of Ally Bank dated June 29, 2023
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 3 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed by the Company with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 5, 2023.) 10. 9Waiver and Third Amendment to Master Credit Facility
Agreement among Sonida Senior Living, Inc., Berkadia Commercial Mortgage LL.C, Fannie Mae and affiliated
borrower entities dated September 29, 2023 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 2 to the Company’ s Current
Report on Form 8- K filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 6, 2023.) 10. 10 |
Form of | Waiver and [ First | Amendment to Multifamily Loan and Security Agreement by and among, Sonida Senior
Living, Inc., [ Berkadia Commercial Mortgage LLC |, [ Wells Fargo Bank, National Association |, Fannie Mae and
affiliated borrower entities dated September 29, 2023 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 3 to the Company’ s
Current Report on Form 8- K filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 6, 2023.)
10. 110Omnibus Joinder Agreement and First Amendment to Term Loan Agreement and Other Loan Documents, by and
between Sonida Senior Living, Inc. and Ally Bank on December 13, 2022 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 29 to
the Company’ s Annual Report on Form 10- K filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March
31430, 26242023 ) 10. +5tnvestment-12Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of Jaly22-February 1 , 26242024 , by and
between €apital-Sonida Senior Living €erperation, Inc., Conversant Dallas Parkway (A) LP and-, Conversant Dallas Parkway
(B) LP, Silk Partners, LP, PF Investors, LLC, Solas Capital Partners, LP, Solas Capital Partners I, LP, Blackwell
Partners LLC- Series A, and Paul J. Isaac (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to the Company’ s Current Repml on
Form 8- K filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July22-February 6 , 26242024 .) |
+6Form-of Retenttorr13At- The- Market Issuance Sales Agreement -fe%Gemp&ny—E—xeeut—we—efﬁeefs— dated April 1, 2024
by and between Sonlda Semor lemg, Inc and MllehO Securltles USA LLC ( [lltOIpOldlLd by reference to E\ nbll -1-9—3—te

refereneetoBExhibit10-. | to the Company’ s Current RL])()II on Form 8- K filed by the (ompany with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on Oeteber-April 1, 26242024 .) 10. +8InvestorRights-14Form of Asset Purchase Agreement, dated
August 12 as—ef—NeveﬂabeH— %92—1—2024 by dnd ar-ne&g—@&pﬁa-l—between affiliates of Sonida Senior Living €erperatterr, Inc.
and SittkPartners=P-Principal Senior Living Group

(Immpolaled by reference to E\hlbll 10. 1 to the Company’ s ( urrent Report on Form 8- K filed by the Company with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on Nevember4-August 15 , 26242024 .) 10. 15Credit +9RegistrationRights-A greement,
dated July 24 as-ef November3-, 26212024 , by-and-among €apital-Sonida Senior Living €erperation-, ConversantDatlas
Pardeway-CInc. and BMO Bank, N. A . Y-P-and-CenversantDaHasPardeway-ByER-(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 2
1 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
November4-October 7 , 26242024 .) 10. 26Watrant-16 * + Separation and Consulting Agreement, dated October 22 as-of
November3-, 26242024 , by and amoeng-Capital-between Sonida Senior Living €erperation, Computershare-Inc. and David R
. A-Brickman10 . 17 * ¥ Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreement,
dated December 17, 2024, by and between Sonida Senior Living, Inc. and Brandon Ribar10. 18 + Omnibus Amendment
to Multifamily Loan and Security Agreements, dated December 31, 2024, by and among each entity identified as a «
Borrower ” on Schedule 1 thereto, Sonida Senior Living, Inc., each entity identified as an “ Original Lender ” on



Schedule 1 thereto, and Fannie Mae, the corporation duly organized under the Federal National Mortgage Association
Charter Act (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 3-1 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed by the
Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission on Nevember4-January 6 , 2624-2025 .) 10. 24Ferbearanee
Agreementamong Fannie-Mae-19 * + Form of Performance Award Under the Sonida Senior Living, Inc. 2019 Omnibus
Stock and Incentive Plan affiliated-borrower-entities-datedJune29-, as amended10 2623-(Ineorporated-byreferenee-to-Exhibit

-1-9— 20 ® ’r He—ﬂ&e—Geﬁrp&ﬂy—s-thrreﬁt—Repeft—eﬁ—F orm of Restricted Stock Award S-JGﬁ}ed—byh&re—Geﬁrp&ny—Wtﬂa—t-he

Agreeﬁteﬁ—&meﬂg—&l-}y—B&nl&Somda Semor leme, lnc 2019 Omnlbus Stock and Incentlve Plan affiliated-borrower-entittes
dafed—}ttﬂe—}9— as amended10 %%&eerperafed—by—refererwe—te—E—xhtbﬁ—l—@— 2—te—t-1=re—€eﬂ=rp&ny-21 * 1‘ Form of Out51de

Director ’

%92—3%—}9—2-3-Seeeﬂd1*meﬂded-aﬂd—l%es’f&ted-Restrlcted -I:nﬁrted—P&y-meﬂt—Guaf&nt-y—by—Stock Award Under the Somda Semor
Living, Inc. 2019 Omnibus Stock and Incentive Plan in-faver-of- Ay Bank-datedJune29- as amended10 20623-(Ineorporated
byreferenee-to-Exhibit16-. 3—te—t-he—€eﬁap&ﬂ-y—22 * ’r Form of Outs1de Dlrector S Restrlcted Share Unit Award Under

a—fﬁha%ed—berrewer—erﬁﬁes—dﬁed—Sepfeﬁaber—}% as
amended10 %92—3—61-ﬂeerpera-ted—by—refefeﬂee—te—E*h-tbﬁ—l-9— 23 * 1‘ %te—ﬂie—eemp&ny—s—eﬁrreﬂt—fkepeﬁ—eﬂ—Foun -8-—Iéﬁ-}ed—by

ameng-Sonida Senior Living, Inc. 2019 Omnlbus Stock 1B 3
N&ﬁeﬂa-l—Asseet&ﬁeﬁﬂ,—F&rmie—Mae—dnd Incentlve Plan a—fﬁha-ted—berrewer—erﬁﬁes—dﬁed—Sepfeﬁaber%} as amended19 P %92—3

P&rkwayhﬁ%—I:P—Gefwefsafﬁ—BaHas—P&r}aﬁ&y—éB)—BP—&ﬂd-Somdd SenloI Ll\ ing, Inc. d&ted—]-uﬂe%ﬁ‘-Pollcy on Ins1der
Trading21. 1 * Subsidiaries of the Company23. 1 * Consent of BDO , USA P. C. 23. 2 * Consent of RSM US LLP31.1 *
Certification of Principal Executive Officer required by Rule 13a- 14 (a) or Rule 15d- 14 (a) 31. 2 * Certification of
Principal Financial Officer required by Rule 13a- 14 (a) or Rule 15d- 14 (a) 32. 1 * Certification of Principal Executive
Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2623-200232 . 2 * Certification of Principal Financial
Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 200297. 1Sonida Senior Living, Inc. Compensation

Recovery Pollcy (lnemporated by fefeﬁﬂee—Reference to Exhlblt 97 +9—4—te—the—€emp&ny—s—€m=reﬂt—Repei+eﬂ—Feﬂﬂ—8-—K

by the ( ompany with the Securmes and Exchan;:e Commission on Mmch 27 %9—2-92—3%—1—9%8—8eeﬁﬂt—tes—llﬁrehase%greeﬁterrt—

dated-as-of February+, 2024 ;-by-and-between-.) 97. 2 * Sonida Senior Living, Inc. Supplemental Conversant Dallas Parkway
(A)...... *97Sonida Senior Living, Inc. Compensation Recovery Pekey-Policy101 . INS * +04—1NSinline---- Inline XBRL

Instance Peeument-Document101 . SCH * +0+-SE&Hntine—-- Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Deeument
Document101 . CAL * +04—CA-Inkne-—-- Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Peeument-Document101
. LAB * +0+-—+ABIntine--- Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Peeament-Document101 . PRE * 464~
PREntne---- Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Peetment-Document101 . DEF * +64—DEHnline—--
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Deeument-Documentl104 * +64Cever—-- Cover page from the
Company' s Annual Report on Form 10- K for the year ended December 31, 20222024 , formatted in Inline XBRL (included in
Exhibit 101). * Filed herewith . ¥ This exhibit constitutes a management contract or compensatory plan, contract, or
arrangement . SIGNATURES Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. SONIDA
SENIOR LIVING, INC. By: /s / BRANDON M. RIBAR Brandon M. Ribar President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
Date: March 27-17 , 2624-2025 Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed
by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. Each person whose
signature to this report appears below hereby appoints Brandon M. Ribar and Kevin J. Detz and each of them, any one of whom
may act without the joinder of the other, as his or her attorney- in- fact to sign on his or her behalf, individually and in each
capacity stated below, and to file all amendments to this report, which amendment or amendments may make such changes in
and additions to the report as any such attorney- in- fact may deem necessary or appropriate. SignatureTitleDate / s /
BRANDON M. RIBARPresident, Chief Executive Officer, and Director (Principal Executive Officer) March 27+17 ,
2024Branden-2025Brandon M. Ribar /s / KEVIN J. DETZExecutive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal
Financial Officer) March 2717 , 2024Kewin-2025Kevin J. Detz /s / DAVID W. JOHNSONChairman of the BoardMarch 2717
, 2024DPavid-2025David W. Johnson /s / NOAH R. BERENDirectorMarch 2717 , 2624Neak-2025Noah R. Beren /s / LILY H.
DONOHUEDirectorMarch 17, 2025Lily H. Donohue /s / ROBERT GROVEDirectorMarch 17, 2025Robert Grove / s /
BENJAMIN P. HARRISDirectorMarch 27-17 , 2024Benjamin-2025Benjamin P. Harris /s / JILL M. KRUEGERDirectorMarch
2717 , 26243H-2025Jill M. Krueger /s~ MAXFTEEV-YDireetorMareh272024Maxd—tevy/ s / SHMUEL S. Z.
LIEBERMANDirectorMarch 2717 , 2624Shmuel-2025Shmuel S. Z. Lieberman /s / ELLIOT R. ZIBELDirectorMarch 2417 ,
2024EHiet-2025Elliot R. Zibel INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PageConsolidated Financial Statements of Sonida
Senior Living, Inc. Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm , BDO USA, P. C.; Dallas, Texas (PCAOB ID:
243) F- 2Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (PCAOB ID: 49) F- 2Censetidated-4Consolidated



Balance Sheets — December 31, 2024 and 2623-2023F and-2622F- 4Censotidated-SConsolidated Statements of Operations —
For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023F- 6Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss — For the years
ended December 31, 2024 and 2623-2023F and2022F-- SConseolidated-7Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
(Deficit) — For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023-2023F and-2622F-- 6Consohidated-8Consolidated Statements of
Cash Flows — For the years ended December 31 2024 and %92—3—2023F aﬂd—292—2-F= —7’Nefes—9N0tes to Consolidated Financial
StatementsF- 10 8-Fe a d 0 v —Opinion on the Consolidated
Financial Statements We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets— sheet of Sonida Senior Living, Inc. and
tts-subsidtartesthe “ Company ” ) as of December 31, 2023-2024 and-2022-, the related consolidated statements of operations
and-, comprehensive loss, shareholders’ equity (deflclt) , and cash flows -for the years— year then ended, and the related notes
(collectively referred to as the “ consolidated financial statements ” teeHeetively;-the-finanetal-statements-). [n our opinion, the
consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at as-ef
December 31, 2623-2024 and-2022-, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years—- year then ended, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Basisfor-We also have audited, in
accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the
Company’ s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal
Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO) and our report dated March 17, 2025 expressed an adverse Opiniorropinion thereon. These
consolidated financial %tdtement% are the responsibility of the Company &> s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the C ompany ’s consolldated fmdncml statements based on our andits— audit . We are a public accounting firm
registered with the 7 8 A PCAOB ¥and are required to be independent
with respect to the Company in accordance w1th the U. S federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. We conducted our audits-—- audit in accordance with the standards of the
PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolldated financial statements are free of material mlsstdtement whether due to error or frdud Our:f—he—eeﬁrp&ﬂy—ts—ne’f

epin-ieﬁ—@ttr—aﬂdﬁs—mcluded pelformmg procedures to assess the rlsks of mdtendl mlsstatement of the consolldated fnmnudl
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audit
also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the conselidated financial statements. We believe that our audits— audit previde-provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion. Critical Audit Matters— Matter The critical audit matters— matter communicated below are-is
a matters— matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that wwere-was communicated or
required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate-relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the
consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective , or complex judgments. The
communication of the critical audit matters— matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial
statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters— matter below, providing separate
opinions on the critical audit matters— matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which they-it retate-relates . Evaluation-of
-}Qﬂg-—l-wed—asse’fs—feﬁfﬁp&mﬁeﬂt—As deseﬂbed-dlscussed in Note 3 4—te—t-he—ﬁﬁanet&1—s+a+efﬁeﬂts— t-he—Gemp&fw—ass-essed%éS-S—

uring the year

ended December 31, 2—92—3—2024 the Company acqulred 16 senior living commumtles for an aggregate purchase price of $
194. 2 million, mcludmg transaction costs . The acquisition of 12 senior living communities were accounted for as asset
acquisitions and the Company recognized the assesses-its-tong—tved-asscts acquired and liabilities assumed as of the
acquisition date measured at their relative fair values. The Company recognized the assets acquired and liabilities

assumed for impairment-wheneverevents-orehanges-the remaining four acquired senior living communities associated
w1th the 1nvestment n ei-fettms’f&ﬂees—rnd-te&te—the consolidated variable interest entity at the-their fair value earrying

We 1dent1ﬁed As—p&ﬁ—e—f—the C ompany s impairmentindieator

and llabllltles assumed in Whe&e&ffy-rﬂg—va}ue—exeeeds—faﬂﬂfah\e—\¥e1deﬂ&ﬁed—the eva-l-u&ﬁeﬁ—acqulsmon of impairment-the
senior living communities as a critical audit matter because of the signifteant-assumptions-judgment used by management

when determining makes-in-estimating-the future-tndiseounted-eash-flows-and-fair value of land, buildings, and in- place
leases, including the assetgrotps-selection of key assumptions in the valuation models such as comparable land sales,
estimated replacement costs, market rental rates, discount rates and capitalization rates, which are primarily
unobservable inputs . Auditing the fair value estimates involved a higher degree of auditor judgment due to the
complexity of the valuation models and the nature and extent of audit effort required, including the use of personnel with
specialized knowledge and skills. The primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter included: *



Utilizing personnel with specialized knowledge and skills in valuation to assess the fair value of certain acquired land by
assessing the sales approach and comparing market data to management’ s signifieant-assumptions-selected comparable
sales. ¢ Utilizing personnel with specialized knowledge and skills in valuation to assess the fair value of certain acquired
buildings by performing and-- an judgments-inelading reventie-independent cost approach and expense-growth-comparing
the independently computed cost to build with management’ s fair value determination. ¢ Utilizing personnel with
specialized knowledge and skills in valuation to assess the overall fair value of certain properties and fair value of
acquired in- place leases by assessing inputs used in the income approach and comparing market data to management’ s

selected market rental ratcs, terminat-discount rates and capitalization rates &ﬂd-diseeuﬂt—rafes—feqtufed-a—hlgh—éegfee—ef

aunditorjudement-and-inereased-auditeffort-. We have served as Our-auditproeeduresrelatedto-the Company’ s evalaation
auditor since 2024. F- 3 To the Shareholders and the Board of undiseeunted-Directors of Sonida Senior Living, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Sonida Senior
Living, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2023, the related consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive loss, shareholders’ equity (deficit) and cash flows, for the year then ended, and the related
notes to the consolidated financial statements (collectively, the financial statements). In our opinion, the financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2023, and the
results of its operations and its cash flows for assetgroups-the year then ended, in conformity with impairmentindieators
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’ s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’ s financial
statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in
accordance with U. S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB. We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audit included performing procedures to assess the
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures
that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as fair-vahie-estimates-evaluating the overall presentation of the financial

statements We belleve that our audlt provndes a reasonable basis for our opinion assetgroups-thatfatled-the-undiseounted
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e tray ved-as+th st orsiae 3 '()NS()LIDATED BALAN([ SHEETS (in

thousands, except per share amounts) December 31 %92—3%92—2A—S—S-E—T—Seuﬁeﬁt—20242023Assets Current assets: Cash and
cash equivalents $ 16,992 $ 4, 082 $+6;-H3-Restricted easki3-cash22, 095 13 , 668 43;:-829-Accounts receivable, #et8— net of
allowance for credit losses of $ 7. 9 million and $ 5. 3 million, respectively18, 965 8 , 017 6;H4Federal-and-state-ineome
taxesreeetvable—2-Prepaid expenses and other assets4, 634 4, 475 4;-697-Derivative assets-assetsl , earrent2-403 2, 103 2;
6H-Total current assets32-assets64 , 089 32 , 345 43;-566-Property and equipment, net588-net739, 884 588 , 179 615
Investment in unconsolidated entity10 , 754-Derivative-943 — Intangible asscts, net24, 526 622 nen—eurrent—H+-Other
assets, net2 aet936+ 837479 314 Total assets $ 841,921 $ 621, 460 Liabilities: Current $-66+-268 HABHIFESAND
SHAREHOEBERSBEFIEH FCurrent-liabilities: Accounts payable $ 9,031 $ 11, 375 $F272-Accrued expenses42-expenses4s




, 024 42 | 388 36;944-Current portion of debt netespayable-, net of deferred loan eests42-costs15, 486 42 , 323 46,-629-Current
pef&eﬂ—ef—defeefed-Deferred ineomed-incomes , 361 4 , 041 3-4+9-Federal and state income taxes payab}e%lé—payable243 —
215 Other current habitttes51+9-liabilities470 65-3—519 TOtdl current Habilitiest06-liabilities75 , 615 100 , 861 Long- term debt,
net of deferred loan costs635 94-904 587 317099 Other long- term -1-1ab1-1-t&es49—llab1htles793 49 H3Netespayable;netof

e A Total habilittes688-liabilities712 , 312 688 , 009 H95432
Commltments dnd contln}cenmes (Note H-12 ) Redeemdble preferred stock: Series A conv ertlble preferred stock, $ 0. 01 par
value; 41 shares authorized, 41 shares issued and outstanding as of December 3 1, 2623-and-262248--- 2024 and 202351, 249 48
, 542 Equity: Sonida 43;-556-Sharehetders-" s shareholders’ equity ( deficit ) : Preferred stock, $ 0. 01 par value: Authorized
shares — 15, 000 as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022-; none issued or outstanding, except Series A convertible
preferred stock as noted above — — Common stock, $ 0. 01 par value: Authorized shares — 30, 000 and 15, 000 as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-, respectively : 18, 992 and 8, 178 and-6;-676-shares issued and outstanding as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2622-, respeetively82respectivelyl190 67-82 Additional paid- in eapital362-capital491, 819
302 , 992 295:27FRetained deficit ( 420, 224) (418, 165) 3974-0658)-Total Sonida sharcholders’ equity ( deficit ) 71, 785 (115,
091) (+6+-Noncontrolling interest: 6 , 744-575 — Total equity (deficit) 78, 360 (115, 091 ) Total liabilities, redeemable
preferred stock and shareholders™equity (deficit) $ 841,921 § 621, 460 $6645268-Sce accompanying notes to consolidated
financial statements. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND-COMPREHENSIVELOSS-Y cars Ended
December 31, 26232022-20242023 (In thousands, except per share data) Revenues: Resident revenue $ 267, 849 $ 232, 032
208;-703-Management fees2-fees3 , 381 2 , 191 2;-359-Managed community reimbursement revente2+-revenue33 , 096 21 ,
099 27;3H-Total revenuesrevenues304 $-, 326 255, 322 $238,433-Expenses: Operating expenset77-expense202, 015 177 ,
323 ¥H5-635-General and administrative expease32-expense39 , 997 32 | 198 36;286-Depreciation and amortization expense39-
expensed44 , 051 39 , 888 38;:448-Long- lived asset impairmentS— impairment — S, 965 +-588Managed community
reimbursement expense2t-expense33 , 096 21 , 099 2/3H-Total expenses276-expenses319, 159 276 , 473 269;328-Other
income (expense): Interest -iﬂeefﬁeé@&incomel 235, 681 608 [nterest expense (36, 990) (36, 118) (—3—3,—925)—Gain dessyon
extinguishment of debt-debt48 , net36-536 36 , 339 Loss from equity method investment ( 644895 ) — Other ineome
expense ¥, net ( 540) (532) +6;0H-Loss before provision for income taxes ( 3, 041) ( 20, 854 H54:345-) Provision for income
taxes ( 239) (253 386-) Net loss $-(3,280) (21, 107) $+54-Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests1 , 464221
— Net loss attributable to Sonida shareholders (2, 059) (21, 107 ) Dividends on Series A convertible preferred stock (2, 818)
— 2,269)-Undeclared dividends on Series A convertible preferred stock ( 2, 707) (4, 992 H2,300-) Net loss attributable to
common stockholders $ (7, 584) $ (26, 099 3$-58,9706-) Per share data: Basic net loss per share $ ( 0. 54) $ (3. 85 3$-92F)
Diluted net loss per share $ (0. 54) $ (3. 85 ¥$9—27) Weighted average common shares outstanding — baste6-basicl4 , 109
6, 786 6;359-Weighted average common shares outstanding — difatedé6-diluted14 , 109 6 , 786 6CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS Years Ended December 31 , 359-20242023 (In thousands) Net loss $ (3,
280) $ (21, 107) Comprehensive Loss (3, 280) (21, 107) Less: Comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interestsl,
221 — Comprehensive Loss attributable to common stockholders $ ( 2,059) $ (21, 107 3$54,46+) CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT) €emmen-Sonida' s ShareholdersCommon

StockAdditionalPaid- InCapitalRetainedDefieitTotalSharesAmeunt InCapitalRetainedDeficitNoncontrolling
InterestsTotalSharesAmount (In thousands ) Balance as of December 31......., 401) (54, 401 ) Balance as of December 31,

20226, 670 $ 67 $ 295,277 $ (397, 058) $ — $ (101, 714) Issuance ofcommon stock, setmetl +, 068 11 9, 989 — — 10, 000
Undeclared dividends on Series A convertible preferred stock — — (4, 992) — — (4, 992) Stock- based plan activity440 4 (31)
— — (27) Non- cash stock- based compensation — — 2, 749 — — 2 749 Net loss — — — (21, 107) — (21, 107) Balance as

of December 31, 20238, 178 $ 82 $ 302,992 § (418, 165) $ — $ (115, 091) —F) Balance as of December 31 , 20216 7967,
Fo6-Issuance-of eommonstoek634 $ 66 $ 295 | net10-781 § (342 , 524-1+65-156-657) $ (46 , 810) 43+———196;536-Series A
convertible preferred stock dividends — — (2, $48-269 ) (2, 848269 ) Undeclared dividends on Series A convertible
preferred stock — — (2, 767-300 ) (2,767300 ) Stock- based plan aetivity290-activity36 3-1 ( 448262 ) — —( 445-261
) Non- cash stock- based compensation — — 4, 327 369—— 4, 369-327 Net loss — — — (254 , 659401 ) ( +54 . 401
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS Years Ended December 31, (In thousands) 262326220perating—----
202420230perating ActivitiesNet loss $ (3,280) $ (21, 107 3$5440+) Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash
provided by (used in) operating activities: Depreciation dnd amertizatton39-amortizationd4 , 051 39 , 888 38;-448-Amortization
of deferred loan costs1, 619 1, 552 +-28HGatmtess-Loss on derivative instruments, ﬂet%—net3 950 2, 981 (+9-Gain )/
Write—off-ofother-assets—535-Loss on sale of assets, netH843-net (192) 118 Long- lived asset impatrmentS— impairment
— 5, 965 +;-588-Casualty-tmpairments—1H00-Gain Hess-on extinguishment of debt ( 48, 536) (36, 339) 64+-Loss from
equity method investment895 — Provision for bad debt-debt2 ,596 1, 151 +5+59-Non- cash stock- based compensation
expensez-expense4 , 369 2 , 749 4;-327-Other non- cash items ( 35) (53 )—6498—) Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable, net ( 13, 543) (3, 249 H2;354-) Prepaid expenses and other assets2— assets (156) 2 , 918 8;303-Other
assets, net — 276 ret276-(+4H-Accounts payable and accrued expensest3-expensesS , 151 13 | 013 ;245 -Federal and state
income taxes receivable / payable2+7-payable28 217 (66+-Deferred ineomeé622-incomel 257, 320 622 Customer deposits (19)
(419 ) Net cash provided by (used in) operating aetivitiest0--- activities (1, 782) 10 , 683 &;-5F8)Investing
AetivitiesAeguisition-ActivitiesInvestments in unconsolidated entity (22, 409) — Return of investment in unconsolidated
entities10, 571 — Acquisition of new communities (172, 546) — 42,342 Capital expenditures ( 25, 170) ( 17, 938 H24;562)
Proceeds from sale of assetst-assets631 1 , 376 —Net cash used in investing activities ( 208, 923) ( 16, 562 H36;964-)
Financing ActivitiesProceeds from issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs190, 537 10, 000 Proceeds from notes

payable56 040 — Repayments of notes payable —8-8—(72 026) -l—Zé—Repaymenfs-e-Pnefes—pay&b-}e—( 13, 802 40235

) Proceeds from credit facility68 tsstwanee




of commen-stoelt0-, 066-705 — Shares-withheld-for-taxes-Repayment of credit facility (8, 705) — 261)-Proceeds from
noncontrolling investors in joint ventures7, 796 — Dividends paid on Series A convertible preferred stock (2, 818) —
Deferred loan costs paid (3, 726) (825) Purchase of derivative assets (3, 312) (2, 987362 ) Other financing costs ( 449) ( 124
HH4-) Net cash provided by (used in ) financing aetivities-activities232 , 042 (7, 113) Increase ( 22;-652)Deerease-decrease
) in cash and cash equivalents-equivalents21 , 337 (12, 992 3(62;434-) Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at
beginning of year36-yearl7, 750 30 , 742 92:-876-Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of year $ 39,087 $ 17,
750 $36;-742-Supplemental DisclosuresCash paid during the year for: Interest $ 33,359 $ 28, 251 $29:-626-Income taxes $
220 $ 46 $F25-Non- cash investing and financing activitics: Notes payable acquired through acquisitions $ 21, 690 $§ —
Non- cash additions of property and equipment $ 2, 219 $ 2, 355 $4;,-559-Undeclared dividends on Series A convertible
preferred stock $ 2,707 $ 4, 992 $2,300-Insurance financed through insurance notes payable $ 1, 846707 $ 1, 724-846
NOTES TO C ()NS()LIDATED FINAI\( [AL STATEMENTS 1. Organization and Business Sonida Senior Living, Inc.,

—a Delaware corporation (together with its subsidiaries, the “ Company ,
we,” “our, ” “ us, ” or “ Sonida ” ), is a ene-ofthe-lcading owner —, operators— operator ef-and investor in independent
living, assisted living and memory care communities and services for scnior adults housing-eommunities-in the United
States in terms of resident capacity. The Company owns, operates, and-manages and invests in senior housing communities
throughout the United States. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , the Company eperated-7-owned, managed or invested in 94
senior housing communities in 4820 states with an aggregate capacity of approximately 8-10 , 000 restdents-residents1 ,
including 6+81 owned scnior housing communities thatthe-Company-(including four owned through joint venture
investments in consolidated entities, four owned through a joint venture investment in and-- an +6-unconsolidated entity,
and one unoccupied) and 13 communities that the Company managed on behalf of a third patties— party . Principles of
Consolidation The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Sonida Senior Living,
Inc. and, its wholly- owned subsidiaries , and other entities in which the Company has a controlling financial interest . All
material intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation —JaAugast2623;-and net income (loss)
is reduced by the portion Cempany-eompleted-the-sale-of net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests. The
Company reports investments in unconsolidated entities over whose operating and financial policies it has the Shaker
Hetghtsproperty-ability to exercise significant influence under the equity method of accounting. The Company evaluates
its potentlal varlable 1nterest ent1ty (“ VIE ”) relatlonshlps under certaln criteria as prov1ded or -$—l—9—n‘n-l-heﬁ—T—he
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Accounting Standards Codification (“ ASC’ )-895—810 Bﬁstness—Gembtﬁa-t—teﬂs-Consolldatlon (“ ASC 810 ”) 2—Hiquidity
During2623;-ASC 810 broadly defines a VIE as an entity with one or more of the Company-following characteristics: (a)
the total equity investment at risk is insufficient to ﬁnance the ent1ty s -l-tqmd-rt-y—eeﬂd-rt-tens—actlv1tles w1thout addltlonal
subordinated financial support; (b) as a group , ine ; atreHn d :
dotbt-the holders of the equity investment at risk lack (1) the ablllty to make dec1s1ons dbOLll the Gemp&ny—entlty S abrl-rty
activities through voting or similar rights, (ii) the obligation to eentinte-absorb the expected losses of the entity, or (iii) the
right to receive the expected residual returns of the entity; or (c) the equity investors have voting rights that are not
proportional to their economic interests, and substantially all of the entity' s activities either involve, or are conducted on
behalf of, an investor that has disproportionately few voting rights. The Company performs this evaluation on an
ongoing basis and consolidates any VIEs for which the Company is determined to be the primary beneficiary, as
determined by the Company' s power to direct the VIEs activities and the obligation to absorb its losses or the right to
receive its benefits, which are potentially significant to the VIE. As of December 31, 2024, the Company has a going
eonieeri-joint venture, Stone JV LLC (“ Stone JV ) which is treated as an unconsolidated entity . As of December 31,
2024, the Company is a result-ofinereases-51 % owner in eeeupaney-oeeurring-throtghout2623-two joint ventures
(collectively, the “ Palatine JVs ) with affiliates of Palatine Capital Partners. The Company has evaluated its investment
in the Palatine JVs under ASC 810. The Company has determined that it has the power to direct the activities of the VIE
that most significantly impact its economic performance and is the primary beneficiary of the VIE in accordance with
ASC 810. Accordingly, the Company has consolidated the activity of the Palatine JVs into its consolidated financial
statements for the firstquarter-of period ended December 31, 2024 . The consolidated balance sheet as of December 31 .
rentalrate-inereasesirMareh-2024 includes andneonneetion-with-the 2024-private-placement-transaetiorr-following amounts
related to our consolidated VIE: $ 5. 0 million of Cash and Proteetive-Eife-cash equivalents; $ 1. S million of Restricted
cash; $ 0. 3 million of Accounts receivable; $ 27. 8 million of Property and equipment, net; $ 4. 7 million of Intangible
assets, net; $ 5. 4 million of Accounts payable; $ 0. 9 million of Accrued liabilities; $ 0. 2 million of Deferred income; $ 21.
3 million of Notes payable, net of deferred oan pufehase—costs, and $ 0. 2 million of the-Other long- term liabilities
y y d torr-. Sce © Note +6-3 — SubsequentEvents-Acquisition and Investments,

-fe%&et&&s—ef—t-he—“ Note 8- Debt ” and “ Note — 13 Related Party tf&nsaeﬁens—Transactlons W‘h-leh—hﬁe—ﬂ‘ﬂeaﬁed—e&sh—eﬁ
hand-signtfieantly-. Based-on” 1 Capacity dlsclosures in these footnotes events
to meetits-obligations-as-they— the consolidated beeor ottt rre-the-date—th
2623-financial statements arc ssted-outside the scope of our 1ndependent reglstered accountlng firm’ s audit . 3—2
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Use of Estimates The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U. S.
generally accepted accounting principles (" GAAP") requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the




amounts reported in the accompanying financial statements and related footnotes . These estimates include such items related
to the accounting for: income taxes, including assessments of probabilities of realization of income tax benefits; other
contingencies; allowances for uncollectible accounts receivable; impairment of long- lived assets, including applicable
cash flow projections, holding periods and fair value evaluations; stock- based compensation; fair values of assets and
liabilities acquired in asset acquisitions, fair values of our equity method investments; and depreciation and
amortization, including determination of estimated useful lives . Management bases its estimates and assumptions on
historical experience, observance of industry trends and various other sources of information and factors, the results of which
form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results could differ from these estimates. Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash The Company
considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less at the date of acquisition to be cash
equivalents. The Company has deposits in banks that exceed Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation insurance limits.
Management believes that credit risk related to these deposits is minimal. Restricted cash consists of reserve accounts for
property insurance, real estate taxes, capital expenditures, derivative, and debt service required by certain loan agreements. In
addition, restricted cash includes deposits required by certain counterparties as collateral pursuant to letters of credit which must
remain so long as the letters of credit are outstanding, which are subject to renewal annually. The following table sets forth our
cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash (in thousands): Years Ended December 31, 20232622€ash-20242023Cash and
cash equivalents $ 16,992 $ 4, 082 $46;943-Restricted cash: Property tax and insurance reserves7reserves6 , 156 7 , 237 6;
+84- ender reserve3-reserve6 , 013 3 | 329 +;-560-Capital expenditures reserves2reserves6 , 210 2 . 060 2-034-Escrow
depesitt—- deposit — 1, 000 —Deposits pursuant to outstanding letters of eredit42-credit3 4-, +44-524 42 Other reserves192
— Total restricted easki3-cash22, 095 13 , 668 43:-829-Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash $ 39,087 $ 17, 750 %
30-742-Property and equipment are stated at cost and depreciated on a straight- line basis over the estimated useful lives of the
assets. The Ateach-balanee-sheet-date;the-Company continuously reviews the carrying value of its property and equipment to
determine if facts and circumstances suggest that they may be impaired or that the depreciation period may need to be changed.
The Company considers internal factors, such as net operating losses, along with external factors relating to each asset, including
contract changes, local market developments, and other publicly available information to determine whether impairment
indicators exist. If an indicator of impairment is identified, recoverability of an asset group is assessed by comparing its carrying
amount to the estimated future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset group through operation or
disposition, calculated utilizing the lowest level of identifiable cash flows. If this comparison indicates that the carrying amount
of an asset group is not recoverable, the Company estimates fair value of the asset group and records an impairment loss when
the carrymg amount exceeds fair value T—he—There were Gemp&ﬂy—feeegﬁ&ed-a—ﬂeﬁ» no impairments on long - lived assets

0 1P "during the year ended December 31, %92—3—2024 a
Wﬁte%ﬁehﬁed-te—eﬂehe%ﬂed-eeﬁmﬁtmtw— The Company recognlzed non- cash impairment charges of $ 46 . 0 million to its
Property and equipment, net ” during the year ended December 31, 2622-2023 , which related to one owned community. See"
Note 4 — Impairment of Long- Lived Assets . " =F- 11 In evaluating our long- lived assets for impairment, we undergo
continuous evaluations of property level performance and real estate trends, and management makes several estimates and
assumptions, including, but not limited to, the projected date of disposition, estimated sales price and future cash flows of each
property during our estimated holding period. If our analysis or assumptions regarding the projected cash flows expected to
result from the use and eventual disposition of our properties change, we incur additional costs and expenses during the holding
period, or our expected hold periods change, we may incur future impairment losses. We make certain judgments to
determine whether a transaction should be accounted for as a business combination or an asset acquisition. These
judgments include the assessment of the inputs, processes, and outputs associated with an acquired set of activities and
whether the fair value of total assets acquired is concentrated to a single identifiable asset or group of similar assets. We
account for a transaction as a business combination when the assets acquired include inputs and one or more substantive
processes that, together, significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs and the total fair value of the assets
acquired are not concentrated to a single identifiable asset or group of similar assets. Otherwise, we account for the
transaction as an asset acquisition. Upon the acquisition of new communities accounted for as an acquisition of assets, we
recognize the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as of the acquisition date, measured at their relative fair values using
Level 3 inputs at the date of acquisition including estimates of appropriate discount rates and capitalization rate once we
have determined the fair value of each of these assets and liabilities . Relative fair values may be based on appraisals,
internal analyses of recently acquired and existing comparable properties in the Company’ s portfolio, other market
data, and internal marketing and leasing activities . The acquisition date is the date on which we obtain control of the real
estate property. The assets acquired and liabilities assumed consist of land, inclusive of associated rights, buildings, assumed
debt, and identified intangible assets and liabilities . Above- market and below- market in- place lease values of acquired
properties are recorded based on the net present value of the difference between (i) the contractual amounts to be paid
pursuant to the in- place leases and (ii) Sonida’ s estimate of the fair market lease rates for the corresponding in- place
lease measured over a period equal to the remaining non- cancelable terms of the leases (including the below- market
fixed- rate renewal period, if applicable). Favorable above- market in- place leases represent the value of the contractual
monthly rental payments that are more than the current market rent at communities as acquired in recent acquisitions.
Favorable above- market in- place leases are amortized to depreciation and amortization expense on a straight- line
basis over their estimated remaining lease terms and are included in intangible assets, net on the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets. Unfavorable below- market in- place leases represent the value of the contractual monthly
rental payments that are less than the current market rent at communities as acquired in recent acquisitions.
Unfavorable below- market in- place leases are amortized to depreciation and amortization expense on a straight- line




basis over their estimated remaining lease terms, and are included in other long- term liabilities on the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets. Investment in Unconsolidated Entities The Company reports investments in unconsolidated
entities that it has the ability to exercise significant influence under the equity method of accounting. The initial carrying
amount of investments in unconsolidated entities is based on the amount paid to purchase the investment. The Company'
s reported share of earnings from an unconsolidated entity is adjusted for the impact, if any, of basis differences between
its carrying amount of the equity investment and its share of the investment’ s underlying assets. Distributions received
from an investee are recognized as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment. The Company presents the net
income / loss from unconsolidated entities in" Loss from equity method investment" in its Consolidated Statements of
Operations. The Company evaluates the realization of its investments in ventures accounted for using the equity method
if circumstances indicate that the Company' s investments are other than temporarily impaired. A current fair value of
an investment that is less than its carrying amount may indicate a loss in value of the investment. If the Company
determines that an equity method investment is other than temporarily impaired, it is recorded at its fair value with an
impairment charge recognized in asset impairment expense for the difference between its carrying amount and fair value
. Fair Value Measurement The Company utilizes valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize
the use of unobservable inputs to the extent possible. The Company determines fair value based on assumptions that market
participants would use in pricing an asset or liability in the principal or most advantageous market. When considering market
participant assumptions in fair value measurements, the following fair value hierarchy distinguishes between observable and
unobservable inputs, which are categorized in one of the following levels: F-12 Level 1 Inputs — Unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities accessible to the reporting entity at the measurement date. Level 2 Inputs — Other
than quoted prices included in Level 1 inputs that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, for
substantially the full term of the asset or liability. F=9-Level 3 Inputs — Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability used to
measure fair value to the extent that observable inputs are not available, thereby allowing for situations in which there is little, if
any, market activity for the asset or liability at the measurement date. The Company' s other financial instruments consist
primarily of cash and cash equivalents, receivables, accounts payable, accrued expenses, derivative financial instruments, and
long- term debt. The carrying value of the Company’ s receivables, trade payables, and accrued expenses approximates fair
value due to their highly liquid nature, short- term maturity, or competitive rates assigned to these financial instruments. See
Note 43-14 — Fair Value. ” The Company adjusts the carrying amount of certain non- financial assets to fair value on a non-
recurring basis when they are impaired. Derivatives and Hedging The Company uses derivatives as part of our overall strategy
to manage our exposure to market risks associated with the fluctuations in interest rates. We are also required to enter into
interest rate derivative instruments in compliance with certain debt agreements. We regularly monitor the financial stability and
credit standing of the counterparties to our derivative instruments. We do not enter into derivative financial instruments for
trading or speculative purposes. We record all derivatives at fair value. As of December 31, 2823-2024 , our derivative
instruments consisted of interest rate caps that were not designated as hedge instruments. Changes in fair value of undesignated
hedge instruments are recorded in current period earnings as interest expense. See “ Note +4-15 — Derivatives and Hedging.
Stock- based-Based Compensation Plans The Company applies the provisions of ASC 718, Compensation- Stock
Compensation, in its accounting and reporting for stock- based compensation. ASC 718 requires all stock- based payments to
employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the income statement based on their fair values. All
unvested options outstanding under the Company' s option plans have grant prices equal to the market price of the Company' s
stock on the dates of grant. Compensation cost for restricted stock and restricted stock units is determined based on the fair
market value of the Company' s stock at the date of grant. Stock- based compensation expense is generally recognized over the
required service period, or over a shorter period when employee retirement eligibility is a factor. The Company recognizes
forfeitures as they occur. Advertising Costs The Company expenses advertising costs as incurred. Advertising expense was
approximately $ 40 . 5-9 million and $ 1. 6-5 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2022-, respectively.
Income Taxes Income taxes are computed using the asset and liability method and current income taxes are recorded based on
amounts refundable or payable in the current year. The effective tax rates for fiscal year 2024 and 2023 and2022-differ from
the statutory tax rates due to state income taxes, permanent tax differences, and changes in the deferred tax asset valuation
allowance. Deferred income taxes are recorded based on the estimated future tax effects of loss carryforwards and temporary
differences between financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates that are expected to apply to taxable income in the years
in which the Company expects those carryforwards and temporary differences to be recovered or settled. Management regularly
evaluates the future realization of deferred tax assets and provides a valuation allowance, if considered necessary, based on such
evaluation. As part of the evaluation, management has evaluated taxable income in carryback years, future reversals of taxable
temporary differences, feasible tax planning strategies, and future expectations of income. The Company evaluates uncertain tax
positions through consideration of accounting and reporting guidance on criteria, measurement, derecognition, classification,
interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure, and transition that is intended to provide better financial
statement comparability among different companies. The Company is required to F- 13 recognize a tax benefit in its financial
statements for an uncertain tax position only if management’ s assessment is that its position is “ more likely than not” (i. e., a
greater than 50 percent likelihood) to be upheld on audit based only on the technical merits of the tax position. The Company’ s
policy is to recognize interest related to unrecognized tax benefits as interest expense and penalties as income tax expense. F—36
The Company filed for an employee retention credit (“ ERC ) with the Internal Revenue Service in November 2023.
The ERC is a tax credit for businesses that had employees and were affected by the coronavirus pandemic. We have not
received any funds from the ERC as of December 31, 2024. Revenue Recognition Resident revenue consists of fees for basic
housing and certain support services and fees associated with additional housing and expanded support requirements such as



assisted living care, memory care, and ancillary services. Basic housing and certain support services revenue is recorded when
services are rendered, and amounts billed are due from residents in the period in which the rental and other services are
provided. Residency agreements are generally short term in nature with durations of one year or less and are typically
terminable by either party, under certain circumstances, upon providing 30 days’ notice, unless state law provides otherwise,
with resident fees billed monthly in advance. Revenue for certain ancillary services is recognized as services are provided, and
includes fees for services such as medication management, daily living activities, beautician / barber, laundry, television, guest
meals, pets, and parking which are generally billed monthly in arrears. Other operating revenue consists of state relief funds
received from various states due to the financial distress impacts of the pandemic €0V D-—9-(" State Relief Funds") . The
Company has elected the lessor practical expedient within ASC 842, Leases, not to separate the lease and nonlease
components within our resident agreements as the timing and pattern of transfer to the resident are the same. The
Company has determined that the nonlease component is the predominant component within the contract and
recognizes revenue under ASC 606, Revenue Recognition from Contracts with Customers . The Company' s senior
housing communities have residency agreements that generally require the resident to pay a community fee and other amounts
prior to moving into the community, which are initially recorded by the Company as deferred revenue. Community fees are
recognized evenly over the term of the residency agreements which is generally 12 months. The Company had contract
liabilities for deferred fees paid by our residents prior to the month housing and support services were to be provided totaling
approximately $ 5. 4 million and $ 4 . 0 mitltenand-$3—-4-million, respectively, which is reported as deferred income within
current liabilities of the Company” s Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-. Substantially
all deferred income is recognized within one year . Revenues from the Medicaid program accounted for approximately 10. 1
% and 10. 4 %—&ﬂd—l—@—@—% ofthe Company s revenue in ﬁical years 2024 and 2023 a-ﬁd—2922— respectrvely—Bt&rﬂg—ﬁse&l-

program-. Accordrngly, these Communrtre% were entrtled to rermburqement under the Medrcard program at e%tabhshed rates that
were lower than private pay rates. Resident revenues for Medicaid residents were recorded at the reimbursement rates as the
rates were set prospectively by the applicable state upon the filing of an annual cost report. None of the Company’ s
communities were providers of services under the Medicare program during fiscal years 2024 or 2023 o+2622-. Laws and
regulations governing the Medicaid program are complex and subject to interpretation. The Company believes that it is in
compliance with all applicable laws and regulations and is not aware of any pending or threatened investigations involving
allegations of potential wrongdoing that would have a material effect on its Consolidated Financial Statements. While no such
regulatory inquiries have been made, compliance with such laws and regulations can be subject to future government review and
interpretation as well as significant regulatory action including fines, penalties and exclusion from the Medicaid program. The
Company has management agreements whereby it manages certain communities on behalf of third- party owners and certain
community investments under contracts that provide for periodic management fee payments to the Company. The Company
has determined that all community management activities are a single performance obligation, which is satisfied over time as
the services are rendered. Fhe-Such revenue is included in “ management fees ” on the Company’ s estimate-Consolidated
Statements of Operations. The Company is the-transaetion-price-for-management-serviees-also inelades-the-amount-of
ferﬂabufseﬂ&eﬂt—relmbursed by due-frem-the owners of the communrtre% for serviees-provided-andrelated-costs incurred. Such
revenue is included in “ managed community reimbursement revenue ” on the Company’ s Consolidated Statements of
Operations and-Comprehenstvedneeme(Foss). The related costs are included in “ managed community reimbursement expense

7 on the Company’ s Consolidated Statements of Operations and-Comprehenstvetneome-oss)-. F- 14 Revenue for the years
ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 ard-2822-is comprised of the following components (in thousands): Years Ended

December 31, 20232022Heusing-20242023Housing and support services $ 264, 694 $ 226, 148 $204;:349-Community feesl,
945 1, 775 ;-898-Ancillary servicesl, 210 1, 183 45243-Other operating revenue (1) — 2, 926 5, 243-Resident revenae232
revenue267 , 849 232 | 032 268;703-Management fees2-fees3 , 381 2 , 191 2,.359-Managed community reimbursement
reventae2t-revenue33 , 096 21 , 099 24,3H-Total revenues $ 304,326 $ 255, 322 $238;433-(1) Other operating revenue
consists of State Relief Funds received from state departments due to financial distress impacts of the pandemic €6VB—9-.
F—H-For the yeats— year ended December 31, 2023 and2622- the Company received approximately $ 2. 9 milhenand-$14-2
million in various State Relief Funds from state departments due to financial distress impacts of the pandemic €0V D-—9-. For

The-Company reeetved-approximately-$-9—t-mithion-for-the year ended December 31, %(-)2—2—2024 t-hfeugh—g-ra&ts— no State

Rellef Funds were recelved from the state departments P

recognizes income  for government grants on a systematic and ratronal ba%r@ over the periods in which the Company recognizes
the related expenses or loss of revenue for which the grants are intended to compensate when there is reasonable assurance that
the Company will comply Wrth the apphcable terms and COI]dlthl’N of the grant and there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received. The Phas e v m-theFedera VerRtent-were § he
(expeﬁse)—ﬂeti&ﬂd-t-he—State Rehef Funds were recorded as “ resident revenue — other operating revenue ” in the Company’ s
consolidated financial statements and notes thereto. Credit Risk and Allowance for Deubtfal-Aeeounts-Credit Losses The
Company’ s resident receivables are generally due within 30 days after the date billed. Accounts receivable are reported net of
an allowance for deubtful-aceounts-credit losses of $ 7. 9 million and $ 5. 3 million and-$5—9-mithenas of December 31, 2024
and 2023 and-2022-, respectively, and represent the Company’ s estimate of the amount that ultimately will be collected. The
adequacy of the Company’ s allowance for deubtful-aeeounts-credit losses is reviewed on an ongoing basis, using historical
payment trends, write- off experience, analyses of receivable portfolios by payor source and aging of receivables, as well as a
review of specific accounts, and adjustments are made to the allowance, as necessary. Credit losses on resident receivables have




historically been within management’ s estimates, and management believes that the allowance for deubtfut-aceounts-credit
losses adequately provides for expected losses. Concentration of Credit Risk and Business Risk Substantially all of our revenues
are derived from senior living communities we own and senior living communities that we manage. Senior living operations are
particularly sensitive to adverse economic, social and competitive conditions and trends, including the effects of the-COVID—9
pandemte-pandemics , which has-have previously adversely affected —aﬁd-may—eeﬂfmﬂe—te-advefsel-y—affeet—our business,
financial condition, and results of operations. We have a concentration of owned properties operating in Texas (4+6-19 ), Indiana
(12), Ohio (46-12 ) and Wisconsin (8), which swe-estimate-represented approximately 23 %, +8-17 %, 26-19 %, and +6-9 %,
respectively, of our resident revenues for the year ended December 31, 2024 and approximately 23 %, 18 %, 20 %, and 10
%, respectively, of our resident revenues for the year ended December 31, 2023. Self- Insurance Liability Accruals The
Company offers full- time employees an option to participate in its health and dental plans. The Company is self- insured up to
certain limits and is insured if claims in excess of these limits are incurred. The cost of employee health and dental benefits, net
of employee contributions, is shared between the corporate office and the senior housing communities based on the respective
number of plan participants. Contributions collected are used to pay the actual program costs, including estimated annual
claims, third- party administrative fees, network provider fees, communication costs, and other related administrative costs
incurred by the plans. Claims are paid as they are submitted to the Company’ s third- party administrator. The Company records
a liability for outstanding claims and claims that have been incurred but not yet reported. This liability is based on the historical
claim reporting lag and payment trends of health insurance claims. Additionally, the Company may be liable for an Employee
Shared Responsibility Payment (“ ESRP ) pursuant to the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act. The ESRP is applicable
to employers that (i) had 50 or more full- time equivalent employees, (ii) did not offer minimum essential coverage (“ MEC ™) to
at least 70 % of full- time employees and their dependents, or (iii) did offer MEC to at least 70 % of full- time F- 15 employees
and their dependents that did not meet the affordable or minimum value criteria and had one or more full- time employees
certified as being allowed the premium tax credit. The Internal Revenue Service (“ IRS ) determines the amount of the
proposed ESRP from information returns completed by employers and from income tax returns completed by such employers'
employees. Management believes that the recorded liabilities and reserves established for outstanding losses and expenses are
adequate to cover the ultimate cost of losses and expenses incurred as of December 31, 2823-2024 . It is possible that actual
claims and expenses may differ from established reserves. Any subsequent changes in estimates are recorded in the period in
which they are determined. The Company uses a combination of insurance and self- insurance for workers’ compensation.
Determining the reserve for workers’ compensation losses and costs that the Company has incurred as of the end of a reporting
period involves significant judgments based on projected future events, including among other factors, potential settlements for
pending claims, known incidents which may result in claims, estimates of incurred but not yet reported claims, changes in
insurance premiums and estimated litigation costs. The Company regularly adjusts these estimates to reflect changes in the
foregoing factors. However, since this reserve is based on estimates, it is possible the actual expenses incurred may differ from
the amounts reserved. Any subsequent changes in estimates are recorded in the period in which they are determined. F42-Net
Income (Loss) Per Common Share The Company uses the two- class method to compute net income (loss) per common share
because the Company has issued securities (Series A Preferred Stock) that entitle the holder to participate in dividends and
earnings of the Company. Under this method, net income is reduced by the amount of any dividends earned during the period.
The remaining earnings (undistributed earnings) are allocated based on the weighted- average shares outstanding of common
stock and Series A Preferred Stock (on an if- converted basis) to the extent that each preferred security may share in earnings as
if all of the earnings for the period had been distributed. The total earnings allocated to common stock is then divided by the
number of outstanding shares to which the earnings are allocated to determine the earnings per share. The two- class method is
not applicable during periods with a net loss, as the holders of the participating securities, including Scries A Preferred Stock,
have no obligation to fund losses. Diluted net income (loss) per common share is computed under the two- class method by
using the weighted- average number of shares of common stock outstanding, plus, for periods with net income attributable to
common stockholders, the potential dilutive effects of stock options, stock based compensation awards and warrants. In
addition, the Company analyzes the potential dilutive effect of the outstanding Series A Preferred Stock under the  if-
converted ” method when calculating diluted earnings per share, in which it is assumed that the outstanding Series A Preferred
Stock converts into common stock at the beginning of the period or when issued, if later. The Company reports the more
dilutive of the approaches (two class or “ if- converted ) as its diluted net income per share during the period. The following
table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net loss per common share (in thousands, except for per share amounts):
Years Ended December 31, 20232022Baste-20242023Basic net loss per common share calculation: Net loss attributable to
Sonida shareholders $ (2,059) $ (21, 107 3$54,484-) Less: Dividends on Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (2, 818) —
Z5269-Less: Undeclared dividends on Series A Preferred Stock ( 2, 707) (4, 992 3+2;-366-) Net loss attributable to common
stockholders $ (7,584) $ (26, 099 ¥$58;,976-) Weighted average shares outstanding — basteé-basicl4 , 109 6 , 786 6,359
Basic net loss per share $ (0. 54) $ (3. 85 3$9-27) Diluted net loss per common share calculation: Net loss attributable to
common stockholders $ (7, 584) $ (26, 099 3$+58;978-) Weighted average shares outstanding — ditatedé-diluted14 , 109 6 ,
786 6;359-Diluted net loss per share $ ( 0. 54) $ (3. 85) F- 16 $-(9-27)-The following weighted- average shares of securities
were not included in the computation of diluted net loss per common share as their effect would have been antidilutive: Years
Ended December 31, (shares in thousands) 20232022Sertes-20242023Series A Preferred Stock (if converted) 1, 256 1, 150 45
B89-Warrants1, 031 1, 031 Restricted stock awards6é6t-awards941 382-661 Restricted stock wntts2-units4 —2 Stock options10
10 Fotat2-Total3 , 242 2, 854 2;-542-Redeemable Preferred Stock The Company' s Series A Preferred Stock is convertible
outside of our control and inraceordance-with- ASC480-—16-—599-—3A-and-as-sueh-is classified as mezzanine equity. The Series A

Preferred Stock was initially recorded at fair value upon issuance, net of issuance costs and discounts. The holders of our Series

A Preferred Stock are Conversant and related affiliates, Pareway(A-ERPF—3+"* Conversant Preferred A-5-and-Conversant



Versa G A A ant-Investors ), and are
entltled to vote with the holders of common stock on all matters submltted to a vote of stockholde1s of the Company. As such,
the Conversant Preferred Investors, in combination with their common stock ownership as of December 31, 2024 and 2023
and2022-, have voting rights in excess of 50 % of the Company’ s total voting stock. It is deemed probable that the Series A
Preferred Stock could be redeemed for cash by the Conversant Preferred Investors, and as such the Series A Preferred Stock is
required to be remeasured and adjusted to its maximum redemption value at the end of each reporting period. However, to the
extent that the maximum redemption value of the Series A Preferred Stock does not exceed the fair value of the shares at the
date of issuance, the shares are not adjusted below the fair value at the date of issuance. As of December 31, 2023-2024 and
December 31, 2622-2023 , the Series A Preferred Stock is carried at the maximum redemption value. The Series A Preferred
Stock does not have a maturity date and, therefore, is considered perpetual. Dividends on redeemable Series A preferree
Preferred steel=Stock are recorded to retained earnings or additional paid- in capital if retained earnings is an accumulated
deficit. Dividends are cumulative, and any declaration of dividends is at the discretion of the Company’ s Board of Directors
(the “ Board ). If the Board does not declare a dividend in respect of any dividend payment date, the amount of such accrued
and unpaid dividend is added to the liquidation preference and compounds quarterly thereafter. During the year ended
December 31, 2024, the Board declared dividends on the last two fiscal quarters, but did not declare any dividends for
the first two fiscal quarters, and accordingly, an aggregate of $ 2. 7 million was added to the liquidation preference.
During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Board did not declare any dividends with respect to the Series A Preferred
Stock, and accordingly, an aggregate of $ 5. 0 million was added to the liquidation preference of the Series A Preferred Stock
during such period, effectively increasing the carrying value of the redeemable preferred stock. See “ Note 89 — Securities
Financing. ” Segment Information The Company evaluates the performance of its senior living communities and allocates
resources based on current operations and market assessments on a property- by- property basis. The Company does not have a
concentration of operations geographically or by product or service as its management functions are integrated at the property
level. The Company has determined that its operating units meet the criteria in ASC Topic 280, Segment Reporting, to be

aégreg"lted into one repomné segment As such the C ompany opemtes m one segment fllfeﬂb-}ed—Bebt—Res&uef&r-mgs—The

fem&rmﬂg%eiﬁi—See—Nefe#—Netes—Payab}eLReclassmcatlons Celt"un dmounts prev 10us1y reﬂected in the prior year

consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to conform to our December 31, 2024 presentation. The consolidated
balance sheet as of December 31, 2023 presentatiorrreflects reclassifying in- place leases from “ Other assets ” to “
Intangible assets, net . ” Off- Balance Sheet Arrangements The Company had no material off- balance sheet arrangements as of
December 31, 2024 or 2023 ef—2-92—2— F- 17 Recently Adopted Aecountms_ Plonouncements In November :Fuﬂe—Z-G-l-é—t-he

2023 07, Seoment Reportmo (Topic 280) Improvements to RepOIt’lble Se;ament Dlsclosures The amendments are mtended to
increase reportable segment disclosure requirements primarily through enhanced disclosures about significant segment
expenses. The ASU is effective on a retrospective basis for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods
within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. We adopted this ASU on December 31, 2024 and added the



expanded disclosures. See “ Note 18 — Segment Information. ” Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet
Adopted Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024- 03,
Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses (Topic 220). The ASU requires the disaggregated disclosure of specific
expense categories, including purchases of inventory, employee compensation, depreciation, and amortization, within
relevant income statement captions. The ASU is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2026, and
interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2027. Adoption of this ASU can either be applied
prospectively to consolidated financial statements issued for reporting periods after the effective date of this ASU or
retrospectively to any or all prior periods presented in the consolidated financial statements. Early adoption is also
permitted. This ASU will likely result in the required additional disclosures where applicable being included in our
consohdated financ1al statements, once adopted We are currently evaluating the impaet-provisions of this ASU guidanee-on
W y ; ats-. [Income Tax Disclosures In December 2023, the FASB
issued ASU No. 2023- 09, lnu)lm Taxes (Topic 740 ) mprovements to Income Tax Disclosures. The amendments require
disclosure of specific categories in the rate reconciliation and provide additional information for reconciling items that meet a
quantitative threshold and further disaggregation of income taxes paid for individually significant jurisdictions. The ASU is
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. This ASU will likely result in the
required additional disclosures being included in our consolidated financial statements. We are currently evaluating the
impaet-that-provisions of this guidanee-witthave-ASU. 3. Acquisitions and Investments On December 31, 2024, the
Company closed on the diselosures-acquisition of an unoccupied single senior living community located in Cincinnati,
Ohio for a purchase price of $ 16. 3 million plus transaction costs of $ 0. 1 million. Sonida funded the transaction within—-
with $ 18. 3 million of senior mortgage debt, including $ 2. 0 million for capital expenditure investment into the facility,
which is expected to be utilized to furnish and update the community prior to opening. The non- recourse mortgage has
an 84- month term and 24- month interest waiver, with a 3 % fixed interest- only rate thereafter. On October 2, 2024, the
Company signed a purchase and sale agreement (“ Atlanta PSA ”) to acquire two senior living communities in the
Atlanta, Georgia market for $ 29. 0 million plus transaction costs of $ 0. 5 million. On November 1, 2024, the Company
finalized the acquisition of these two senior living communities. The asset acquisition was recorded at relative fair value.
The Company recorded $ 24. 7 million in “ Property and equipment, net ” for tangible assets purchased; $ 4. 8 million in
“ Intangible assets, net ” for in- place leases; and $ 139 thousand in “ Other long- term liabilities ” for below market
leases in the Company’ s consolidated balance sheets. F- 18 In August 2024, the Company, entered into eight asset
purchase agreements (the “ Palm PSAs ”) with various affiliates of Principal Senior Living Group, pursuant to which the
Company acquired eight senior living communities (each, a “ Palm Community ” and collectively, the “ Palm
Communities ”) for an aggregate cash purchase price of $ 102. 9 million plus transaction costs of $ 1. 4 million (such
acquisition, the “ Palm Acquisition ”’). The Company finalized the Palm Acquisition on October 1, 2024. Five of the Palm
Communities are located in Florida and the other three Palm Communities are located in South Carolina. The asset
acquisition was recorded at relative fair value. The Company recorded $ 89. 2 million in “ Property and equipment, net ”
for tangible assets purchased; $ 15. 6 million in “ Intangible assets, net ” for in- place leases; and $ 0. 4 million in “ Other
long- term liabilities ” for below market leases in the Company’ s consolidated balance sheets. The asset acquisition was
recorded at relative fair value. We recorded $ 10. 0 million in “ Property and equipment, net ” for tangible assets
purchased; $ 1. 2 million in “ Intangible assets, net ” for in- place leases; and $ 0. 1 million in “ Other long- term
liabilities ” for below market leases for this acquisition in our condensed consolidated balance sheet. On July 1, 2024, the
Company entered into two joint ventures with affiliates of Palatine Capital Partners, which acquired four senior living
communities located in Texas (3) and Georgia (1). The Palatine JVs acquired these communities for a purchase price of
$ 32. 8 million plus transaction costs of $ 0. 1 million for net cash of $ 11. 2 million and financing of $ 21. 7 million of
senior mortgage debt. The Company is a 51 % owner in the joint ventures. The VIE was determined to not be a
business, thus the transaction was recorded at fair value under ASC 805. The Company recorded $ 27. 5 million in “
Property and equipment, net ” for tangible assets purchased; $ 5. 6 million in “ Intangible assets, net ” for in- place
leases; and $ 0. 2 million in “ Other long- term liabilities ” for below market leases in the Company’ s consolidated
balance sheets. The noncontrolling interest of the Palatine JV is reported on the noncontrolling interest line items in the
Company' s consolidated financial statements. In April 2024, the Company and KZ Stone Investor LLC (* KZ Investor )
formed a new joint venture, Stone JV LLC (the “ Stone JV ), for the purpose of acquiring, owning, and operating four
senior housing communities located in the Midwest. In May 2024, the Stone JV purchased the four communities for a
purchase price of $ 64. 0 million. KZ Investor is the controlling managing member of the Stone JV and owns 67. 29 % of
the entity as of December 31, 2024. Sonida owns a 32. 71 % noncontrolling interest in the Stone JV as of December 31,
2024, which was acquired through cash contributions of 22. 4 million in connection with the closing. The Company has
evaluated its investment in the Stone JV under ASC 810. The Company has determined that it does not have the power
to direct the activities of the VIE that most significantly impact its economic performance and is not the primary
beneficiary of the VIE in accordance with ASC 810. The Company' s interests in the VIE are, therefore, accounted for
under the equity method of accounting. The carrying amount of the Company' s investment in the unconsolidated
venture and maximum exposure to loss as a result of the Company' s ownership interest in the Stone JV was $ 10. 9
million, which is included in equity method investment on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of December
31, 2024. For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company received a return on investment of $ 10. 6 million in our
unconsolidated entity. F- 19 The Company has property management agreements with a third- party owner pursuant to
which the Company manages certain communities on their behalf for a management fee based on gross revenues of the
applicable communities, as well as an incentive management fee, and other customary terms and conditions. During




June 2024 the Company executed management agreements to assume the management of two communities owned by a
third party. During August 2024 the Company executed management agreements to assume the management of one
community owned by a third party. Shaker Heights Disposition In August 2023, the Company completed the sale of the
Shaker Heights property for $ 1. 0 million. The Company recognized a $ 0. 2 million loss on the sale. The Shaker Heights
property was unencumbered 4. lmpdnment of LonU— Lived Assets There were no 1mpalrments Prepeﬁy—&nd—eqtrrpmen-t—are

e&nﬂytﬁg—&meﬂnt—exeeeds—f&rr—val-ue—durlng the year ended December 31 2024 . The C ompany 1ee00n1zed anon- cash

impairment charge of $ 6. 0 million to its ““ Property and equipment, net ” during the year ended December 31, 2023, which
related to one owned community. Due to recurring net operating losses, the Company concluded the assets related to this
community had indicators of impairment and the carrying value was not recoverable. The fair value of the property and
equipment, net of this community was determined using an income approach considering stabilized facility operating income, a
discount rate of 8. 5 % and market capitalization rate of 7. 5 %. This impairment charge is-was primarily due to the coronavirus
€OVHDB-—19pandemic and lower than expected operating perfonnance at the commumty and reflects the amount by which the
Calrymgy amount of these assets exeeeded then fair v alue 5 e h

-Beeeﬂaber—}l—?&@%}aﬁd%@%% plopelty dnd eqmpment net dnd leasehold 1Improv ements w hth melude assets under fmanee
leases, consists of the following (in thousands): December 31, Asset Fives20232022EandNA-Lives20242023LandNA § 73,
405 $ 47, 173 $4F476-1 and improvements5 to 20 years26-years31, 764 20 , 487 26;-953-Buildings and building
improvements10 to 40 years§45-years989 , 054 845 . 873 842;-854-Furniture and equipment5 to 10 years58-years66, 600 S8 ,
443 53;-236-Automobiles5 to 7 years2, 923 2, 687 2784-Leasehold improvements, and assets under finance leases (1) — 5, 607
2, 766 15899-Construction in progressiNAZ59-progressNA1 666-, 039 259 Total property and equipment $ 1, 170,392 § 977,
688 $968;888-1css accumulated depreciation and amortization ( 430, 508) (389, 509 H353;434-) Property and equipment, net
$ 739, 884 $ 588, 179 $-6145-754(1) Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the useful life of the asset or the
remaining lease term. Assets under finance leases and leasehold improvements include $ 0. 1 million and-$-0-2-mithenof
finance lease right- of- use assets, net of accumulated amortization, as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2022-, respectively.
As of December 31,2024 and 2023 , depreciation expense was $ 40. 8 million and $ 39. 2 million, respectively. As of
December 31, 2622-2024 and 2023 , property and equipment, net included $ 2. 2 million and $ 2. 4 mitherand-$+—-6-million,
respectively, of capital expenditures which had been incurred but not yet paid. Puring-F- 20 6. Intangible Assets Intangible
assets consist of the following (in thousands): December 31, Weighted Average Life Remaining 20242023 (in ycars ) In-
place leases, gross $ 28, 960 $ 1, 720 Accumulated amortization (4, 434) (1, 098) Intangibles, net $ 24, 526 $ 622 2. 7
Intangibles, net represents in- place leases, purchased with acquired communities. A portion of purchase price for
acquisitions have been allocated to in- please leases. The intangible assets are estimated to be amortized over the
straight- line method over their estimated useful lives as of the date of acquisition. See “ Note 3 — Acquisitions and
Investments  for in- place leases acquired during the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 . Amortization expense for
1ntang1ble assets was $3. 3 mllllon and $ 0. S million during the year ended December 31, 2622-2024 the-Compaity

g : o—~Properts vand eqaipment-2023 , net>respectively. Expected future
amortlzatlon expense or 1ntang1ble assets as of December 31, 2024 is as follows (in thousands): Year ended December 31,
2025 $ 6-6-miltlienand-9, 128 20269, 080 20276, 318 2028 — 2029 — § 24 +—-6-million-, 526 7 respeetively—See~Note-4—
Impairment-of Long—hEivedassets—F—16-6-. Accrued Expenses Accrued expenses consist of the following (in thousands):
December 31, 20232022Aeerted-20242023Accrued payroll and employee benefits $ 20,894 $ 15, 639 $43;-795-Accrued
interest (1) 8,499 11, 316 9:374-Accrued property taxes7taxes8 , 050 7 , 614 6;-939-Accrued professional fees5-fees3 , 3155,
022 3:479-Accrued other expenses2-expenses4 , 266 2 , 797 3-$ 45 , 657024 § 42, 388 (1) Includes $ S. 5 million and 36,944
Hnetades-$ 4. 3 million of deferred interest as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 , respectively, in consideration of the Fannie
Mae Loan Modification {as-defined-betow)-. F- 21 8. Debt Long- term debt balances, including associated interest rates and
maturities consist of the following (in thousands): Weighted average interest rateDecember 31, Maturity




Date2024202320242023Semor secured revolvmg credlt fac111ty20277 3% —S 60 3—3—n‘n-1-1-teﬂ—e-f—aee1=&ed—rﬂtefest—payah}e—te
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mortgage notes payabled4-payable2025 to 20454 . 6 % %9%4—&6%945—4 6% 400, 229 \ 4‘)" L)98 -$—593—3—1£—F&ﬂ-me—Mae-—Hﬁe
mertgagenotespayable- (H—31994+Variable rate mortgage notes payable (2-1 ) 2026 to 20296. 5 % 5. 9 % 2026-+e2029137
171, 530 137 , 320 43%-652-Notes payable — consolidated VIE202S to 20277. 2 % — 21, 690 — Notes payable — insuraniee6
insurance20256 .9 % 6 . 4 % 2624+1, 707 1 , 846 1;,-724-Notes payable —other§— other2024 — 8 . 5 % 2624+—1, 619+
Total debt $ 655 . 156 619-Netespayable-$ 633, 783 $676;298-Deferred loan costs, ret4-net3 , 766 4 , 361 5267 Total debt
netespayable-, net of deferred loan costs $ 651,390 $ 629, 422 $6745-03+Current portion of debtl5, 486 notes-payable{3)3-42,
323 46;-629-Long- term debt ﬂefes—pay&b-}& net $ 635,904 $ 587, 099 $625;-802-The following schedule summarizes our aetes
debt payable as of December 31, 2623-2024 (in thousands): Principal payments due in £43- 2024-2025 33-5 43-17 , 994202534
171 2026133 , 055 202772 208-2626347-84726273-, 597 20283, 749-395 2029408, 562 Thereafter260-- Thereafter20 , 418

376 Tom debtﬂefes—pay&b-}e— excluding deferred loan costs % 63-3—655 7-8-3—156 ( l) See ¢ :Pf&ﬂs&eﬁeﬂs—lﬁve-l-vmg—eeﬁa-m
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%92—3— our fixed rate mortgage notes bear mluul rates ranging from 3. 6—0 "n to 6. 3 %. ()Lll variable rate mortgage notes and
revolving credit facility are based on the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (* SOFR ™) plus an applicable margin. As of
Duunbu 31,2623-2024 , the one- month SOFR was 4. 5 —4-%, and the applicable margins were-eitherrange from 2 -1-4—00 %
orto 3. 50 %. As of December 31, 2023-2024 , we had property and equipment with a net carrying value of $ 578-576 .

million that -rs—seetrfed-secures by-the outstanding notes payable. In addition OnJane29-, as of December 31, %92—3—2024 , we
had property and equipment with a net carrying value of $ 144. 2 million that secures the outstanding Credit Facility (as
defined below). 2024 Fannie Mae Loan Modification In December 2024, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries (the
“ Borrowers ) entered into an Omnibus Amendment to Multifamily Loan and Security Agreements ( the Fannte
Ferbearanee-*“ Omnibus Amendment ) with Federal National Mortgage Association (“ Fannie Mae ) . The Omnibus
Amendment amends the terms of each of the loan agreements (each, a “ 2024 Loan Agreement ” and collectively, the «
2024 Loan Agreements ). The 2024 Loan Agreements relate to 18 of the Company’ s senior living communities and are
interest- only through maturity, subject to the scheduled prepayments of principal noted below. The Omnibus
Amendment, among other things: ¢ extends the maturity dates of each 2024 Loan Agreement from December 1, 2026 to
January 1, 2029; « provides for certain scheduled prepayments of the outstanding principal amounts under the 2024
Loan Agreements, payable by the Borrowers and / or the Company to Fannie Mae in immediately available funds
consisting of: (i) an F- 22 initial prepayment of $ 2. 0 million, which was funded by the Company in connection with the
execution and delivery of the Omnibus Amendment, (ii) a prepayment of $ 2. 0 million on or before November 1, 2025
(the “ Second Payment ”), (iii) a prepayment of $ 3. 0 million on or before November 1, 2026 (the “ Third Payment ),
and (iv) a prepayment of $ 3. 0 million on or before November 1, 2027 (the “ Fourth Payment ) (the Second Payment,
the Third Payment, and the Fourth Payment each, a “ Subsequent Payment ”); and ¢ provides that, if Fannie Mae
receives each Subsequent Payment on or before the applicable date for each such Subsequent Payment, effective as of the
date of Fannie Mae’ s receipt of the Third Payment, the $ 10. 0 million guaranty provided by the Company to and for the
benefit of Fannie Mae (the “ Supplemental Fannie Guaranty ), shall automatically terminate. In July 2024, the
Company entered into a credit agreement for a senior secured revolving credit facility (the “ Credit Facility ). The
Credit Facility had an initial borrowing capacity of $ 75. 0 million, a term of three years, a leverage- based pricing
matrix between SOFR plus 2. 10 % margin and SOFR plus 2. 60 % margin and is fully recourse to Sonida Senior
Living, Inc. and its applicable subsidiaries. The borrowing base by which borrowing availability under the Credit
Facility is determined is generally based upon the value of the senior living communities that secure the Company’ s
obligations under the Credit Facility. In October 2024, the Company closed on an additional $ 75. 0 million commitment
under the Credit Facility. The incremental $ 75. 0 million availability results in a total aggregate commitment under the
Credit Facility of up to $ 150. 0 million with total commitment fees paid of $ 0. 1 million for the year ended December 31,
2024. During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company borrowed $ 68. 7 million under the Credit Facility, at a
weighted average interest rate of 7. 3 %, which was secured by one of the Company’ s previously unencumbered senior
living communities and ten newly acquired communities. The Company repaid $ 8. 7 million of the borrowing during the
year ended December 31, 2024 and $ 60. 0 million borrowings were outstanding as of December 31, 2024, which was
secured by 13 of the Company' s senior living communities. As of December 31, 2024, we had an additional borrowing
capacity of up to $ 34. 4 million under our senior secured revolving credit facility. In August 2024, the Company entered
into loan modification agreements (“ Texas Loan Modification ) with one of its lenders on two owned communities in
Texas. The original loan terms included maturities of April 2025 and October 2031, as well as cross- default provisions
with each other. The Texas Loan Modification included revised loan maturities of December 2025 on both communities,
with the Company’ s option to make a discounted payoff (“ Texas DPO ”) of the outstanding loan principal on or prior to
November 1, 2024. As part of the consideration, the Company was required to pay a total restructuring fee of $ 250, 000.
On November 1, 2024, the Company paid $ 18. 3 million for the Texas DPO, which was financed with funds received
from our Credit Facility. The Texas DPO represents a discount of 36 % on the total principal outstanding for which the
Company recognized a gain on debt extinguishment of $ 10. 4 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. 2024 Loan
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Purchase Agreement and Ally Term Loan Expansion We entered into an agreement with one of our previous lenders
whereby the Company agreed to purchase the outstanding indebtedness it owed to such lender for a purchase price of $
40. 2 million (plus the reimbursement of certain amounts advanced to the Company by such lender). On February 2,
2024, the Company completed the purchase of the total outstanding principal balance of $ 74. 4 million from the lender
that was secured by seven of the Company’ s senior living communities (such transaction, the “ 2024 Loan Purchase ”).
The 2024 Loan Purchase was funded by expanding the Company’ s existing loan facility with Ally Bank (“ Ally ”) by $
24. 8 million and the remainder was funded by proceeds from the 2024 Private Placement, see “ Note 9 — Securities
Financing. ” The 2024 Loan Purchase and Ally financing closed on February 2, 2024, reduced notes payable by $ 49. 6
million, and resulted in a gain on debt extinguishment totaling $ 38. 1 million. The Company incurred deferred loan
costs of $ 0. S million as part of the Ally financing that are amortized over the loan term. As part of the agreement with
Ally, the Company expanded its current interest rate cap to include the additional borrowing at a cost of $ 0. 6 million.
The expanded Ally debt facility is secured by six of the Company’ s senior living communities involved in the
transaction. F- 23 In December 2024 as part of the Cincinnati Acquisition, the Company entered into a non- recourse
mortgage loan of $ 18. 3 million for a term of 84- month term and 24- month interest waiver with a 3 % fixed interest-
only rate thereafter. In May 2024 as part of the Macedonia Acquisition, the Company entered into a $ 9. 4 million
mortgage loan with a 60- month term and a variable interest rate equal to 1- month term SOFR plus 2. 00 % margin.
The Company is not required to make scheduled principal payments for the first 36 months. The Company also entered
into a SOFR- based IRC to reduce exposure to the variable interest rate fluctuations associated with the new mortgage.
The total cost of the IRC was $ 0. 2 million and has an aggregate notional amount of $ 9. 4 million. The IRC has a 24-
month term and caps SOFR at 6. 00 % from May 9, 2024 through May 1, 2026 with respect to such variable rate
indebtedness. In connection with the purchase of the Palatine JVs in July 2024, the Palatine JV assumed $ 21. 7 million
of mortgage debt with several lenders. The mortgages have a weighted average interest rate of 7. 2 % and have terms
ranging from 2025 through 2027. As of December 31, 2024, $ 21. 7 million relating to this debt assumed through
acquisitions, remained outstanding. The Company has guaranteed $ 3. 1 million of the Palatine JV mortgages. These
purchases are non- cash financing activities and therefore are not reflected within Capital expenditures in our
consolidated statements of cash flows. In addition, one of the affiliates in the Palatine JVs entered into a SOFR- based
interest rate cap to reduce exposure to the variable interest rate fluctuations associated with one of the mortgages at a
cost of $ 0. 1 million. 2023 Fannie Mae Loan Modification In June 2023, the Company entered into the Fannie
Forbearance with Fannie Mae for all 37 of its encumbered communities, effective as of June 1, 2023 (* Fannie Forbearance
Effective Date ). Under the Fannie Forbearance, Fannie Mae agreed to forbear on its remedies otherwise available under the
community mortgages and Master Credit Facility (“ MCF ) in connection with reduced debt service payments madc by the
Company during the forbearance period. In connection with the Fannie Forbearance, the Company made a $ 5. 0 million
principal payment in July 2023. The Fannie Forbearance was the first of a two- step process to modify all existing mortgage
loan agreements with Fannie Mae by October 2023 under proposed loan modification agreements, as defined in the Fannie
Forbearance (“ Loan Modification Agreement ). Terms outlined in an agreed upon term sheet accompanying the Fannie
Forbearance were included in the Loan Modification Agreements as the final step to modify the various 37 Fannie Mae
community mortgages and MCF prior to the expiration of the Fannie Forbearance, which was subsequently extended to October
6,2023. The Company entered into Loan Modification Agreements with Fannie Mae on October 2, 2023. The material
terms of the Loan Modification Agreements are as follows: « Maturities on 18 community mortgages, ranging from July
2024 to December 2026, were extended to December 2026. The remaining 19 communities under the MCF have existing
maturities in January 2029. « The Company is not required to make scheduled principal payments due under the 18
community mortgages and 19 communities under the MCF through the revised maturity date of December 2026 or 36
months from the Fannie Forbearance Effective Date, respectively. * The monthly interest rate was reduced by a 1. 5 %
weighted average on all 37 communities for 12 months from the Fannie Forbearance Effective Date and deferred (the «
Fannie Interest Abatement Period ). The reduced interest rates expired on June 1, 2024. * A second and final principal
payment of $ 5. 0 million was due in June 2024, the one- year anniversary of the Fannie Forbearance Effective Date,
which the Company paid on June 3, 2024. « In the first twelve months following the effective date of the Loan
Modification Agreements, the Company was required to escrow S0 % of Net Cash Flow less Debt Service (as defined in
the Fannie mortgages and MCF) on an aggregate basis over all 37 Fannie Mae communities. The excess cash flow was
deposited into a lender- controlled capital expenditure reserve on a monthly basis to support the re- investment into
certain communities, as mutually determined by the Company and Fannie Mae. The Company was able to draw down
such amounts on qualifying projects as the capital expenditures were incurred. As ef-December 31, 2623-2024 , the

Company-had-drawn-dowirbalance in this capital expenditure reserve was $ +6-2. 8 million and is included oftheEquity
Commitment-as-more-fully-deseribed-in restricted cash iNete—S——Seetrrmes—Fm&nemg%%s—e-ﬁBeeembeﬁ{%%%—S

mithonremains-inthe Equity-Commitment. F- +8-24 The Company has-determined that the Fdl]l]lL loan modification 1s-was a
troubled debt restructuring where the total cash outflows exceed the current carrying value of the debt. Fhe-Company-tneurred

restrueturing-Restructuring costs related to of$-6—Fmillieninthe Loan Modification Agreements yearendedDeeember31;
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beha-l-f—e-PFanme Mae In January 7073 the C ompdny received notlee thdt the fmeclosure sales conducted by Fanme Mae had
successfully transitioned the remaining two properties to new owners hteh-. This event relieved the Company of the existing
Fannie Mae debt relating to the two properties . Accordingly, the Company recognized a total of $ 36. 3 million for the gain
on debt extinguishments for the year ended December 31, 2023. ©n-With the transition of these two remaining properties,
the 18 total Fannie Mae properties’ foreclosure was complete. 2024 Ally Loan Amendments In February 2024, the
Company expanded the existing loan facility with Ally by $ 24. 8 million (“ Ally Third Amendment ”) to partially fund
the 2024 Loan Purchase. The Company incurred deferred loan costs of $ 0. S million as part of the Ally financing that
will be amortized over the loan term. As part of the Ally Third Amendment, the Company expanded its current interest
rate cap to include the additional loan obligation at a cost of § 0. 6 million and increased the monthly interest rate cap
reserve (“ IRC Reserve ”) held by Ally to match the notional amount required under the increased obligation. In
addition, the Waiver Principal Reserve Amount (defined below) was increased by an average of approximately $ 36, 000
per month and the Company made a one- time payment to the debt service reserve of $ 0. 4 million. The expanded Ally
debt facility is secured by six of the Company’ s senior living communities involved in the 2024 Loan Purchase. In May
2024, the Company executed an amendment (“ Ally Fourth Amendment ”) to the Ally term loan agreement. Ally Bank
successfully syndicated a portion of its total term loan commitment to Cross River Bank. Following the syndication, Ally
Bank and Cross River Bank owned 67. 5 % and 32. S % of the outstanding principal balance, respectively. As each
lender loans a specific amount to the debtor and has the right to repayment from the debtor this transaction is
considered a loan syndication and the guidance in ASC 470- 50 should be applied to the modified loans on a creditor- by-
creditor basis. As Ally Bank was the sole lender prior to the syndication, there is no change in the allocation of deferred
loan costs, and they will continue to be amortized over the loan term. As part of the syndication, the IRC reserve spread
moved from 2. 3 % to 3. 0 %, capping the total interest at 6. 0 % on the Ally term loan. In June 29;-2023, and concurrent
with the Fannie Forbearance, we executed the-an amendment (“ 2023 Ally Amendment ) to the Ally term loan agreement (“
Ally Term Loan ” or “ Ally Term Loan Agreement ) and and— an the-amended guaranty (“ Second Amended Ally
Guaranty ”) with Ally Bank with terms as follows: * With respect to the Second Amended Ally Guaranty, Ally gave wil-grant
the Company, as Guarantor, a waiver (“ Limited Payment Guaranty Waiver ” or “ Waiver ”’) of the Liquid Assets minimum
requirement of $ 13. 0 million for a 12- month period. On July 1, 2024, a new Liquid Assets Threshold of $ 7. 0 million was
sibe-effective, with such threshold increasing $ 1. 0 million per month through the earlier of the release of the Waiver period
or December 31, 2024. « During the Waiver period, a new and temporary Liquid Assets minimum threshold (“ Limited Payment
Guaranty Waiver Minimum Threshold ™) was established. The Limited Payment Guaranty Waiver Minimum Threshold is-was
$ 6. 0 million and is measured weekly. If breached, the “ Excess Cash Flow Sweep ” is triggered and all excess cash from the
communities collateralizing the Ally Term Loan was s#H-be-swept into an “ Equity Cure Fund ”, as defined in the Ally Term
Loan Agreement. As provided for in the Ally Amendment, the Excess Cash Flow Sweep, if triggered, will cease upon the
achievement of meeting or exceeding the Limited Payment Guaranty Waiver Minimum Threshold for four consecutive weeks.
Consistent with the Ally Term Loan, all amounts held in escrow (i. e., Debt Service Escrow and IRC Reserve) were will-be
included and combined with the Company’ s unrestricted cash for purposes of measurement against the Limited Payment
Guaranty Waiver Minimum Threshold. « During the Waiver period, Ally collected the equivalent of the monthly Ally Term
Loan principal payment (as provided for in the Ally Term Loan Agreement) of approximately $ 117, 000 through an
Ally controlled escrow (“ Waiver Principal Reserve Account ”). F- +9-25 « In July 2023, we were required to fund $ 2. 3
million to an interest rate cap reserve (“ IRC Reserve ) held by Ally, which represented the quoted cost of a one- year interest
rate cap on the full $ 88. 1 million notional value of the Ally Term Loan at a 2. 25 % SOFR strike rate. On December 1, 2023,
the Company entered into a new SOFR- based interest rate cap transaction for an aggregate notional amount of § 88. 1 million at
a cost of $ 2. 4 million. The interest rate cap agreement has a 12- month term and caps the floating interest rate portion of our
indebtedness with Ally Bank at 2. 25 %. Until the terms of the Limited Payment Guaranty Waiver have expired or have been
met and elected at the Company’ s discretion, the IRC Reserve is required to be replenished to its replacement cost. ®
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2024 , the Company renewed certain insurance policies and entered into several finance agreements totaling approximately $ 3
3-5 million. During the year ended December 31, 2022-2023 , the Company renewed certain insurance policies and entered into
several finance agreements totaling approximately $ 3. 4+-3 million. As of December 31, 2023-2024 , the Company had finance
agreements outstanding totaling $ 1. 87 million, with a fixed interest rates— rate of ranging-from-6. 25-85 % to-6—56-%-, and
Wetghtedﬂﬁef&ge—r&te—e-ﬁé%%i%rwﬁh—the—pnmllml being repaid over ten- month terms. Fhe-Cempanyhadnetespayable

ata = o nta Q Laanag P a ] D a1 A-q o

Det ulul Loan (osls As of Deeembu »1 %92—3—2024 and Deumbu 31 %92—2—2023 the (ompam had gross de[uled locm costs
of approximately $ 11. 4 million and $ 11. 6 million ard-$H-3-mithen, respectively related to notes payable . Accumulated
amortization was approximately $ 7. 6 million and $ 7. 3 million as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023,
respectively. Financial Covenants Certain of the Company' s debt documents contain restrictions and financial
covenants, such as those requiring the Company to maintain prescribed minimum liquidity, net worth, and
stockholders' equity levels and debt service ratios, and requiring the Company not to exceed prescribed leverage ratios,
in each case on a consolidated, portfolio- wide, multi- community, single- community, and / or entity basis. In addition,
the Company' s debt documents generally contain non- financial covenants, such as those requiring the Company to
comply with Medicaid provider requirements and maintain insurance coverage. The Company' s failure to comply with
applicable covenants could constitute and-- an event of default under the applicable debt documents. Many of the
Company' s debt documents contain cross- default provisions so that a default under one of these instruments could
cause a default under other debt and lease documents (including documents with other lenders and lessors).
Furthermore, the Company' s mortgage debt is secured by its communities and, in certain cases, a guaranty by the
Company and / or one or more of its subsidiaries. As of December 31, 2024, the Company was in compliance with the
financial covenants of its debt agreements. 9. Securities Financing Increase in Authorized Shares of Common Stock On
March 21, 2024, following receipt of stockholder approval at the Special Meeting of the Company’ s stockholders held on
March 21, 2024, the Company filed an amendment to the Company’ s Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation, as amended, with the Delaware Secretary of State to increase the number of authorized shares of the
Company’ s common stock from 15, 000, 000 shares to 30, 000, 000 shares. The charter amendment became effective
upon filing. F- 26 In August 2024, the Company entered into an underwriting agreement providing for the offer and sale
(the “ Offering ) by the Company, and the purchase by the underwriters, of 4, 300, 000 shares of the Company’ s
common stock, at a price to the public of $ 6-27. 00 per share ($ 25. 785 per share net of underwriting discounts and
commissions). The Company also granted a 30- day option to the underwriters to purchase up to an additional 645, 000
shares of common stock on the same terms as above. During August 2024, the Company raised $ 124. 1 million in net
proceeds from the Offering. The Company initially raised $ 110. 4 million of proceeds on the sale of 4, 300, 000 shares,
net of underwriting discounts and offering costs. The Company raised an additional $ 13. 7 million on 530, 317 shares,
net of underwriting discounts and offering costs, pursuant to the partial exercise of the underwriters’ 30- day option
described above. On April 1, 2024, the Company entered into an At- the- Market Issuance Sales Agreement (the “ ATM
Sales Agreement ) with Mizuho Securities USA LLC, who is acting as the sole sales agent (the “ Agent ). Pursuant to
the ATM Sales Agreement in whlch the Company may sell at its optlon, shares of its common stock up t0 an aggregate

%Sfﬁﬂ—Febﬁﬁfy%@%—ﬂ‘le—Gﬁfﬁp&ﬂ?‘efﬁefed—iﬂfﬁ-d securities pulchase aueemenl (the © SLLLlllllL\ Purchase Agreement ) with
affiliates of Conversant Capital and scveral other sharcholders (together,the *“ Investors ”),pursuant to which the Investors
agreed to purchase from the Company,and the Company agreed to sell to the Investors,in a private placement transaction (the *
2024 Private Placement ”’) pursuant to the Securities Act ,an aggregate of 5,026,318 shares (the ¢ Shares ) of the Company’
s eommon-Common steek-Stock ,par value $ 0.01 per share, at a price of § 9.50 per share. The 2024 Private Placement



occurred in two tranches.The first tranche occurred on February 1,2024, at-in which #ime-3,350,878 shares-Shares efeommen
stoelewere issued and sold to the Investors for a total of approximately $ 31.8 million.The second tranche occurred on March
22,2024, atin which time-1,675,440 shares-Shares efeommen-steelk=were issued and sold to the Investors for a total of
approximately $ 15.9 million. The second tranche was following receipt of stockholders approval of the Company’ s
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation,as amended,to increase the number of authorized shares of
Common Stock of December 31, 20623-2024 , the majority of our common stock is held by Conversant and their related
afﬁhates (together, “ Conversant ” or the “ Conversant Investors ”) As of December 31, %92—2—2024 and —feepeefwel-y—
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the Company, whether voluntary or involuntary, the Series A Preferred Stock will rank: (i) on a parity basis with each other
class or series of capital stock of the Company now existing or hereafter authorized, classified or reclassified, the terms of which
expressly provide that such class or series ranks on a parity basis with the Series A Preferred Stock as to dividends or rights; and
(i1) junior to each other class or series of capital stock of the Company hereafter authorized, classified or reclassified, the terms
of which expressly provide that class or series. In the event of a Change-change of Controt-control {as-definedinrthe A-&R
InvestmentAgreement), the Series A F~24-Preferred Stockholders hold a liquidation preference that is equal to $ 1, 000 per
share plus the sum of preferred dividends and other dividends paid as additional stock plus any accrued and unpaid dividends
(the “ Liquidation Preference ). F- 27 The Series A Preferred Stock has an 11 % annual dividend calculated on the original
investment of $ 41. 25 million accrued quarterly in arrears and compounded. Dividends are guaranteed and may be paid in cash
or in additional Series A Preferred Stock shares at the discretion of the Company’ s Board of Directors. Generally, the Series A
Preferred Stockholders do not have special voting rights and have voting rights consistent with common stockholders as if they
were one class. Series A Preferred Stockholders are entitled to a number of votes in respect of the shares of Series A Preferred
Stock owned by them equal to the number of shares of common stock into which such shares of Series A Preferred Stock would
be converted. Dividends are cumulative, and any declaration of dividends is at the discretion of the Company’ s Board of
Directors. If the Board does not declare a dividend in respect of any dividend payment date, the amount of such accrued and
unpaid dividend is added to the liquidation preference and compounds quarterly thereafter. During the year ended December 31,
2622-2024 , the Company declared and paid $ 2. 2-8 million cash dividends on the Series A Preferred Stock. During the guarter
quarters ended September-March 31, 2024 and June 30, 2022-2024 -and-the-quarterended-Deeember3+,2022-, the Board
did not declare dividends, and accordingly, $ 2. 3-7 million was added to the liquidation preference of the Series A Preferred
Stock. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Board did not declare dividends, and accordingly, $ 5. 0 million was
added to the liquidation preference of the series A Preferred Stock. The Series A Preferred Stockholders (“ Holder ”’) have the
rlght at any time to convert (an « Optlonal Converslon ”) each share of Serles A Preferred Stock into common stock as-desertbed
e A e ok ertes2 rverth efe el. The right of Optional
Conversion may be exer01sed as to all or any portlon of such Holder” s Serles A Preferred Stock from time to time, except that,
in each case, no right of Optional Conversion may be exercised by a Holder in respect of fewer than 1, 000 shares of Series A
Preferred Stock (unless such conversion relates to all shares of Series A Preferred Stock held by such Holder). If an Optional
Conversion Date occurs on or after the Record Date for a Dividend and on or before the immediately following Dividend
Payment Date and Dividends have been declared for such Dividend Payment Date, then (x) on such Dividend Payment Date,
such Dividend will be paid to the Holder of each share of Series A Preferred Stock as of the close of business on the applicable
Record Date for such Dividend, notwithstanding the Holder’ s exercise of an Optional Conversion, and (y) the amount of such
Dividend, if a Preferred Dividend, will not be included in the Liquidation Preference referred to in clause (a) above. At any time
on or after the third anniversary of the Closing Date, the Company may elect, upon the approval of a majority of the
independent and disinterested directors of the Board of Directors, to convert all, but not less than all, of the outstanding shares of
Series A Preferred Stock into shares of common stock by delivery to the Series A Preferred Stock holders of a notice of

Mandatory Conversion fas-defined-inthe-A-&RInvestment-Agreement)-, provided, that the Company shall not be entitled to

deliver an irrevocable notice of Mandatory Conversion unless the volume- weighted average price (“ VWAP ”) per share of
common stock exceeds 150 % of the Conversion Price (as—deﬁned—m—fhe—A—&—R—Im*esfmeﬂt—Agfeemeﬁﬁ—for the 30 consecutive
trading days immediately preceding the notice. The Company has the option to exercise its right to require the Conversant
Investors to convert their Series A Preferred Stock, once VWAP has met the above requirements for this contingent call. In the
case of a Mandatory Conversion, each share of Series A Preferred Stock then outstanding will be converted into (i) a number of
shares of common stock equal to the quotient of (a) the Liquidation Preference of such share of Series A Preferred Stock as of
the applicable Mandatory Conversion date, divided by (b) the Conversion Price as of the applicable Mandatory Conversion date
and (ii) cash in lieu of fractional shares. If the Mandatory Conversion date occurs on or after the record date for a dividend and
on or before the immediately following dividend payment date and dividends have been declared for such date, then such




dividend will be paid to the Series A Preferred Stock holder of each share of Series A Preferred Stock as of the close of business
on the applicable record date, notwithstanding the Company’ s exercise of a Mandatory Conversion, and the amount of such
dividend, if a Series A Preferred Stock dividend, will not be included in the Liquidation Preference. The Company may, at its
option, irrevocably elect to redeem the Series A Preferred Stock, in whole or in part, at any time (i) on or after the forty- second
month anniversary of the Closing Date (and before the seventh anniversary), at a cash redemption price per share of Series A
Preferred Stock equal to the greater of (A) 100 % of the Liquidation Preference as of such redemption date and (B) an amount
equal to (a) the number of shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of such share of Series A Preferred Stock as of the
redemption date, multiplied by (b) the VWAP of common stock for the 30 trading days immediately preceding the notice date
and (c) on or after the seventh anniversary of the original issue date, at a redemption price per share of Series A Preferred Stock
equal to 100 % of the Liquidation Preference as of the redemption date. The Conversant Investors, in combination with their
common stock ownership as of December 31, 20242024 , have voting rights in excess of 50 % of the Company’ s total voting
stock. It is therefore deemed probable that the Series A Preferred Stock could be redeemed for cash by the Conversant
Investors, and as such the Series A Preferred Stock is required to be adjusted to its maximum redemption value at the end of
each reporting period. However, to the extent that the maximum redemption value of the Series A Preferred Stock does not
exceed the fair value of the shares at the date of issuance, the shares are not adjusted F=22-below the fair value at the date of
issuance. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2022-, the Series A Preferred Stock was carried at the maximum redemption
value. The redemption amount at each balance sheet date should include amounts representing dividends not currently declared
or paid but which will be payable under the redemption features. F- 28 The Series A Preferred Stock does not have a maturity
date and therefore is considered perpetual. The Series A Preferred Stock is redeemable outside of the Company”’ s control and is
therefore classified as mezzanine equity in the Consolidated Balance Sheet of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023
and-. The Series A Preferred Stock is convertible into common stock at $ 40 per share, as of December 31, 2622-2024 , the
Series A Preferred Stock is convertible into 1, 281, 205 shares of common stock. There is no limit for the maximum
shares of common stock the Company would be required to issue upon the conversion of Series A Preferred Stock .
Changes in the Series A Preferred Stock are as followq Serre% A Preferred StockSharesAmount (In thouqand%) Balance as of
December 31, 202444-202241 $ 3 e alanee-as
3426224443, 550 Undeclared drvrdend% on Serre% A Preferred Stock — 4, 992 Balance as of December 31, 202341 48, 542
Undeclared dividends on Series A Preferred Stock — 2, 707 Balance as of December 31, 202441 $ 48—51 , 542249 On
November 3, 2021, the Company issued 1, 031, 250 warrants to the Conversant Investors, each evidencing the right to purchase
one share of common stock at a price per share of $ 40 and with an exercr%e expiration date of five years after the Closing Date.
The va-}ue—ef—t-he—Company had 1, 031 250 outstandmg warrants saejus he— share-oftssus sts-and-oth

equaHe—Fhe—nurﬂbeﬁe%dﬁeeter—peﬂﬁeﬁs—te%e—ﬁHed)—F-%@— Stoek Baqed Compen%atron The Company s uses equrty awardq

as a long- term retention program that is intended to attract, retain and provide incentives for employees, officers, and directors

and to more closely align stockholder and employee interests. The Company recognizes compensation expense for all our share-
based stock awards based on their fair values. On June +5-4 , 2623-2024 , the Company' s stockholders approved an amendment
to the 2019 Omnibus Stock and Incentive Plan, as amended (the “ 2019 Plan ”) to add an addltronal 500, 000 qhare% of common

stock that the Company may 19§ue under the 2019 Plan asn

reqerved shares of common Stoek for future issuance pur%uant to awardq under the 2019 Plan Stoek Optroni The Company’ s
stock options generally vest over one to five years and the related expense is amortized on a straight- line basis over the vesting
period. There were no stock options granted during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2622-. There were 9, 816
options outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-. The options outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and 2023
and2022-had no intrinsic value, a weighted- average remaining contractual life of 54 . 0 years, and a weighted- average
exercise price of $ 111. 90. As of December 31, 2823-2024 , there was no unrecognized compensation expense related to
unvested stock option awards. The fair value of the stock options is amortized as compensation expense over the vesting periods
of the options. The Company recorded no stock- based compensation expense related to stock options in the years ended



December 31, 2024 and 2023 ard-2622-. Restricted Stock Units Restricted stock units (“ RSUs ) may be granted to members
of the Company”’ s Board of Directors (“ Directors ) as part of their compensation. Awards have a vesting period of one year;
however, the Directors may defer the release of the RSU until their departure from the board. Compensation expense is
recognized over the vesting period on a straight- line basis. The F- 29 fair value of RSUs is the market close price of the
Company’ s common stock on the date of the grant. A summary of restricted stock units’ activity is presented in the table
below: Number of Share% Werghted Average Grant Date Fair ValueNon vested shares as of January 1, 202242-816-$16220

afrtee - 88 820238 . 739 $ 26. 50 Granted3,
OOO 8. 80 Vested (8 739) 26 50 Non- vested %hare% as ofDecember 3l 20233 000 $ 8. 80 GrantedsS, 420 27. 68 Vested (3,
000) 8. 80 Non- vested shares as of December 31, 20245, 420 $ 27. 68 Re%trrcted Stock Awards Restricted stock awards (*
RSAs ”) entitle the holder to receive shares of the Company’ s common stock as the awards vest. RSAs are considered
outstanding at the time of grant since the holders thereof are entitled to dividends, upon vesting, and voting rights. Grants of
restricted stock awards are classified as time- based, performance- based, or market- based, depending on the vesting criteria of
the award. Time- Based Restricted Stock Awards Time- based RSAs generally vest over three to five years unless the award is
subject to certain accelerated vesting requirements. The fair value of time- based RSAs is based on the closing price of the
Company’ s common stock on the date of grant. Compensation expense for time- based RSAs is recognized over the vesting
period on a straight- line basis, net of actual forfeitures. A summary of time- based restricted stock awards’ activity is presented
in the table below F—24-Number of Shareq Werghted Average Grant- Date Fair ValueNon vested %hare% as of January 1,

as—e-ﬁBeeeﬂabeH—l—Z@Q%S—l—202381 128 $ 30. 75 Granted56 400 7. 50 Forferted / Cancelled (2 913) 26 50 Vested (26 044)
28. 72 Non- vested shares as of December 31, 2023108, 571 $ 19. 26 Granted173, 950 28. 72 Forfeited / Cancelled (9, 791)
25. 96 Vested (75, 959) 23. 13 Non- vested shares as of December 31, 2024196, 771 $ 25. 79 Performance- Based Restricted
Stock Awards Vesting of performance- based stock awards (“ PSAs ) is dependent upon attainment of various levels of
performance that equal or exceed targeted levels and generally vest in their entirety one to three years from the date of the grant.
Compensation expense for performance- based restricted stock awards is recognized over the performance period and is based
on the probability of achievement of the performance condition. Expense is recognized net of actual forfeitures. A summary of
performance- based restricted stock awards’ activity is presented in the table below: F- 30 Number of Shares Weighted Average
Grant- Date Fair ValueNon- vested shares as of January 1,

3158 Nen—vested shares-as-of Deeember34,202252-202352 , 619 $ 26. 40 Granted96 600 7. 03 Non- vested shares as of
December 31, 2023149, 219 $ 13. 86 Granted160, 395 28. 80 Forfeited / Cancelled (22, 082) 19. 56 Non- vested shares as of
December 31, 2024287, 532 $ 26. 37 Market- Based Restricted Stock Awards Market- based restricted stock awards become
eligible for vesting upon the achievement of specific market- based conditions based on the per share price of the Company’ s
common stock. The Company grants certain employees market- based restricted stock awards generally with either three or four
tranches that vest if the Company’ s stock price closes at or above an established threshold for each tranche for a specified
number of consecutive trading days within five years of the date of the grant. Compensation expense related to market- based
restricted stock awards is recognized over the requisite service period on a straight- line basis. The requisite service period is a
measure of the expected time to reach the respective vesting threshold and was estimated by utilizing a Monte Carlo simulation,
considering only those stock price- paths in which the threshold was exceeded. During 2024, the Company granted 55, 000
market- based restricted stock awards which vest in four tranches based on the 90- day volume weighted average price
of SNDA common stock based on a grant date market condition. The grant date fair value of such awards was $ 14. 27,
the risk- free interest rate was 4. 5 %, the expected volatility was 50. 3 %, the expected dividends was $ 0, and the
Weighted average derived service period was 1. 56. A summary of market- based restricted stock awards” activity is presented
in the table below: Number of Shares Werghted Average Grant- Date Fair ValueNon vested %hare% as of January 1, 2022488;

2023171 350 $ 26. 97 Granted293 600 8. 12 Non ve%ted qhare% as ofDeeember 31, 2023464 950 $ 15 07 Granted55 000
14. 27 Forfeited / Cancelled (45, 000) 19. 80 Non- vested shares as of December 31, 2024474, 950 $ 14. 75 Stock- Based
Compensation Expense The Company recognized $2—Fmitherand-$4-—3-millteninstock- based compensation expense
related to RSUs, PSAs and RSAs described above of $ 4. 4 million and $ 2. 7 million during fiscal years 2024 and 2023 and
2622 respectively, that is primarily associated with employees whose corresponding salaries and wages are included in F25
general and administrative expenses within the Company” s Consolidated Statements of Operations and-CemprehenstveIneone
oss)-. Unrecognized stock- based compensation expense is $ 3-9 . 2-5 million as of December 31, 2023-2024 . If all awards
granted are earned, the Company expects this expense to be recognized over a one- year period for RSUs, a five- year period
for market- based RSAs, and a three- year period for time- based and performance- based RSAs. +8-F- 31 11 . Income Taxes
The provision for income taxes consists of the following (in thousands): Years Ended December 31, 20232022Current
20242023Current : Federal § — § — State253—- State239 86-253 Deferred: Federal — — Provision for income taxes $ 239 $
253 $86-The provision for income taxes differed from the amounts of income tax (benefit) provision determined by applying
the U. S. federal statutory income tax rate to income before (benefit) provision for income taxes as a result of the following (in
thousands): Years Ended December 31, 20232622Fa%-20242023Tax (benefit) provision at federal statutory rates $ ( 639) $ (4,
374) $H4075-JV partnership income / loss rate differential257 — State income tax (benefit) provision, net of federal
effeets520-- effectsd75 520 (H6)>-Change in deferred tax asset valuation aHewaneet-allowancel55 1 , 566 H5253-Stock based
compensation expense335-457expense496 335 Permanent impact of employee retention credit elaims2-- claims (585) 2 , 302
—Other-Other80 (96) 499-Provision for income taxes $ 239 $ 253 $86-The effective tax rate for fiscal year 2023-2024 differs
from the statutory tax rate primarily due to state income taxes, changes in the deferred tax asset valuation allowance and other
permanent tax differences. The Company is impacted by the Texas Margin Tax (“ TMT ), which effectively imposes tax on



modified gross revenues for communities within the State of Texas and accounts for the majority of the Company’ s current
state tax expense. The fiscal year 2623-2024 other permanent tax differences include $ 0. 34 million of Section 162 (m) of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended compensation limitation. The valuation allowance recorded as of fiscal year 2623
2024 was $466-101 . 8-0 million, which tnereased-decreased from the prior year by $ +0 . 6-2 million due to current year
activity. The effective tax rate for fiscal year 2822-2023 differs from the statutory tax rate primarily due to state income taxes,
changes in the deferred tax asset valuation allowance and other permanent tax differences. The Company is impacted by the
TMT, which effectively imposes tax on modified gross revenues for communities within the State of Texas and accounts for the
majority of the Company’ s current state tax expense. The fiscal year 2022-2023 other permanent tax differences include $ 0. 5
3 mrlhon Section 162 (m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended fthe—““CedeJcompensation limitation and-$0-3
. The valuation allowance recorded as of December 31, 2022-2023 was $ 99-100 . 3-8
million, which had increased from the prior year by $ 441 . 3-6 million due to current year activity. F- 26-32 A summary of the
Company’ s deferred tax assets and liabilities, are as follows (in thousands): December 31, 20232622Beferred—---
20242023Deferred tax assets: Lease liabilities $ — $ 377 $443-Net operating loss earryforward92-- carryforward89 , 623 92 |
251 84:-899-Compensation eests3-costs4 , 148 3 , 233 2,494+-Depreciation and amertizattent-amortization3 , 271 1, 884 9
Other3, 963 3, 119 H5-526-Total deferred tax assetsH08-assets101 , 005 100 , 864 99:338-Deferred tax asset valuation
allowance (100, 994) (100, 838 3H99:273-) Total deferred tax assets, ret26-65-netll 26 Deferred tax liabilities: Operating lease
right- of- use assets ( 11) (26 3£65-) Total deferred tax liabilities ( 11) ( 26 }H65-) Deferred taxes, net § — $ — A valuation
allowance has been recorded to reduce the Company’ s net deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be
realized. A significant component of objective evidence evaluated was the cumulative losses before income taxes incurred by
the Company over the past several fiscal years. Such objective evidence severely limits the ability to consider other subjective
evidence such as the Company’ s ability to generate sufficient taxable income in future periods to fully recover the deferred tax
assets. However, in the event that the Company were to determine that it would be more likely than not that the Company would
realize the benefit of deferred tax assets in the future in excess of their net recorded amounts, adjustments to deferred tax assets

would i increase net income in the period of such a determination. The-CARESAeteontains-beneftetal provistons-to-the

4

tmdeﬁ-he—’Pa*Gtﬁs—aﬂd%ebs%et—ef%@-H—HlJ&H—A% of December 31, %92—3—2024 the Company has gross federal and state
net operating loss (““ NOL ) carryforwards of $ 389-381 . 5-7 million and $ 305. 2-6 million and related net deferred tax assets

of $ 8180 . 8-1 million and $ 13. 6-0 million, respectively. The Company filed for an employee retention credit (““ ERC ”) with
the Internal Revenue Service durmg the fourth quarter of 2023, which was before the announced moratorium on processing new
claims. A As-+th v ; i red-a-reduction to the federal
NOL was recorded in 2023 Wlth return to prov1s1on true up in 2024 to reﬂect the calculated clalm of $ H-8 . 3-5 million
for the-employee wages ela-rmed— The federal and state NOL carryforwards in the income tax returns filed included
unrecognized tax benefits. The deferred tax assets recognized for those NOLs are presented net of the unrecognized benefits. If
not used, the federal NOL generated prior to fiscal year 2018 will expire during fiscal years 2033 to 2037 and non- conforming
state NOLs will expire during fiscal years 2023-2024 to 2042. Federal NOLs generated subsequent to fiscal 2017 currently have
no expiration due to changes to tax laws enacted with the TCJA. Some state jurisdictions conform to the unlimited net operating
loss carryforward provisions as modified by the TCJA. However, some jurisdictions do not conform to the above- mentioned
provisions. In general, utilization of the net operating loss carryforwards are subject to a substantial annual limitation due to
ownership changes that occur or that could occur in the future, as required by Section 382 of the Code. These ownership
changes limit the amount of NOL carryforwards that can be utilized annually to offset taxable income and tax, respectively. In
general, an ““ ownership change ” as defined by Section 382 of the Code results from a transaction or series of transactions over a
three- year period resulting in an ownership change of more than 50 percentage pomta of the out%tandlng stock of a company by
certain stockholders or pubhc group% he 7 : W Seetion

projected utlhzatlon of the NOL -F-—E:,’—carryfomards in the near future The Company maintains a valuation allowance in all
jurisdictions where the NOL carryovers are present. The Company has estimated that $ 60. 3 million of gross U. S. federal
NOL carryforwards from 2015 to 2017 would expire unused due to the Section 382 limitation. F- 33 A summary of the
Company’ s unrecognized tax benefits activity and related information for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and
2622-is presented below (in thousands): Years Ended December 31, 20232622Beginning—--- 20242023Beginning balance,
January 1 $ 23 ,796-193 $ 2, 383-796 Gross increases — tax positions in prior perted397- period409 413-397 Ending balance,
December 31 § 3, 602 $ 3, 193 $2,796-As of December 31, 2023-2024 , the Company has unrecognized tax benefits of $ 3. 2-6
million for an uncertain tax position associated with a change in accounting method. The unrecognized tax benefits as of
December 31, 2023-2024 are timing- related uncertainties that if recognized would not impact the effective tax rate of the
Company. The Company files income tax returns in the U. S. federal jurisdiction and U. S. state jurisdictions. As of December
31,2023-2024 , the Company is generally no longer subject to U. S. federal tax examinations for tax years prior to 2626-2021
and state tax examinations for tax years prior to 2849-2020 with limited exceptions for net operating losses from 2013 forward.



w-and Contingencies

As 0fwas—effeefwe—fer—&1xab%e—ye&rs49eg&mmg—&fter—December 31, 2—92—2—2024 —'Phe—}&ﬁ—rﬁfre&ueed-a—lé—%ra-}temﬁﬁve

its busmess Most of these Clalms are believed by mdnaoement to be substdntlally cov eled by insurance, subject to nolmdl
reservations of rights by the insurance companies and possibly subject to certain exclusions in the applicable insurance policies.
Whether or not covered by insurance, these claims, in the opinion of management, based on advice of legal counsel, should not
have a material detrimental impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Company. +2-13 . Related Party Transactions
As of December 31, 2623-2024 , Conversant and its affiliates have a controlling interest in the Company. During the year
ended December 31, 2024, the Conversant Investors purchased and- an additional 5, 007, 895 affiliates-beneftetatly-owned
approximately-63-%-ofour-eutstanding-shares of common stock tinetastve-of eommen-stoekissuable-tponreonversionof
outstanding-the Company for $ 80. 0 million. See “ Note 9 — Sertes-Securities Financing A-Preferred-Stoekand-outstanding
warrants). On” During June 292023, the Company entered into a $ 13. 5 million Equity-equity Commitment-commitment
agreement-with Conversant —’Phe—EqutFy—Gemmﬁme&t—had—Investors for a term of 18 months, in whlch 67 500 shares of
common stock of the Company was issued as a commitment fee of-$56 y
of eommonstoek-of the-Company-. During the year ended December 31 fPhe—eefﬂmtﬁfwﬁt—fee—sh&fes—wefe-tssued—te
€6ﬁ‘b‘efs&ﬁt—0ﬁ—]ﬂﬁe%9— 2()2% —'Phe—Gemp&ny—h&s—t-he—ﬂght— butnotthe ebligation-to-uttlize-Conversant-s-eguity-commitment
; he-Company made equity draws of $ 6-10 . 0 million #nFaly-and issued

1 000 000 shares of common stock to Conversant The remaining equity commitment expired on December 31, 20623
2024 . Stone Joint Venture As of December 31, 2024, the Company manages the four communities owned by the Stone
JV under a management agreement and also provides reporting services for the joint venture. Sonida operates the four
communities for a management fee based on gross revenues of the applicable communities, as well as and-- an incentive
management fee based on earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization, rent, and management fees, and
other customary terms and conditions. The management fees and reporting fees were $ 4-0. 8 million and $ 0. 02 million,
respectively, for the year ending December 31, 2024. In September 2024, the Stone JV entered into a $ 35 . 0 million
November2023-against-the-equity-commitment mortgage loan with a 36- month term and a fixed interest rate equal to 7 .
eﬁ—Febfu&ry—l—3 % backed by the four communltles owned by the Stone JV. As of December 31 , 2024, the outstanding

Y v hares-of eemmon-stoek-of-the Ge-mp&ﬂy—fer—Stone JV loan
was $ %9—35 0 nnlhon and the Company guarantees the loan. During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company
received a distribution of $ 10. 6 million as a return of the Company’ s investment in the Stone JV due to financing of the
communities . Sce © Note 83 — SeeuritiesFinaneing-Acquisitions and Investments. ~” F- 34 Palatine Joint Ventures As of
December 31, 2024, the Company manages the four communities owned by subsidiaries of the Palatine JVs under a
management agreement and also provides reporting services for the two joint ventures. The Company manages the four
Palatine JV communities in exchange for a management fee calculated as a percentage of gross revenue and and-- an
additional incentive management fee based on earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization, rent, and
management fees, and other customary terms and conditions. The management fees and reporting fees were $ 0. 4
million and $ 0. 03 million, respectively, for the year ending December 31, 2024, which have been eliminated in
consolidation. See * Note +6-3 — SubseguentEvents-Acquisitions and Investments . " +3-14 . Fair Value Assets and Liabilities
Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis The Company uses interest rate cap arrangements with financial institutions to
manage exposure to interest rate changes for loans that utilize floating interest rates. As of December 31, 2023-2024 , we had
interest rate cap agreements with an aggregate notional value of § +38-185 . 4-1 million. The fair value of these derivative assets
as of December 31, 2023-2024 was $ 2--1 . S million and was determined using significant observable inputs (Level 2), including
quantitative models that utilize multiple market inputs to value the position. The majority of market inputs are actively quoted
and can be validated through external sources, including brokers, market transactions and third- party pricing services. See “
Note +4-15 — Derivatives and Hedging. ” F=28-Financial Instruments Not Reported at Fair Value For those financial
instruments not carried at fair value, the carrying amount and estimated fair values of our financial assets and liabilities were as
follows as of December 31, 2023-2024 and December 31, 2622-2023 (in thousands): December 31,
26232622€CarryingAmountFair—--- 20242023CarryingAmountFair ValueCarryingAmountFair ValueCash and cash
equivalents $ 16,992 $ 16,992 $ 4, 082 $ 4, 082 $+6;-H3-$+6;-H3-Restricted eashd3-cash22, 095 22, 095 13, 668 13, 668
Debt 43;-829-13;-829-Netes-payable-, excluding deferred loan eestsé33-costs655 , 156 621, 597 633 , 783 597, 266 676;29%
638;485-We believe the carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable, and accounts
payable and accrued liabilities approximate fair value due to their short- term nature. The fair value of debt netes-payable-,
excluding deferred loan costs, is estimated using discounted cash flow analysis, based on current incremental borrowing rates
for similar types of borrowing arrangements, which represent Level 2 inputs as defined in ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement.
Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis The Company may adjust the carrying amount of certain
non- financial assets to fair value on a non- recurring basis when they are impaired. There were no impairments on long-
lived assets Buring-during the year ended December 31, 2024. During the year ended December, 31,2023, the Company
recorded a non- Cash 1mpanment Chalge of $6.0 mllhon to 1< Property and equipment, net - * The fair value of the impaired
assets was $7.3 ng-the-y ;




its f"ur leue dlsclosures for fmdnClal mstruments Cash and cash equlV"llents and Restrlcted cash: The carrying amounts
reported in the Company’ s Consolidated Balance Sheets for cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash approximate fair
value, which represent Level 1 inputs as defined in the accounting standards codification. Debt Netes-payable-, excluding
deferred loan costs: The fair value of debt netes-payable-, excluding deferred loan costs, is estimated using discounted cash flow
analysis, based on current incremental borrowing rates for similar types of borrowing arrangements, which represent Level 2
inputs as defined in the accounting standards codification. F- 35 Property and Equipment, Net: During the years— year ended
December 31, 2623-2024 and-2622-, the Company evaluated property splant-and equipment, net for impairment and-identified
properties-with-aearrying-amount-of. The Company did not find any triggering transactions or events that would cause
the Company toi 1mpa1r any of our assets for tn—exeess—e-ﬁthe year ended December 31, 2024. Upon estimated-futire

A W ated-by-the acquisition of new communities accounted for as an acquisition
of assets —’Phe—Geﬂap&mf—eefﬂpafed- we recogmze the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as of the acquisition date,
measured at the-their estimated-relative fair values usmg Level 3 1nputs at the date of acqulsltlon once we have
determined the hlr value of each of{-he—these assets to-th i d-prop 3
and liabilities tmpa t ver-fa
liabilities could be affected by mdlket changes and thls el‘fect could be materlal -1-4-15 Derlvatlves and Hedcmg The ( ompany
uses derivatives as part of our overall strategy to manage our exposure to market risks associated with the fluctuations in interest
rates. We are also required to enter into interest rate derivative instruments in compliance with certain debt agreements. We do
not enter into derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes . The interest rate derivative instruments
are not designated as hedges under ASC 815- 20, Derivatives- Hedging. All changes in the fair value of the instrument
are included as a component of interest expense in the consolidated statements of operations and' loss on derivative
instruments" on the consolidated statement of cash flows. In connection with the Macedonia loan, in May 2024, the
Company entered into a SOFR- based interest rate cap to reduce exposure to the variable interest rate fluctuations
associated with a new mortgage. The total cost of the IRC was $ 0. 2 million and has an aggregate notional amount of $ 9.
4 million. The IRC has a 24- month term and caps SOFR at 6. 00 % . On March 1, 2022, the Company entered into an
interest rate cap agreement for an aggregate notional amount of $ 50. 3 million to reduce exposure to interest rate fluctuations
associated with a portion of our variable mortgage notes payable. The interest rate cap agreement has a 24- month term and caps
the interest rate at 4. 00 % from March 1, 2022 through March 1, 2024 with respect to the portion of our floating rate
indebtedness. HIBOR-During April 2024, the Company entered into an interest rates— rate were-ne-tonger-cap transaction
for an aggregate notional amount of $ 49. 2 million for $ 1. 1 million to reduce exposure to interest rate fluctuations
associated with a portion of our avatltable-- variable afterJune-36,2623;-mortgage notes payable to Fannie Mae. The
interest rate cap as—has F—24 month term and effectlvely caps %9—a—fe8ﬂ+t—ﬂﬂs—deﬂvaﬁve1ns&ufneﬂkhas—tf&nstﬁeﬁed+e—t-he

h v ; i . 00 % . The Company is fundmg an IRC reserve for a
replacement IRC whlch 1s held by the lender . The interest rate cap is not designated as a cash flow hedge under ASC 815- 20,
Derivatives- Hedging, therefore all changes in the fair value of the instrument are included as a component of interest expense in
the consolidated statements of operations. On Nevember-36-December 1 , 2622-2023 , in order to comply with the lender ='s
requirements under the Ally Bank loan agreement RefinaneeFaetlity(see" Note-7—NotesPayable"y-, the Company entered
into a SOFR- based interest rate cap transaction for an aggregate notional amount of § 88. 1 million at a cost of § 2. 4 million.
The interest rate cap agreement had a 12- month term and effectively capped the interest rate at 2. 25 % with respect to the
portion of our floating rate indebtedness. On Peeember+February 2 , 2623-2024 , as part of the Ally Term Loan expansion ,
the Company entered into a arew—SOFR- based interest rate cap transaction for an aggregate notional amount of § $8-24 . +8
million at a cost of $ 2-0. 6 million, On December 1, 2024, the Company entered into a SOFR- based interest rate cap
transaction for an aggregate notional amount of $ 113 million at a cost of $ 1 . 4 million. The interest rate cap agreement has
a 12- month term and effectiv ely caps the 1ntelest rate at 2—3 25—00 % Wlth respect to the portlon of our ﬂoatmo rate
mdebtedness he-in stgnated-as-hedg es a8

of Decembel 31, %92—3—2024 , dH of our variable- rate debt obligations were covered by 1ntelest rate cap transactions. F 36 The
following table presents the fair values of derivative assets and liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets (in thousands):
December 31, 2024Derivative AssetDerivative LiabilityNotional AmountFair ValueNotional AmountFair Valuelnterest
rate cap (SOFR- based) 185, 145 1, 465 — $ — Total derivatives $ 185,145 $ 1,465 $ — $ — December 31,
2023Derivative AssetDerivative LiabilityNotional AmountFair ValueNotional AmountFair Valuelnterest rate cap (SOFR-
based) 138 385 2,103 — $ — Total dematlves $ 138, 385 $ 2,103 $ — $ —Beeeﬂaber—}l,—Z-GQ—ZBefw&tweﬁsset-Befw&ﬁve

presents the effect of the denvatl\ e 1nst1ument on the consolldated stdtements of operatlons (1n thousands): Years ended
December 31, 26232022Derivatives—--- 20242023 Derivatives not designated as hedgesInterest rate capsLoss eapsGain-ossy
on derivatives not designated as hedges included in interest expense ( 3, 950) (2, 981) 16 +9-F-3645-. Allowance for Deubtfat
Aeeounts-Credit Losses The components of the allowance for deubtfil-aeeounts-credit losses arc as follows (in thousands):
December 31, 20232022Balanee-20242023Balance at beginning of year $ 5, 256 $ 5, 915 $4:723-Provision for bad-debts
credit losses , nct of reeevertest-recoveries2 , 596 1, 151 £53459-Write- offs and other — (1, 810) 33-Balance at end of year $ 5
7 ,256-852 § 5, 945-256 Accounts receivable are reported net of an allowance for deubtfal-aeeounts-credit losses to represent



the Company’ s estimate of inherent losses at the balance sheet date. +6-17 . SubsequentEvents-OnFebruary-Employee Benefit
Plans Defined Contribution Plans The Company maintains a 401 (k) retirement savings plan for all employees that meet

minimum employment criteria. Such plan provides that the participants may defer eligible compensation subject to
certain Internal Revenue Code maximum amounts. The Company makes discretionary matching contributions. For the
2023 and 2024 Plan Years the Company made a contribution in amounts equal to 100. 0 % of the employee' s
contribution to such plan, for contributions up to a maximum of | . 0 % of eligible compensation deferred into the Plan.
For the years ended December 31 , 2024 and 2023 , the Company' s expense for such plan was $ 0. 4 million and $ 0. 3
million, respectively. F- 37 18. Segment Information Each of our communities are identified as individual operating
segments and we combine the-them into a single reportable segment for reporting purposes under ASC 280. We measure
the segment based on resident revenue less community operating expense, (adjusted for various non- recurring non-
operating community expenses), which we define as community net operating income (“ NOI ”), as well as some key
performance indicators such as weighted average occupancy and a measurement of average rent per available unit. Our
Chief Executive Officer, is our chief operating decision maker (“ CODM ”), who organizes our Company-company ,
manages resource allocations and measures performance among our one reportable segment. The CODM uses
community NOI by property to allocate operating and capital resources and assesses performance of the segment by
comparing actual NOI results to historical results and previously forecasted financial information. Our CODM manages
our business by reviewing annual forecasts and segment results on a monthly basis. The measure of segment assets is
reported on the consolidated balance sheet as total consolidated assets. The total investment in equity method
investments and capital expenditures are presented on the consolidated financial statements. The following table
presents resident revenue, community operating expense and community net operating income by reportable segment
(in thousands): Years ended December 31, 20242023Resident revenue $ 267, 849 § 232, 032 Community operating
expense: Labor126, 730 111, 051 Food13, 807 12, 082 Utilities12, 701 11, 759 Other community operating expense (1) 45,
943 39, 238 Total community operating expensel199, 181 174, 130 Community net operating income $ 68, 668 $ 57, 902
(1) Includes community maintenance, software expense, supplies, insurance, real estate taxes, marketing expense, and
other overhead expense. A reconciliation of segment revenues to consolidated total revenues for 2024 and 2023 is as
follows (in thousands): Years ended December 31, 20242023Segment resident revenue $ 267, 849 $ 232, 032 All other
non- segment revenue: Management fees3, 381 2, 191 Managed community reimbursement revenue33, 096 21, 099 Total
revenues $ 304, 326 $ 255, 322 F- 38 A reconciliation of segment net operating income to the Company’ s Consolidated
Statements of Operations for 2024 and 2023 is as follows (in thousands): Years ended December 31, 20242023Segment
net operating income $ 68, 668 $ 57, 902 Management fees3, 381 2, 191 Other operating expenses (2, 834) (3, 193)
General and administrative expense (39, 997) (32, 198) Depreciation and amortization expense (44, 051) (39, 888) Long-
lived asset impairment — (5, 965) Interest incomel, 681 608 Interest expense (36, 990) (36, 118) Gain on extinguishment
of debt, net48, 536 36, 339 Loss from equity method investment (895) — Other expense, net (540) (532) Provision for
income taxes (239) (253) Net Loss $ (3, 280) $ (21, 107) F- 39 Execution Version SEPARATION AND CONSULTING
AGREEMENT This Separation and Consulting Agreement (this “ Agreement ) is entered into a securities purchase
agreement (the “...... number of authorized shares of Common Stock by tt n n =

SECHON12-OF THE-SECURIHES EXCHANGE-ACT-OF1934-The-only-elassseeurities-of-

registered-(the “ Company ), and David R. Brickman (“ Executive ) as of this 22nd day of October, 2024. The Company
and Executive are referred to as the “ Parties. > WHEREAS, Executive is currently employed as the Company’ s Senior
Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary under the terms of that certain Executive Employment Agreement dated
March 26, 2021 (the “ Employment Agreement ”’); WHEREAS, the Parties have agreed that Executive’ s employment
with the Company will end on December 31, 2024 (the “ Separation Date ”); and WHEREAS, the Parties desire to
provide for the transition of Executive’ s duties and responsibilities from and after the date of this Agreement and the
terms of Executive’ s termination of employment; NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and mutual
covenants and agreements hereinafter set forth, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and
sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereto agree as follows: 1. Termination of Executive’ s
Employment. Executive’ s employment with the Company will end on December 31, 2024, or if earlier, the date of
Executive’ s death (as applicable, the “ Separation Date ”). 2. Transition Period. (a) Duties. Between the Effective Date
(as defined in Section 6) and the Separation Date (the “ Transition Period ), Executive will remain an employee of the
Company and will be expected to transition his duties and responsibilities and perform other duties and tasks as



reasonably requested by the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. During the Transition Period, Executive must
continue to comply with all of the Company’ s policies and procedures and with all of Executive’ s statutory and
contractual obligations to the Company. Executive agrees to perform his duties in good faith. (b) Compensation /
Benefits. During the Transition Period, Executive’ s title and base salary will remain the same, and Executive will
continue to be eligible for the Company’ s benefit plans and programs, subject to the terms and conditions applicable to
such plans and programs. Further, during the Transition Period Executive will continue to vest in all outstanding equity
awards (which, for avoidance of doubt, are listed on Exhibit B hereto). 3. Termination Payments and Benefits. (a)
Accrued Payments. Upon the Separation Date, the Company shall: (i) pay Executive all accrued by unpaid base salary as
of the Separation Date; (ii) reimburse Executive for expenses incurred by Executive Section 3 of the
Employment Agreement; and (iii) pay Executive any earned benefits (including but not limited to accrued but unpaid or
unused PTO pay to which Executive is entitled as of the Separation Date) pursuant to the terms of any compensation or
benefit plans (the amounts in clauses (i) through (iii), collectively, the “ Accrued Payments ). Executive is entitled to the
Accrued Payments regardless of whether Executive signs this Agreement. The Parties agree that, as of the date of this
Agreement, Executive’ s accrued but unused PTO balance is 557. 93 hours (which equates to $ 98, 909. 83). (b)
Separation Benefits. If Executive: (i) signs this Agreement and allows the releases set forth in Section 6 to become
effective; (ii) complies with all of his legal and contractual obligations to the Company; and (iii) on the Separation Date,
signs and delivers the Separation Date Release attached as Exhibit A, then the Company will pay or provide Executive
with the following separation benefits (collectively, the “ Separation Benefits ”): (i) Separation Pay. The Company shall
pay Executive a separation allowance in the aggregate amount of $ 1, 080, 409. 16 (which amount is equal to two (2)
times the sum of (x) Executive’ s base salary and (b) Executive annual bonus, in each case paid to Executive over the
immediately preceding twelve (12) months), which will be paid in equal installments in accordance with the Company’ s
normal payroll practices over a twenty- four (24) month period beginning immediately following the Separation Date.
(ii) 2024 Bonus. The Company shall pay Executive his annual incentive bonus for the 2024 calendar year in the amount
that Executive would have received had Executive continued in employment with the Company through the date of
payment of such 2024 annual incentive bonus (the “ 2024 Bonus ). The 2024 Bonus shall be paid at the same time
annual incentive bonuses are paid to the Company’ s executive team, but in no event later than March 15, 202S. (iii)
Outstanding Equity Awards. (1) With respect to each outstanding, unvested award of restricted stock held by Executive
immediately prior to the Separation Date that vests solely based on Executive’ s continued employment or service with
the Company (a “ Time- Based RSA ), the Company will credit Executive with twelve (12) months of vesting service
such that Executive will become immediately vested on the Separation Date in any shares of restricted stock covered by
a Time- Based RSA that would have vested had Executive remained in continuous employment or service with the
Company through the date that is twelve (12) months following the Separation Date. (2) Each outstanding, unvested
award of restricted stock held by Executive immediately prior to the Separation Date that is (A) not a Time- Based RSA
(each, a “ Performance- Based RSA ) and (B) subject to a performance period that will end on or before the date that is
twelve (12) months following the Separation Date, will not be forfeited on the Separation Date, but shall remain
outstanding for twelve (12) months following the Separation Date (the “ Run- Out Period ) and shall vest or be forfeited
during the Run- Out Period pursuant to the terms of such Performance- Based RSA as set forth in the applicable
Performance- Based RSA award agreement and plan document (but disregarding any required continuing employment
or service by Executive during the Run- Out Period). (3) Set forth on Exhibit B to this Agreement is a list, as of the date
of this Agreement, of Executive’ s outstanding and unvested Time- Based RSAs and Performance- Based RSAs. Except
as necessary to give effect to the terms described in this Section 3 (b) (iii), Executive’ s Time- Based RSAs and
Performance- Based RSAs shall continue to be governed by the terms of the applicable award agreements and the
applicable plan documents. (iv) COBRA. The Company shall pay Executive the amount (the “ COBRA Reimbursement
Amount ”) of $ 2, 216. 86 (as may be adjusted in accordance with this Section 3 (b) (iv)) per month for every month
during which Executive has COBRA continuation coverage in effect for himself and / or his family members, but for no
more than 12 months after the Separation Date (the “ COBRA Continuation Period ”). In accordance with Section 6 (c)
(iv) of the Employment Agreement, the COBRA Reimbursement Amount will be adjusted so that the Company monthly
pays to Executive during the COBRA Continuation Period the amount equal to the employer portion of the total
monthly premium cost for the “ Bronze Family Plan ” (or equivalent) tier of coverage under the Company’ s (or its
applicable Affiliate’ s) group health plan, including dental, vision and any other coverage that Executive participates in
as of the Separation Date. The COBRA Reimbursement Amount will be made directly to Executive semi- monthly
through the Company’ s regular payroll process. (v) Forwarding Information. For the ninety (90)- day period following
the Separation Date, the Company will provide persons who attempt to contact Executive at his Company email address
with Executive’ s post- termination contact information (as set forth in Section 14). 4. Consulting Agreement. If
Executive: (a) timely returns this fully signed Agreement to the Company and allows it to become effective; and (b) signs
and delivers the Separation Date Release, then the Company will enter into the Consulting Agreement with Executive
attached hereto as Exhibit C. S. Waiver of Additional Compensation or Benefits. Other than the compensation and
payments provided for in this Agreement, and any right or benefit provided upon termination under any outstanding
equity awards, Executive shall not be entitled to any other or additional compensation, benefits, vesting, payments or
grants under any agreement, benefit plan, severance plan or bonus or incentive program established by the Company
regardless of whether any such additional compensation, benefits, vesting, payments or grants are provided for in the
Employment Agreement. Executive agrees that the waiver and release in Section 6 below (and the Separation Date
Release) covers any claims Executive might have regarding Executive’ s compensation and any benefits Executive may



or may not have received during Executive’ s employment with the Company and any right or benefit provided upon
termination under any outstanding equity awards. 6. Release of Claims. (a) General Release. In exchange for the
consideration provided to Executive under this Agreement to which Executive would not otherwise be entitled, Executive
hereby generally and completely release the Company, and its affiliated, related, parent and subsidiary entities, and its
and their current and former directors, officers, employees, stockholders, partners, agents, attorneys, predecessors,
successors, insurers, affiliates, and assigns (collectively, the “ Released Parties ) from any and all claims, liabilities and
obligations, both known and unknown, that arise out of or are in any way related to events, acts, conduct, or omissions
occurring prior to or on the Effective Date (collectively, the “ Released Claims ”). (b) Scope of Release. The Released
Claims included, but are not limited to, (i) all claims arising out of or in any way related to Executive’ s employment with
the Company, or the termination of that employment; (ii) all claims related to Executive’ s compensation or benefits
from the Company, including salary, bonuses, commissions, vacation, paid time off, expense reimbursements, severance
pay, fringe benefits, stock, stock options, or any other ownership, equity, or profits interests in the Companys; (iii) all
claims for breach of contract, wrongful termination, and breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing;
(iv) all tort claims, including claims for fraud, defamation, emotional distress, and discharge in violation of public policy;
and (v) all federal, state, and local statutory claims, including claims for discrimination, harassment, retaliation,
attorneys’ fees, or other claims arising under the federal Civil Rights Act of 1964 (as amended), the federal Americans
with Disabilities Act of 1990, the federal Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967 (as amended) (the “ ADEA »),
Chapter 21 of the Texas Labor Code, the Texas Payday Law, or the Texas Labor Code. (c) ADEA Waiver. Executive
acknowledges that Executive is knowingly and voluntarily waiving and releasing any rights Executive may have under
the ADEA, and that the consideration given for the waiver and release in this Agreement is in addition to anything of
value to which Executive is already entitled. Executive further acknowledges that Executive has been advised, as
required by the ADEA, that: (i) Executive’ s waiver and release does not apply to any rights or claims that may arise
after the date that Executive signs this Agreement; (ii) Executive should consult with an attorney prior to signing this
Agreement (although Executive may choose voluntarily not to do so); (iii) Executive has twenty- one (21) days to
consider this Agreement (although Executive may choose voluntarily to sign it earlier); (iv) Executive has seven (7) days
following the date Executive signs this Agreement to revoke Executive’ s acceptance (by providing written notice of your
revocation to Michael Karicher — Chief People Officer); and (v) this Agreement will not be effective until the date upon
which the revocation period has expired unexercised, which will be the eighth day after Executive signs this Agreement
(“ Effective Date ). (d) Excluded Claims. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the following are not included in the Released
Claims (the “ Excluded Claims ”): (i) any rights or claims for indemnification Executive may have pursuant to any
written indemnification agreement with the Company to which Executive is a party or under applicable law; (ii) any
rights which are not waivable as a matter of law; (iii) any claims for the Accrued Payments or the Separation Benefits;
and (iv) any claims for breach of this Agreement. Executive hereby represents and warrants that, other than the
Excluded Claims, Executive is not aware of any claims Executive has or might have against any of the Released Parties
that are not included in the Released Claims. Executive understands that nothing in this Agreement limits Executive’ s
ability to file a charge or complaint with any Government Agency. While this Agreement does not limit Executive’ s right
to receive an award for information provided to the Securities and Exchange Commission, Executive understands and
agrees that, to the maximum extent permitted by law, Executive is otherwise waiving any and all rights Executive may
have to individual relief based on any claims that Executive has released and any rights Executive has waived by signing
this Agreement. (¢) Company Claims. The Company, on behalf of itself and its subsidiaries and affiliates, hereby
releases Executive and his heirs and successors from any and all claims, liabilities and obligations, both known and
unknown, that arise out of or are in any way related to events, acts, conduct, or omissions occurring prior to or on the
Effective Date. The Company represents that, as of the date of this Agreement, it is not aware of any claims against
Executive that are in any way related to events, acts, conduct, or omissions occurring prior to or on the date of this
Agreement. (f) Not An Admission of Wrongdoing. This release contained in this Section 6 shall not in any way be
construed as an admission by either Party of any acts of wrongdoing, violation of any statute, law or legal or contractual
right. 7. Return of Company Property. As soon as possible following the Separation Date, Executive shall, to the extent
not previously returned or delivered: (a) return all equipment, records, files, programs or other materials and properly
in Executive’ s possession which belongs to the Company or any of its affiliates, including, without limitation, all
computers, printers, laptops, personal data assistants, cell phones, credit cards, keys and access cards; and (b) deliver all
original and copies of confidential and proprietary information (as described in Section 8 of the Employment
Agreement) in Executive’ s possession and notes, materials, records, plans, technical data or other documents, files or
programs (whether stored in paper form, computer form, digital form, electronically or otherwise) in Executive’ s
possession that contain Proprietary Information. By signing this Agreement, Executive represents and warrants that
Executive has not retained and has or will timely return and deliver all the items described or referenced in subsections
(a) or (b) above; and, that should Executive later discover additional items described or referenced in subsections (a) or
(b) above, Executive will promptly notify the Company and return / deliver such items to the Company. Notwithstanding
anything in this Section 7 to the contrary, Executive shall retain and not be required to return Executive’ s home office
printer or his Microsoft Surface Pro computer. 8. Non- Disparagement. Executive agrees that Executive will not,
directly or indirectly, disclose, communicate, or publish any disparaging information concerning the Company or the
Released Parties, or cause others to disclose, communicate, or publish any disparaging information concerning the same.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the provisions of this Section shall not apply with respect to (i) any charge filed by
Executive with the EEOC or other comparable agency or in connection with any proceeding with respect to any claim



not released by this Agreement or (ii) any disclosure or communication that is made by or on behalf of Executive in
connection with the enforcement of any claim against, or defense of any claim by or on behalf of, the Company or any of
its affiliates. 9. Continuing Obligations. Executive reaffirms and understands his continuing obligations in the
Employment Agreement, including Sections 7, 8, 9, 10, and 11 (collectively, the “ Continuing Obligations ). Consistent
with Sullon 12 ol the Employment Agreement-Seeuﬂ&es—E*ehaﬂge—Aet—e-f—l-%* as—&meﬁe}ed—ln the event that any action

r-and provisions

arty ﬂAcut-heﬂzeé
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afe—eﬂ&t}ed—then—Ehe—he-}defs—ef—the—Gefn-meﬂ—Stoelexlmll be entitled to recover reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs 10.
Section 409A. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary , after-(a) if at the time of Executive’ s termination of
employment with the Company, Executive is a “ specified employee ” as defined in Section 409A of the Code and the
applicable guidance and regulations thereunder (collectively, “ Section 409A *), and the deferral of the commencement
of any payments or benefits otherwise payable hereunder as a result of such termination of employment is necessary in
order to prevent any accelerated or additional tax under Section 409A, then the Company will defer the commencement
of the payment of any such payments or benefits hereunder (without any reduction in such payments or benefits
ultimately paid or provided to Executive) until the first business day to occur following the date that is six (6) months
following Executive’ s termination of employment with the Company (or the earliest date as is permitted under Section
409A); and (b) if any other payments of money or other benefits due to Executive hereunder could cause the application
of an accelerated or additional tax under Section 409A, such payments or other benefits shall be deferred if deferral will
make such payment or other benefits compliant under Section 409A, or otherwise such payment or other benefits shall
be restructured, to the extent possible, in a manner, determined by the Company’ s Board of the Directors, that does not
cause such an accelerated or additional tax. In the event that payments under this Agreement are deferred pursuant to
this Section 10 in order to prevent any accelerated tax or additional tax under Section 409A, then such payments shall be
paid at the time specified under this Section 10 without any interest thereon. The Company shall consult with Executive
in good faith regarding the implementation of this Section 10; provided, that neither the Company ot-nor any of its
employees or representatives shall have any liability to Executive with respect thereto. Notwithstanding anything to the
contrary herein, to the extent required by Section 409A, a termination of employment shall not be deemed to have
occurred for purposes of any provision of this Agreement providing for the payment of amounts or benefits upon or
following a termination of employment unless such termination is also a “ separation from service ” within the meaning
of Section 409A and, for purposes of any such provision of this Agreement, references to a “ resignation, ” “ termination,
” “ termination of employment ” or like terms shall mean separation from service. For purposes of Section 409A, each
payment made under this Agreement shall be designated as a “ separate payment > within the meaning of the Section
409A. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, except to the extent any expense, reimbursement or in- kind
benefit provided pursuant to this Agreement does not constitute a “ deferral of compensation ” within the meaning of
Section 409A, (i) the amount of expenses eligible for reimbursement or in- kind benefits provided to Executive during
any calendar year will not affect the amount of expenses eligible for reimbursement or in- kind benefits provided to
Executive in any other calendar year, (ii) the reimbursements for expenses for which Executive is entitled to be
reimbursed shall be made on or before the last day of the calendar year following the calendar year in which the
applicable expense is incurred, and (iii) the right to payment or reimbursement or in- kind benefits hereunder may not
be liquidated or exchanged for any other benefit. 11. Binding Effect. This Agreement shall be binding upon the Company
and upon Executive and Executive’ s heirs, administrators, representatives, executors, successors and assigns and the
Company’ s representatives, successors and assigns. In the event of Executive’ s death, this Agreement shall operate in
favor of Executive’ s estate and all debts-payments, obligations and tiabitities-consideration will continue to be performed
in favor of Executive’ s estate. 12. Severability. Should any provision of this Release be declared ot or determined
eompany;-to reeetve-be illegal or invalid by any government agency or court of competent jurisdiction, the validity of the
remaining assets-efparts, terms our—- or eompany-avaitable-provisions of this Release shall not be affected and such
provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 13. Entire Agreement. Except for distribution—Other—- the Continuing
Obligations, this Agreement sets forth the entire agreement between the Parties, and fully supersedes any and all prior



agreements, understandings, or representations between the Parties pertaining to Executive’ s employment with the

Company, the subject Matters— matter of this Agreement —Our-Commen-Stoekearries-no-preemptive-or any other term
subseriptionrights-to-purehase-shares-efour—- or stoek-condition of the employment relationship between the Company and

Executive. Executive represents and acknowledges that in executing this Agreement, Executive does not rely, and has not
relied, upon any representation (s) by the Company or its agents except as expressly contained in this Agreement or the
Employment Agreement. Executive and the Company agree that they have each used their own judgment in entering
into this Agreement. 14. Notices. All notices and other communications hereunder will be in writing. Any notice or other
communication hereunder shall be deemed duly given if it is delivered personally or sent by email (provided, however, if
the sender receives an automatically generated notification that such email was not eenvertibte-delivered , redeemable-or
assessable-or-entitted-such attempted email notice shall be ineffective and deemed to not have been given) or by registered
or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, and addressed to the intended recipient as set forth: If to
Executive: David R. Brickman 7434 Baxtershire Drive Dallas, TX 75230 E- Mail: nbrickman @ sbcglobal. net If to the
Company: Sonida Senior Living, Inc. 14755 Preston Road Suite 810 Dallas, TX 75254 Attention: Michael Karicher —
Chief People Officer E- Mail: mkaricher @ sonidaliving. com Any Party may change the address to which notices and
the-other communications are to be delivered by g1v1ng the other Party notice. 15 Wlthholdlng of Taxes The Company
may withhold from any benefits payable ef-any d .
and-trades-under this Agreement all Federal the-ti
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diseonrage-executed in counterparts, each of whlch when executed and delivered (whlch deliveries may be by facsimile or
make-other electronic method of delivery) shall be deemed an original and all of which together shall constitute one and
the same instrument. 18. No Ass1gnment of Clalms Executlve represents and agrees that Executlve has not transferred

9 e e-that-any clalm 1nvolv1ng the Company,
aeﬁen—reqtrrred—e%perﬁntted—te—be—ta-keﬂ—byeuﬁ or steeldie}ders—n&ust—be—takeﬁ—&t—&n—any anntal-portion thereof or speetat
meeting-of stoekholders;-and-interest therein. 19. No Waiver. This Agreement may not be taker-waived, modified,
amended, supplemented, canceled or discharged, except by written agreement of the Parties. Failure to exercise and / or
delay in exercising any right, power or privilege in this Agreement shall not operate as a waiver. No waiver of any breach
of any provision shall be deemed to be a waiver of any preceding or succeeding breach of the same or any other
provision, nor shall any waiver be implied from any course of dealing between or among the Parties. [ Remainder of
page intentionally left blank | IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement on the day and year
first written above. By: Name: Brandon Ribar Title: President and Chief Executive Officer | ACKNOWLEDGE THAT
I HAVE CAREFULLY READ THE FOREGOING AGREEMENT, THAT I UNDERSTAND ALL OF ITS TERMS
AND THAT I AM RELEASING CLAIMS AND THAT I AM ENTERING INTO IT VOLUNTARILY. Name: David R.
Brickman Address: 7434 Baxtershire Drive Exhibit A: Separation Date Release Exhibit B: Equity Award Schedule
Exhibit C: Consulting Agreement [ Signature Page to Separation and Consulting Agreement | Exhibit A SEPARATION
DATE RELEASE In exchange for the Separation Benefits provided to me under the Separation and Consulting
Agreement to which this Separation Date Release is attached (the “ Separation Agreement ), which Separation Benefits
I would not otherwise be entitled to, I hereby generally and completely release the Company, and its affiliated, related,
parent and subsidiary entities, and its and their current and former directors, officers, employees, shareholders,
partners, agents, attorneys, predecessors, successors, insurers, affiliates, and assigns (collectively, the “ Released Parties
”) from any and all claims, liabilities and obligations, both known and unknown, that arise out of or are in any way
related to events, acts, conduct, or omissions occurring prior to or on the date I sign this Agreement (collectively, the
Released Claims ”). The Released Claims include, but are not limited to: (a) all claims arising out of or in any way
related to my employment with the Company, or the termination of that employment; (b) all claims related to my
compensation or benefits from the Company, including salary, bonuses, commissions, vacation, paid time off, expense
reimbursements, severance pay, fringe benefits, stock, stock options, or any other ownership, equity, or profits interests
in the Companys; (c) all claims for breach of contract, wrongful termination, and breach of the implied covenant of good
faith and fair dealing; (d) all tort claims, including claims for fraud, defamation, emotional distress, and discharge in



violation of public policy; and (e) all federal, state, and local statutory claims, including claims for discrimination,
harassment, retaliation, attorneys’ fees, or other claims arising under the federal Civil Rights Act of 1964 (as amended),
the federal Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, the federal Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967 (as
amended) (the “ ADEA ), Chapter 21 of the Texas Labor Code, the Texas Payday Law, or the Texas Labor Code. I
acknowledge that I am knowingly and voluntarily waiving and releasing any rights I may have under the ADEA and
that the consideration given for this waiver and release is in addition to anything of value to which I am already entitled.
I further acknowledge that I have been advised, as required by the ADEA, that: (a) my waiver and release do not apply
to any rights or claims that may arise after the date that I sign this Agreement; (b) I should consult with an attorney
prior to signing this Separation Date Release (although I may choose voluntarily not to do so); (c) I have twenty- one (21)
days to consider this Separation Date Release (although I may choose voluntarily to sign it earlier); (d) I have seven (7)
days following the date I sign this Separation Date Release to revoke my acceptance (by providing written notice of my
revocation); and (d) this release will not be effective until the date upon which the revocation period has expired
unexercised, which will be the eighth day after I sign this Separation Date Release. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the
following are not included in the Released Claims (the “ Excluded Claims ”): (a) any rights or claims for indemnification
I may have pursuant to any written indemnification agreement with the Company to which I am a party or under
applicable law; (b) any rights which are not waivable as a matter of law; (c) any claims for the Accrued Payments or the
Separation Benefits (each as defined in the Separation Agreement); and (d) any claims for breach of the Separation
Agreement. I hereby represent and warrant that, other than the Excluded Claims, I am not aware of any claims I have
or might have against any of the Released Parties that are not included in the Released Claims. I understand that nothing
in this Separation Date Release limits my ability to file a charge or complaint with any Government Agency. While this
Separation Date Release does not limit my right to receive an award for information provided to the Securities and
Exchange Commission, I understand and agree that, to maximum extent permitted by law, I am otherwise waiving any
and all rights I may have to [ Separation Date Release | individual relief based on any claims that I have released and
any rights I have waived by signing this Separation Date Release. I hereby represent that, subject to any Accrued
Payments or Separation Benefits (each as defined in the Separation Agreement) payable to me under the Separation
Agreement, I have been paid all compensation owed and for all hours worked, have received all the leave and leave
benefits and protections for which I am eligible, pursuant to the Family and Medical Leave Act or otherwise, and have
not suffered any on- the- job injury for which I have not already filed a claim. By its signature below, the Company, on
behalf of itself and its subsidiaries and affiliates, hereby (a) releases me and my heirs and successors from any and all
claims, liabilities and obligations, both known and unknown, that arise out of or are in any way related to events, acts,
conduct, or omissions occurring prior to or on the date the Company signs this Separation Date and (b) represents that,
as of the date the Company signs this Separation Date Release, it is not aware of any claims against me that are in any
way related to events, acts, conduct, or omissions occurring prior to or on such date. By: David R. Brickman Date: By:
Name: Title: EQUITY AWARD SCHEDULE Restricted Stock Award Grant DateTime- Based RSA orPerformance
Based RSANo. of Outstanding Unvested Shares of Restricted StockOutstanding as of October 22, 2024Treatment of
Unvested Shares of Restricted Stock on Separation Date pursuant to Section 3 (b) (iii) of Agreement (assuming 12 /31 /
2024 Separation Date) 4 /5 /2024Time Based RSA12, 562Vest 4, 145 Shares4 /5 /2023Time Based RSA2, 720Vest 1, 346
Shares4 /5 /2022Time Based RSA1, 367Vest 1, 367 Shares4 / 5/ 2024Performance Based RSA12, 562Forfeit4 /5 /
2023Performance Based RSA9, S20Forfeit4 / S / 2022PerformanceBased RSA6, 033Determined once cycle completes1 /
26 /2023Special One- Time Grant19, 300Forfeitl11 / 15/ 2021Special One- Time Grant25, 700Forfeit [ Exhibit B to
Separation and Consulting Agreement- Equity Award Schedule | Exhibit C CONSULTING AGREEMENT Effective
Date: January 1, 2025 This Consulting Agreement (the “ Agreement ) is made as of the Effective Date set forth above by
and between Sonida Senior Living, Inc. (the “ Company ) and David R. Brickman (* Consultant ). 1. Engagement of
Services. Subject to the terms of this Agreement, Consultant will to be available to provide such consulting services (the
Services ) as reasonably requested from to time by the Company’ s Chief Executive Officer; provided, however, that
Consultant shall not be required to dedicate more than twenty (20) hours per month performing the Services. Consultant
will be free of control and direction from the Company (other than general oversight and control over the results of the
Services), and will have exclusive control over the manner and means of performing the Services, including the choice of
place and time. Consultant will provide, at Consultant’ s own expense, a place of work and all equipment, tools and
other materials necessary to complete the Services; however, to the extent necessary to facilitate performance of the
Services, the Company may, in its discretion, make certain of its equipment or facilities available to Consultant at
Consultant’ s request. While on the Company’ s premises, Consultant agrees to comply with the Company’ s the-then -
current access rules and procedures, including those related to safety, security and confidentiality. 2. Compensation. The
Company will pay Consultant the amount of $ 20, 000. 00 per month (the “ Monthly Consulting Fee ) during the term
of this Agreement. The Monthly Consulting Fee will be paid after the end of each calendar month during the Term
promptly following the Company’ s receipt from Consultant of a written statement (the “ Monthly Statement ) of (a)
the number of hours performed by Consultant under this Agreement during the applicable calendar month, (b)
Consultant’ s affirmation that he has complied with his obligations under this Agreement, and (¢) Consultant’ s
affirmation that Consultant has not received compensation as an employee or for non- Company consulting services for
the applicable calendar month (or, if Consultant received compensation an employee or for non- Company consulting
services, a statement of the amount of compensation so received and identity of the employer or service- recipient).
Consultant will be reimbursed only for expenses that have been approved in advance in writing by the Company,
provided Consultant has furnished such documentation for authorized expenses as the Company may reasonably



request. 3. Ownership of Work Product. Consultant hereby irrevocably assigns to the Company all right, title and
interest worldwide in and to any deliverables in connection with the Services and to any ideas, concepts, processes,
discoveries, developments, formulae, information, materials, improvements, designs, artwork, content, software
programs, other works of authorship, and any other work product created, conceived or developed by Consultant
(whether alone or jointly with others) for the Company during the term of this Agreement, including all copyrights,
patents, trademarks, trade secrets, and other intellectual property rights therein (including all rights to priority and
rights to file patent applications and / or registered designs) (collectively, the “ Work Product ). Consultant retains no
rights to use the Work Product and agrees not to challenge the validity of the Company’ s ownership of, or intellectual
property rights in, the Work Product. Consultant agrees to execute, at the Company’ s request and expense, all
documents and other instruments necessary or desirable to confirm such assignment. Consultant hereby irrevocably
appoints the Company as Consultant’ s attorney- in- fact for the purpose of executing such documents on Consultant’ s
behalf, which appointment is coupled with an interest. 4. Other Rights. If Consultant has any rights, including without
limitation “ artist’ s rights ” or “ moral rights, ” in the Work Product that cannot be assigned, Consultant hereby
unconditionally and irrevocably [ Exhibit C to Separation and Consulting Agreement- Consulting Agreement | grants to
the Company an exclusive (even as to Consultant), worldwide, fully paid and royalty- free, irrevocable, perpetual license,
with rights to sublicense through multiple tiers of sublicensees, to use, reproduce, distribute, create derivative works of,
publicly perform and publicly display the Work Product in any medium or format, whether now known or later
developed. 5. Representations and Warranties. Consultant represents and warrants that: (a) the Services will be
performed in a professional manner and (b) Consultant will comply with all applicable federal, state, local and foreign
laws governing self- employed individuals. 6. Indemnification. The Company agrees indemnify, defend, and hold
Consultant harmless from any claims made against Consultant by any person or entity not party to this Agreement
related to any of the Services provided by Consultant under this Agreement, except for any claims made against
Consultant for gross negligence or intentional tortious conduct. Company further represents and warrants that as a
prior Company officer and director, Consultant is covered under the Company’ s current D & O policy pursuant to the
terms of such policy. 7. Independent Contractor Relationship. Consultant’ s relationship with the Company is that of an
independent contractor, and nothing in this Agreement is intended to, or should be construed to, create a partnership,
agency, joint venture or employment relationship between the Company and Consultant. Consultant is not authorized to
make any representation, contract or commitment on behalf of the Company. Consultant will not be entitled to any of
the benefits that the Company may make available to its employees, including, but not limited to, group health or life
insurance, profit- sharing or retirement benefits. Because Consultant is an independent contractor, the Company will
not withhold or make payments for social security, make unemployment insurance or disability insurance contributions,
or obtain workers’ compensation insurance on behalf of Consultant. Consultant is solely responsible for, and will file, on
a timely basis, all tax returns and payments required to be filed with, or made to, any federal, state or local tax authority
with respect to the performance of Services and receipt of fees under this Agreement. Consultant is solely responsible
for, and must maintain adequate records of, expenses incurred in the course of performing Services under this
Agreement. No part of Consultant’ s compensation will be subject to withholding by the Company for the payment of
any social security, federal, state or any other employee payroll taxes. The Company will regularly report amounts paid
to Consultant by filing Form 1099- NEC with the Internal Revenue Service as required by law. 8. Confidential
Information. During the term of this Agreement and thereafter Consultant will not divulge or communicate to any
person or entity, or use to the detriment of the Company or its affiliates or for the benefit of any other person or entity,
or make or remove any copies of, the Company’ s confidential information or proprietary data or information, whether
or not marked or otherwise identified as confidential or secret. Upon any termination of this Agreement for any reason
whatsoever, Consultant shall surrender to the Company any and all materials, including but not limited to drawings,
manuals, reports, documents, lists, photographs, maps, surveys, plans, specifications, accountings and any and all other
materials relating to the Company, its affiliates or any of its or their business, including all copies thereof, that
Consultant has in his possession, whether or not such material was created or compiled by Consultant, but excluding,
however, personal memorabilia belonging to Consultant. With the exception of such excluded items, materials, etc.,
Consultant acknowledges that all such material is solely the property of the Company or its affiliates, and that
Consultant has no right, title or interest in or to such materials. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in
this Section 7, the provisions of this Section 7 shall not apply to information which: (a) is or becomes generally available
to the public other than as a result of improper disclosure by Consultant, or (c) is already known to Consultant as of the
date of this Agreement from sources other than the Company or its affiliates, (c) is required to be disclosed by law or by
regulatory or judicial process, or (d) is used or disclosed by or on behalf of Consultant in connection with the
enforcement of any claim against, or defense of any claim by or on behalf of, the Company or any of its affiliates.
Consultant acknowledges that an individual shall not be held criminally or civilly liable under any federal or state trade
secret law for the disclosure of a trade secret that — (A) is made (x) in confidence to a federal, state, or local government
official, either directly or indirectly, or to an attorney; and (y) solely for the purpose of reporting or investigating a
suspected violation of law; or (B) is made in a complaint or other document filed in a lawsuit or other proceeding, if such
filing is made under seal. 9. Term and Termination. (a) Term. The initial term of this Agreement is for six (6) months
from the Effective Date set forth above (the “ Term ”) and, thereafter, the Term may be extended by mutual written
agreement between the Company and Consultant. (b) Early Termination. Without waiving any other rights or remedies
and notwithstanding anything contrary in Section 8 (a), the Company may terminate this Agreement (i) immediately
upon Consultant’ s material breach of any legal or contractual obligation to the Company, (ii) at any time upon written



notice to Consultant following the date that Consultant commences employment with, or performs consulting services
for, any entity other than the Company (and Consultant shall promptly notify the Company of such employment or
consulting engagement if Consultant commences employment with, or commences performance consulting services for,
any entity other than the Company during the Term), or (iii) for Cause (as defined below). Further, this Agreement will
terminate immediately upon Consultant’ s death. For purposes of this Agreement, “ Cause ” means: (i) Consultant’ s
failure or refusal perform his reasonably assigned duties hereunder to the reasonable satisfaction of the Chief Executive
Officer, provided the Chief Executive Officer has provided Consultant written notice of such unsatisfactory performance
and given Consultant a reasonable opportunity to cure such unsatisfactory performance; (ii) Consultant’ s willful
engagement in dishonesty, illegal conduct or gross misconduct, which is, in each case, materially injurious to the
Company; (iii) Consultant’ s embezzlement, misappropriation or fraud in connection with the performance of
Consultant’ s duties hereunder; or (iv) Consultant’ s conviction of or plea of guilty or nolo contendere to a crime that
constitutes a felony (or state law equivalent) or a crime that constitutes a misdemeanor involving moral turpitude. (c)
Payments upon Termination. Upon termination of this Agreement, the Company will pay only those consulting fees and
expenses incurred through and including the effective date of such termination. 10. Survival. The rights and obligations
contained in Sections 3 (“ Ownership of Work Product ), 5 (“ Representations and Warranties ), and 8 (“ Confidential
Information ”) will survive any termination or expiration of this Agreement. 11. No Conflicts. Consultant will refrain
from any activity, and will not enter into any agreement or make any commitment, that is inconsistent or incompatible
with Consultant’ s obligations under this Agreement, including Consultant’ s ability to perform the Services. Consultant
represents and warrants that Consultant is not subject to any contract or duty that would be breached by Consultant’ s
entering into or performing Consultant’ s obligations under this Agreement or that is otherwise inconsistent with this
Agreement. 12. Successors and Assigns. Consultant may not subcontract or otherwise delegate or assign this Agreement
or any of its obligations under this Agreement without the Company’ s prior . Any attempted assignment
in violation of the foregoing will be null and void. Subject to the foregoing, this Agreement will be for the benefit of the
Company’ s successors and assigns, and will be binding on Consultant’ s assignees. 13. Notices. Any notice required ot
or stoekholders-permitted by this Agreement will be in writing and will be delivered as follows with notice deemed given
as indicated: (i) by personal delivery when delivered personally; (ii) by overnight courier upon written verification of
receipt; (iii) by email (provided , however, if the sender receives an automatically generated notification that such email
was not delivered, such attempted email notice shall be ineffective and deemed to not have been given); or (iv) by
certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, upon verification of receipt. Notice will be sent to the addresses set
forth below or such other address as either party may specify in writing. If to Consultant: 14. Governing Law. This
Agreement will be governed in all respects by the laws of the United States of America and by the laws of the State of
Texas, without giving effect to any conflicts of laws principles that require the application of the law of a different
jurisdiction. 15. Severability. Should any provisions of this Agreement be held by a court of law to be illegal, invalid or
unenforceable, the legality, validity and enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Agreement will not be affected
or impaired thereby. 16. Waiver. The waiver by the Company of a breach of any provision of this Agreement by
Consultant will not operate or be construed as a waiver of any other or subsequent breach by Consultant. 17. Entire
Agreement. This Agreement (together with the Separation and Consulting Agreement between the Company and
Consultant) constitutes the entire agreement between the parties relating to this subject matter and supersedes all prior
or contemporaneous oral or written agreements concerning such subject matter. The terms of this Agreement will
govern all services undertaken by Consultant for the Company. This Agreement may only be changed or amended by
mutual agreement of authorized representatives of the parties in writing. This Agreement may be executed in
counterparts, each of which when executed and delivered (which deliveries may be by facsimile or other electronic
method of delivery) shall be deemed an original and all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
The parties have executed this Consulting Agreement as of the Effective Date. COMPANY: By: Name: Title:
CONSULTANT: Execution Version AMENDED AND RESTATED EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
THIS AMENDED AND RESTATED EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (this “ Agreement ”) is made as of
December 17, 2024 (the “ Effective Date ), by and between Sonida Senior Living, Inc., a Delaware Corporation (the “
Company ), and Brandon Ribar (“ Executive ”). WHEREAS, Executive is currently employed as the Company’ s
President and Chief Executive Officer under the terms of that certain Employment Agreement dated September 10,
2019, by and between Executive and the Company, as amended by that certain Amendment to Employment Agreement
dated August 2, 2022 (the “ Prior Employment Agreement ’); and WHEREAS, Executive and the Company wish to
amend and restate the Prior Employment Agreement and to provide for Executive’ s continuing employment with the
Company on the terms and conditions described herein. NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants
contained herein and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby
acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows: 1. Employment. The Company agrees to continue to employ
Executive on an at- will basis on the terms and conditions described herein. Executive’ s employment under this
Agreement will begin on the Effective Date and continue until terminated pursuant to the termination provisions
contained in Section 6 herein (the “ Employment Period ). 2. Position (s) and Duties. (a) Position (s); Reporting. During
the Employment Period, Executive will continue to serve as President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company (“
CEQO ”), and he will report to the Board of Directors of the Company (the “ Board ). Executive will have and perform
the customary duties, responsibilities, functions and authority associated with the role of CEO as may be reasonably
specified from time to time by the Board to the extent typical of and consistent with such titles and positions. (b) Service
on the Board and with Subsidiaries. Executive currently serves as a member of the Board and will continue that service



following the Effective Date without additional compensation. The Board will nominate Executive for reelection to the
Board at the expiration of each term of office, and Executive agrees to serve as a member of the Board for each period
for which he is so elected. Executive shall, subject to his election as such from time to time and without additional
compensation, serve during the Employment Period in such additional offices in the Company’ s subsidiaries and as
member of any committee of the Board or of the board of directors of any of the Company’ s or its affiliates to which
Executive may be appointed or elected from time to time. (c) Best Efforts; Exclusivity. During the Employment Period,
Executive shall devote his best efforts and full business time and attention to the business and affairs of the Company.
Executive shall perform his duties, responsibilities and functions for the Company hereunder to the best of his abilities in
a diligent, trustworthy, professional and efficient manner and shall comply with applicable policies and procedures. In
performing his duties and exercising his authority under this Agreement, Executive shall support and implement the
business and strategic plans approved from time to time by the Board. During the Employment Period, Executive shall
have no other employment Docusign Envelope ID: 83A040C4- SBAA- 463A- 9EE1- 6BFF714844D2 2 and, without the
prior written consent of the Board, no outside business activities or other activities that conflict with his obligations to
the Company. The Company acknowledges that Executive may engage in personal legal and financial affairs and serve
as a board member of other entities, businesses and enterprises, up to and not to exceed two (2) boards, provided that
such activities do not materially interfere with the performance of Executive’ s duties and responsibilities hereunder and
are consented to in writing by the Board. (d) Compliance with Policies. The employment relationship between the parties
shall be subject to the Company’ s policies and procedures as they may be reasonably interpreted, adopted, revised or
deleted from time to time in the Company’ s sole discretion. Executive will abide by all policies of the Company, as in
effect from time to time. In the event of a conflict between the terms of this Agreement and any such policy or procedure,
the terms of this Agreement will control. 3. Salary, Bonus and Benefits. During the Employment Period: (a) Base Salary.
The Company shall pay to Executive a base salary (the “ Base Salary ”) at a rate of not less than $ 474, 778 per annum ($
550, 000 per annum beginning January 1, 2025), paid pursuant to the Company’ s normal payroll policies in
approximately equal installments no less frequently than semi- monthly. (b) Annual Bonus. Executive will be eligible for
an annual bonus (the “ Annual Bonus ). The Annual Bonus shall be targeted at (i) seventy- five percent (75 %) of the
Base Salary for the 2024 fiscal year and (ii) eighty- five percent (85 %) of the Base Salary for the 2025 fiscal year and
subsequent fiscal years (as applicable, the “ Target Bonus ”); provided, that the actual Annual Bonus shall be based on
performance and may exceed the Target Bonus. Executive’ s Target Bonus will be reviewed annually and may be
increased but not decreased from time to time in the Board’ s (or the Compensation Committee of the Board) sole
discretion. Annual incentive payments will be based on achievement against goals established for the senior executive
officer group (including Executive) by the Board. Except as stated herein, Executive must be actively employed by the
Company on the bonus pay- out date in order to be eligible for an Annual Bonus in any given year. Any Annual Bonus
payable with respect to any fiscal year pursuant to this Section shall be payable by March 15 following the end of such
fiscal year. Except as stated herein, Executive will not be eligible to earn a prorated Annual Bonus based on a partial
year of service or quantum meruit theories. The Company shall deduct from Executive’ s compensation, including Base
Salary and Annual Bonus all applicable local, state, Federal or foreign taxes, including, but not limited to, income tax,
withholding tax, social security tax and pension contributions (if any), and required deductions. (c) Benefits. Executive
shall be eligible to participate in all health, retirement, Company- paid insurance, disability, expense reimbursement and
other benefit programs, if any, which the Company makes available, in its sole discretion, to its senior executives;
however, nothing herein shall be construed to obligate the Company to establish or maintain any benefit program. The
Company may purchase and maintain in force a death and disability insurance policy in an amount at all times equal to
not less than an amount equal to Executive’ s annual Base Salary. The Company shall be the beneficiary of said policy.
Reimbursement of Executive’ s reasonable and necessary business expenses incurred in the pursuit of the business of the
Company or any of its affiliates shall be made to Executive upon his presentation to the Company of itemized bills,
vouchers or accountings prepared in Docusign Envelope ID: 83A040C4- SBAA- 463A- 9EE1- 6BFF714844D2 3
conformance with applicable regulations of the Internal Revenue Service and the policies and guidelines of the
Company. (d) Vacation. Executive will be eligible for the Director and above PTO program (the “ PTO Program ”).
Under the PTO Program, Executive shall have access to PTO time that is not accrued or tracked. As a professional in
the workplace, it is understood that Executive will manage his time appropriately and take time off as needed for
personal reasons. The Company reserves the right to amend or terminate the PTO Program at any time. 4. Annual
Equity Awards. Executive shall be eligible to be granted equity awards under the Company’ s annual equity incentive
award program in effect for other senior executives of the Company. The terms and conditions of such equity awards
(including, without limitation, the form of award (s), the number of shares covered by such awards, the vesting schedule,
performance conditions, restrictive provisions, etc.) shall be determined by the Compensation Committee of the Board in
its sole discretion. S. Certain Terms Defined. For purposes of this Agreement: (a) Executive shall be deemed to be “
Disabled ” if a physical or mental condition shall occur and persist which, in the written opinion of two (2) licensed
physicians, has rendered Executive unable to perform his assigned duties for a period of ninety (90) calendar days or
more, and which condition, in the opinion of such physicians, is likely to continue for an indefinite period of time,
rendering Executive unable to return to his duties for the Company. One (1) of the two (2) physicians shall be selected in
good faith by the Company, and the other of the two (2) physicians shall be selected in good faith by Executive. In the
event that the two (2) physicians selected do not agree as to whether Executive is disabled, as described above, then said
two (2) physicians shall mutually agree upon a third (3rd) physician whose written opinion as to Executive’ s condition
shall be conclusive upon the Company and Executive for purposes of this Agreement. (b) A termination of Executive’ s



employment by the Company shall be deemed to be “ for Cause ” if Executive has (i) been indicted for any felony, or
convicted of a misdemeanor involving personal dishonesty, (ii) committed an act of disloyalty pertaining to Executive’ s
fiduciary duties to the Company or its affiliates, including but not limited to embezzlement, misuse or diversion of funds,
(iii) committed a willful breach of any material employment policy of the Company, including, but not limited to,
conduct relating to falsification of business records, violation of the Company’ s code of business conduct and ethics,
harassment, creation of a hostile work environment, excessive absenteeism, insubordination, violation of the Company’ s
policy on drug and alcohol use, or violent acts or threats of violence, (iv) materially breached a covenant, representation,
warranty or obligation of Executive under this Agreement, (v) materially failed to perform his job duties, or failed to
follow or comply with the lawful and reasonable directives of the Board, in the case of this subsection (v) after Executive
shall have been informed, in writing, of such performance issues and given a period of thirty (30) days to remedy the
same, to the extent curable. “ Cause ” shall not include or be predicated upon any act or omission by Executive which is
taken or made either (x) at the direction of the Board; (y) pursuant to the good faith reliance of the advice of the
Company’ s legal counsel pertaining to the implementation or effectuating of any Company policy; or (z) to comply with
a lawful court order, directive from a federal, state or local government agency or industry regulatory authority, or
subpoena. Docusign Envelope ID: 83A040C4- SBAA- 463A- 9EE1- 6BFF714844D2 4 (c) A resignation by Executive shall
not be deemed to be voluntary, and shall be deemed to be a resignation for “ Good Reason ” if it is based upon (i) a
material diminution in Executive’ s Base Salary, (ii) a material diminution in or other substantial adverse alteration in
(A) the nature or scope of Executive’ s responsibilities with Company or (B) the reporting lines between Executive and
the Board, (iii) the Company requiring Executive to be based at a location in excess of fifty (50) miles from the location of
the Company’ s principal executive office as of the effective date of this Agreement, except for required travel on
Company business; or (iv) a material breach by the Company of the Company’ s obligations to Executive under this
Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Executive shall not have the right to terminate the Executive’ s employment
hereunder for Good Reason unless (A) within sixty (60) days of the initial existence of the condition or conditions giving
rise to such right, Executive provides written notice to the Company of the existence of such condition or conditions, and
(B) the Company fails to remedy such condition or conditions within thirty (30) days following the receipt of such written
notice. If any such condition is not remedied within such thirty (30)- day period, Executive may provide a notice of his
resignation for Good Reason within five (5) business days thereafter. (d) “ Change in Control ” shall mean (i) the
consummation of a merger, consolidation, statutory share exchange or sale, lease, exchange or other transfer (in one
transaction or a series of related transactions) of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company that requires the
consent is-unantmets—Inadditionour— or Certifieate-vote of the holders of the Common Stock, other than a consolidation,
merger or share exchange of the Company in which the holders of the Common Stock immediately prior to such
transaction have the same proportionate ownership of common stock of the surviving fneerperatiorr—- corporation and
Bytaws-immediately after such transaction ( provide-provided that speetatmeetings-of stoekholders-may-, subjeetfor the
avoidance of doubt, a Change in Control shall only be deemed to occur upon the consummation of such merger,
consolidation, statutory share exchange or sale, lease, exchange or the-other rights-efholders-of-asset transfer and not
upon any series-shareholder approval related to such event); (ii) the shareholders of preferred-stoek-and-untess-otherwise
preseribed-the Company approve any plan or proposal for the liquidation or dissolution of the Company; (iii) the
cessatlon 0f control ( by v1rtue sfatufe—be—ea—l-}ed-eﬂ-l-y—by—etﬂhB-e&fd-ol Dﬁeefer-s—t-he-thelr not constltutlng Gha-rfmaﬁ—&ﬁeﬁf

Bﬁws—&peﬂ—the—a-fﬁfma&ve—vefe—e-ﬁa{—}ewt—d ma]m ity of Dlrectors) of the W%e}e—Bo‘u d 0f Dlrectors of the Company —euf
elkholders-may-also-adop or-repe aws-by the afftirmative-individuals (the “ Continuing Directors ) who

(x) on the Effectlve Date were Directors, or (y) become Directors after the Effective Date and whose election or
nomination for election by the Company’ s shareholders was approved by a vote efthe-hetders-of at least two- thirds of the
Directors then in office who were Directors on the Effective Date or whose election or nomination for election was
previously so approved; (iv) the acquisition of beneficial ownership (within the meaning of Rule 13d- 3 under the

Exchange Act) of an aggregate 0f 20 % Or more 0f the \ otmu pm\ er of eﬂﬁtssued—&ﬂd-eﬁst&ﬂ&mgﬁemrgﬂfeek—elass%ﬁeé

securltles by any person stoe g t tnatt i P
group (as such term is used in Rule 13d 5 under three-- the ye&fs—aftefbeeemmg—Exchange Act) who beneﬁclally owned
less than 15 % of the voting power of the Company’ s outstanding voting securities on the Effective Date, or the



acquisition of beneficial ownership of an additional 5 % interestedstoekholderuntess:=the-board-of direetors-of-the voting
power of eefpef&mﬂ—had-pfeﬁeﬁsﬂ—&ppfeved—etﬂeer— Company s outstandmg votlng securities by bttsrness—eembm&&eﬁ

he-stoe g A ekt ha or group who beneﬁclally 8515
power of the Company s outstandlng voting securltles on the Effective Date; provided, however, that
notwithstanding the foregoing, an acquisition shall not be described hereunder if the acquirer is (x) a trustee or other
fiduciary holding securities under an employee benefit plan of the Company and acting in such capacity, (y) a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company or a corporation owned, directly or indirectly, by the shareholders of the Company in
the same proportions as their ownership of voting securities of the Company, or (z) any other person whose acquisition
of shares of voting securities is approved in advance by a majority of the Continuing Directors; or (v) in a Title 11
bankruptcy Docusign Envelope ID: 83A040C4- SBAA- 463A- 9EE1- 6BFF714844D2 5 proceeding, the appointment of a
trustee or the conversion of a case involving the Company to a case under Chapter 7. (e) “ Common Stock ” shall mean
the common , par value $ 0. 01 per share, of the Company. (f) “ Exchange Act ” shall mean the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended. (g) “ Performance- Based Equity Award ” means any equity or equity- based award (including,
without limitation, any award of restricted shares or stock options) granted to Executive under the terms of any
Company equity incentive plan or program that is not a Time- Based Equity Award or a Shareholder Alignment Award.
(h) “ Shareholder Alignment Award ” means each of (i) the award of 76, 450 shares of performance- based restricted
stock granted to Executive on January 26, 2023, and (ii) the award of 38, 550 shares of performance- based restricted
stock granted to Executive on November 15, 2021. (i) “ Time- Based Equity Award ” means any equity or equity- based
award (including, without limitation, any award of restricted shares or stock options) granted to Executive under the
terms of any Company equity incentive plan or program that vests solely based on Executive’ s continued employment
or service with the Company. 6. Certain Benefits and Obligations Upon Termination. The employment of the Executive
hereunder may be terminated by the Company at any time, subject to the Company providing the compensation and
benefits in accordance with the terms of this Section 6. (a) Termination Due To Death Or Disability. In the event of the
Executive’ s death, Executive’ s employment shall automatically cease and terminate as of the date of death. If Executive
becomes Disabled, the Company may terminate Executive’ s employment upon thirty (30) days written notice to
Executive. In the event of the termination of employment due to Executive’ s death or Disability, Executive or his estate
or legal representatives shall be entitled to receive the following amounts within thirty (30) days of Executive’ s death or
the expiration of the thirty (30)- day notice period in the event of Executive’ s Disability, as applicable (unless otherwise
specifically noted herein): (i) payment for all accrued but unpaid Base Salary as of the date of Executive’ s termination of
employment; (ii) reimbursement for expenses incurred by the Executive pursuant to Sections 3 hereof up to and
including the date on which employment is terminated; (iii) any earned benefits to which the Executive may be entitled
as of the date of termination pursuant to the terms of any compensation or benefit plans to the extent permitted by such
plans; (with the payments described in subsections (i) through this subsection (iii) collectively called the “ Accrued
Payments ”); and (iv) any unpaid annual incentive bonuses, including, without limitation, the Annual Bonus described in
Section 3 (b), for any completed full fiscal year immediately preceding the employment termination date. Docusign
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time, by providing written notice to Executive setting forth in reasonable detail the facts that are the basis therefor,
terminate Executive’ s employment for Cause. In the event of the termination of Executive’ s employment hereunder by
the Company for Cause, the-then Executive shall be entitled to receive payment of the Accrued Payments within thirty
(30) days after such termination. (¢) Termination without Cause or for Good Reason. The Company may terminate
Executive’ s employment hereunder without Cause at any time, by providing Executive thirty (30) days’ prior written
notice of such termination. Such notice shall specify the effective date of the termination of Executive’ s employment. The
Executive may terminate his employment for Good Reason by providing thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to the
Company pursuant to Section S (c). In the event of the termination of Executive’ s employment under this Section 6 (c)
without Cause or by the Executive for Good Reason, in each case prior to or more than twelve (12) months following a
Change in Control, then Executive shall be entitled to payment of the Executive’ s Accrued Payments within thirty (30)
days after such termination and, subject to the Executive’ s compliance with Section 6 (g), the payments and benefits
described below: (i) a separation allowance, payable in equal installments in accordance with normal payroll practices
over an eighteen (18) month period beginning immediately following the date of termination, equal to one and one half
(1. 5) times the sum of (x) Executive’ s then Base Salary and (y) the Executive’ s then Target Bonus; (ii) any annual
incentive bonuses earned but not yet paid for any completed full fiscal year immediately preceding the employment
termination date, due and payable in lump sum within seventy- five (75) days after the termination date; (iii) if
employment termination occurs prior to the end of any fiscal year, a pro rata annual incentive bonus for such fiscal year
in which employment termination occurs (based on actual business days in such fiscal year prior to such employment
termination, divided by the total annual business days in such fiscal year) determined and paid based on actual
performance achieved for such fiscal year against the performance goals for that fiscal year no later than March 15 of
the fiscal year following the fiscal year in which Executive’ s termination occurred; (iv) the Company shall arrange for
the Executive to continue to participate (through COBRA or otherwise), on substantially the same terms and conditions
as in effect for the Executive (including any required contribution) immediately prior to such termination, in the medical,
dental, disability and life insurance programs provided to the Executive pursuant to Section 3 (c) hereof until the earlier
of (i) the end of the 18 month period beginning on the effective date of the termination of Executive’ s employment
hereunder, or (ii) such time as the Executive is eligible to be covered by comparable benefit (s) of a subsequent employer.



The foregoing of this Section 6 (c) (iv) is referred to as “ Benefits Continuation ”. The Executive agrees to notify the
Company promptly if and when he begins employment with another employer and if and when he becomes eligible to
participate in any welfare plans, programs or arrangements of another employer; Docusign Envelope ID: 83A040C4-
SBAA- 463A- 9EE1- 6BFF714844D2 7 (v) upon the sixtieth (60th) day following the date on which Executive’ s
employment pursuant to this Agreement is terminated (the “ Termination Date ), a eerperation--- portion of each

at-and unvested Time- Based Equity Award held by Executive on the Termination Date shall vest, which
portion shall be the portion of such Time- Based Equity Award that would have vested per terms of the applicable Time-
Based Equity Award as of the one- year anniversary of the Termination Date had Executive remained continuously
employed by Company through such date; (vi) each outstanding and unvested Performance- Based Equity Award held
by Executive on the Termination Date for which the performance period is scheduled to end on or before the date that is
twelve (12) months following the Termination Date shall remain outstanding until the end of such performance period,
and a pro- rated portion thereof shall be eligible to vest based on actual performance for the performance period, with
such pro- rated portion determined as a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days that have elapsed
between the first day of the performance period applicable to such Performance- Based Equity Award and the
Termination Date and the denominator of which is the total number of days in the performance period applicable to such
Performance- Based Equity Award; and (vii) each outstanding and unvested Shareholder Alignment Award shall
remain outstanding and a pro- rated portion thereof shall vest if the applicable performance target is satisfied during the
performance period, with such pro- rated portion determined as a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of
days that have elapsed between the date of grant of the applicable Shareholder Alignment Award and the Termination
Date and the denominator of which is the number of days that have elapsed between the date of grant of the Shareholder
Alignment Award and the date the applicable performance target is satisfied or deemed satisfied pursuant to the terms
of the applicable Shareholder Alignment Award. (d) Termination of Employment without Cause or for Good Reason
following a Change in Control. If the Company terminates Executive’ s employment without Cause or Executive
terminates his employment for Good Reason in each case within 12 months following a Change in Control, the-then
Executive shall be entitled to payment of the Executive’ s Accrued Payments and, subject to the Executive’ s compliance
with Section 6 (g), the payments and benefits described below: (i) a lump sum separation allowance equal to two and one
half (2. 5) times the sum of (x) Executive’ s then Base Salary and (y) Executive’ s then Target Bonus, due and payable in
lump sum within seventy- five (75) days after such termination; (ii) any annual incentive bonuses earned but not yet paid
for any completed full fiscal year immediately preceding the employment termination date, due and payable in lump sum
within seventy- five (75) days after such termination; (iii) if employment termination occurs prior to the end of any fiscal
year, a pro rata annual incentive bonus for such fiscal year in which employment termination occurs (based on actual
business days in such fiscal year prior to such employment termination, divided by the total annual business days)
determined and paid based on actual performance achieved for such fiscal year against the performance goals for that
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year following the fiscal year in which Executive’ s termination occurred and (1v) Benefit Contlnuatlon untll the earher
of eighteen (18) months after termination of employment or such
as Executive is eligible to be covered by comparable benefit (s) of a subsequent pefS@ﬂS—W‘h@-&fe—&rfeeﬁ)fS—&fﬁi—a-lﬁe—e—fﬁeefS
and-shares-owned-in--employee-employer stoel-. The Executive agrees to notify the Company promptly if and when he
begins employment with another employer and if and when he becomes eligible to participate in any benefit or other
welfare inrwhichpartietpants-de-nethave-, programs or arrangements of another employer. (e) Voluntary
Termination by the Executive without Good Reason. In the event Executive terminates his employment without Good
Reason, the- he rightshall provide thirty (30) days’ prior written notice of such termination to determine-confidentiatly
yrhether-shares-held-subjeetto-the plan-Company. Upon such voluntary termination, the Executive tendered-entitled
to the Accrued Payments. (f) Resignation from all Boards and Other Offices. Upon any termination or cessation of
Executive’ s employment with the Company, for any reason, Executive agrees immediately to resign, and any notice of
termination or actual termination or cessation of employment shall act automatically to effect such resignation, from the
Board and all other offices and board (or similar governing body) memberships, if any, then held with the Company or
any of its affiliates. At the Company’ s request, Executive will execute such documents as are necessary or desirable to
effectuate such resignation. (g) Release of Claims as Condition. The Company’ s obligation to pay the separation
allowance and provide all other benefits and rights referred to in Section 6 (c) or (d) shall be conditioned upon the
Executive having delivered to the Company within sixty (60) days after the Termination Date (the “ Release Period ) an
executed full and unconditional release that is in substantially the same form as the “ Release and Waiver ” attached
hereto as Exhibit A and that Executive does not revoke within the Release Period, provided that if the Release Period
begins in one taxable year of the Executive and ends in another taxable year of the Executive, payments under Section 6
(c) or (d) shall not begin until the beginning of the second taxable year of the Executive. If Executive fails to satisfy the
requirements set forth in the immediately preceding sentence, the Executive shall forfeit his right to any separation
allowance and any other benefits and rights set forth under Section 6 (c) or (d) and the Company shall be relieved of any
obligation to pay the Executive any amounts or provide the Executive any benefits under Section 6 (c) or (d) other than
the Accrued Payments. The foregoing notwithstanding, the Benefits Continuation shall be provided to Executive from
and after the Termination Date, but shall discontinue in the event that the Release and Waiver is not delivered within the
Release Period or if the Release and Waiver is revoked by Executive. (h) No Mitigation. In no event shall Executive be
obligated to seek other employment or take any other action by way of mitigation of the amounts payable to Executive
under any of the provisions of this Agreement, nor shall the amount of any payment hereunder be reduced by any




compensation earned by Executive as a tender-or-exchange-offer;-or=result of subsequent employment. (i) Board
Approval. Any determination required to be made by the busiess-eombinationts-Company or the Board in this Section 6

must be board-Board by ofdireetors-ofthe-eerporationand-- an holders-affirmative vote of atteastno less
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7. Confidentiality. Executive hereby acknowledges his understanding that as a result of his employment by the
Company, in order to assist Executive with his duties, the Company and its affiliates will provide Executive with, and
Executive will develop on behalf of the Company and its affiliates, valuable and important confidential or proprietary
data, documents and information concerning the Company and its affiliates, their operations and their future plans.
Executive hereby agrees that the— he will not, either during the term of his employment with the Company, or at any
time after the term of his employment with the Company, divulge or communicate to any person or entity, or direct any
Executive or agent of the Company or its affiliates or of his to divulge or communicate to any person or entity, or use to
the detriment of the Company or its affiliates or for the benefit of any other person or entity, or make or remove any
copies of, such confidential information or proprietary data or information, whether or not marked or otherwise
identified as confidential or secret. Upon any termination of this Agreement for any reason whatsoever, Executive shall
surrender to the Company any and all materials, including but not limited to drawings, manuals, reports, documents,
lists, photographs, maps, surveys, plans, specifications, accountings and any and all other materials relating to the
Company, its affiliates or any of its or their business, including all copies thereof, that Executive has in his possession,
whether or not such material was created or compiled by Executive, but excluding, however, personal memorabilia
belonging to Executive. With the exception of such excluded items, materials, etc., Executive acknowledges that all such
material is solely the property of the Company or its affiliates, and that Executive has no right, title or interest in or to
such materials. outstanding— Notwithstanding vetingsteek-anything to the contrary set forth in this Section 8, the
provisions of this Section 8 shall not apply to information which: (i) is or becomes generally available to the public other
than as a result of improper disclosure by Executive, or (ii) is already known to Executive as of the date of this
Agreement from sources other than the Company or its affiliates, (iii) is required to be disclosed by law or by regulatory
or judicial process, or (iv) is used or disclosed by or on behalf of Executive in connection with the enforcement of any
claim against, or defense of any claim by or on behalf of, the Company or any of its affiliates. Executive acknowledges
that an individual shall not be held criminally or civilly liable under any federal or state trade secret law for the
disclosure of a trade secret that- (A) is made (x) in confidence to a federal, state, or local government official, either
directly or indirectly, or to an attorney; and (y) solely for the purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation
of law; or (B) is made in a complaint or other document filed in a lawsuit or other proceeding, if such filing is made
under seal. 8. Non- Competition. In order to protect the Company’ s and its affiliates’ confidential information and good
will, Executive agrees that for a period of eighteen (18) months after any termination for any reason whatsoever of
Executive’ s employment, Executive will not, directly or indirectly, commence doing business, in any manner whatsoever
in competition with all or any portion of the business of the Company or its affiliates in any state in which the
Company or its affiliates then operates, owns, or is in the process of developing more than three (3) facilities. the
Company hereby acknowledges and agrees that Executive’ s ownership of a class of securities listed on a stock exchange
or traded on the over- the- counter market that represents five percent (5 %) or less of the number of shares of such class
of securities then issued and outstanding shall not ewned-constitute a violation of this Section 8. 9. Work Product. The
Executive agrees that all innovations, improvements, developments, methods, designs, analyses, reports and all similar
or related information which relates to the Company’ s or any of its affiliates’ actual or anticipated business, or existing
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conceived, developed or made interested-stoekholder-Executive while employed by the Company (“ Work Product
) belong to the Company or such affiliate Executive will promptly disclose such Work Product to the Board and
perform all actions reasonably requested by the Board (whether during or after the Employment Period) to establish
and to confirm such ownership (including, without limitation, assignments, consents, powers of attorney and other
instruments). 10. Non- Solicitation of Employees and Consultants. During the Employment Period and for a period of
twenty- four (24) months after the termination, the Executive will not directly or indirectly through any other person or
entity (a) induce or attempt to induce any employee or independent contractor of the Company to leave the employ or
service, as applicable, of the Company, or in any way interfere with the relationship between the Company, on the one
hand, and any employee or independent contractor thereof, on the other hand, or (b) hire any person who was an
employee of the Company, in each case, until six (6) months after such individual’ s employment relationship with the
Company has been terminated; provided, however, that clause (a) shall not restrict general soliciting activity not
specifically targeted at the Company or its subsidiaries (including the placement of general advertisements in trade
media and the engagement of search firms that are not instructed to target the Company or its subsidiaries); provided,
however, that the foregoing provision shall not allow the hiring of such persons. 11. Non- Solicitation of Customers.
During the period of employment and for a period of twenty- four (24) months after the termination or Expiration date,
the Executive will not directly or indirectly through any other person or entity influence or attempt to influence
customers, vendors, suppliers, licensors, lessors, joint ventures, ceding companies, associates, consultants, agents, or
partners of the Company to divert their business away from the Company, and the Executive will not otherwise interfere
with, disrupt or attempt to disrupt the business relationships, contractual or otherwise, between the Company, on the
one hand, and any of its or their customers, suppliers, vendors, lessors, licensors, joint venturers, associates, officers,
executives, consultants, managers, partners, members or investors, on the other hand. 12. Legal Action. (a) In the event
that any action or proceeding is brought to enforce the terms and provisions of this Agreement, the prevailing party shall



be entitled to recover reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs. In the event of a breach or threatened breach by Executive of
the provisions of Sections 7, 8, 9, 10, or 11, Executive and the Company agree that the Company shall, in addition to any
other available remedies, be entitled to an injunction restraining Executive from violating the terms of the applicable
Section and that said injunction is appropriate and proper relief for such violation. Moreover, in addition for the
Executive to be required to repay the Company any of the payments received pursuant to the terms of Section 6 herein,
the Executive will be required to account for and pay over to the Company all compensation, profits, moneys, accruals,
increments or other benefits derived from or received as a result of any transactions constituting a breach of these
Sections 7, 8, 9, 10, or 11, if and when final judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction is so entered against the
Executive. (b) Executive represents to the Company that the enforcement of the restrictions contained in Sections 7, 8, 9,
10, or 11 would not be unduly burdensome to Executive. Further, during Docusign Envelope ID: 83A040C4- SBAA-
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provisions shall be extended for an amount of time that Executive is in breach thereof. (c) The representations and
covenants contained in Sections 7, 8, 9, 10, and 11 on the part of Executive will be construed as ancillary to and
independent of any other provision of this Agreement, and the existence of any claim or cause of action of Executive
against the Company or any member, owner, employee, director, manager, officer or affiliate of the Company, whether
predicated on this Agreement or otherwise, shall not constitute a defense to the enforcement by the Company of the
covenants of Executive contained in Sections 7, 8, 9, 10, and 11. In addition, the provisions of Sections 7, 8, 9, 10, and 11
shall continue to be binding upon Executive in accordance with their terms, notwithstanding the termination of
Executive’ s employment hereunder for any reason. (d) The parties to this Agreement agree that the limitations
contained in Sections 7, 8, 9, 10, and 11 are reasonable. However, if any court shall determine that any restriction
contained in Sections 7, 8, 9, 10, and 11 is unenforceable, it is the intention of the parties that such restriction set forth
herein shall not thereby be terminated but shall be deemed amended to the extent required to render it valid and
enforceable and the parties expressly authorize any court to so amend this Agreement. 13. Cooperation. During
Executive’ s employment and for a period of two (2) years thereafter, Executive shall, upon reasonable notice, and at
reasonably mutually convenient times that do not unduly interfere with any future employment or business activity of
Executive, furnish such information and proper assistance to the Company as may reasonably be required by the
Company in connection with any legal proceeding in which the Company or any of its affiliates is, or may become, a
party. The Company shall reimburse Executive for all reasonable out- of- pocket expenses, including reasonable
attorneys’ fees and expenses, incurred by Executive in rendering such assistance no later than thirty (30) business days
after submission by Executive of an invoice. The provisions of this Section 13 shall continue in effect notwithstanding
termination of Executive’ s employment hereunder for any reason. 14. Protected Rights. Executive understands that
nothing contained in this Agreement limits Executive’ s ability to communicate with any government agencies or
otherwise participate in any investigation or proceeding that may be conducted by any government agency, including
providing documents or other information. This Agreement does not limit Executive’ s right to receive an award for
information provided to any government agencies. 15. Notices. All notices and other communications provided to either
party hereto under this Agreement shall be in writing and delivered by hand delivery, overnight courier service or
certified mail, return receipt requested, to the party being notified at said party’ s address set forth adjacent to said
party’ s signature on this Agreement, or at such other address as may be designated by a party in a notice to the other
party given in accordance with this Agreement. Notices given by hand delivery or overnight courier service shall be
deemed received on the date of delivery shown on the courier’ s delivery receipt or log. Notices given by certified mail
shall be deemed received three (3) days after deposit in the U. S. Mail. 16. Construction. In construing this Agreement, if
any portion of this Agreement shall be found to be invalid or unenforceable, the remaining terms and provisions of this
Agreement shall be given effect to the maximum extent permitted without considering the void, invalid or unenforceable
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singular shall include the plural, the masculine shall include the feminine and neuter genders, as appropriate, and no
meaning or effect shall be given to the captions of the paragraphs in this Agreement, which are inserted for convenience
of reference only. 17. Choice of Law; Survival. This Agreement shall be governed and construed in accordance with the
internal laws of the State of Texas without resort to choice of law principles. The provisions of Sections 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11,
12, 13, 14 and 18 shall survive the termination of this Agreement for any reason whatsoever. 18. Jurisdiction. (i) In any
suit, action or proceeding seeking to enforce any provision of this Agreement or for purposes of resolving any dispute
arising out of or related to this Agreement, the Company and the Executive each hereby irrevocably consents to the
exclusive jurisdiction of any federal court located in the State of Texas, Dallas County, or any of the state courts of the
State of Texas located in Dallas County; (ii) the Company and the Executive each hereby waives, to the fullest extent
permitted by applicable law, any objection which it or he may now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any such
suit, action or proceeding in any such court or that any such suit, action or proceeding brought in any such court has
been brought in an inconvenient forum; (iii) process in any such suit, action or proceeding may be served on either party
anywhere in the world, whether within or without the jurisdiction of such court, and, without limiting the foregoing, each
of the Company and the Executive irrevocably agrees that service of process on such party, in the same manner as
provided for notices in Section 15 deseription-, shall be deemed effective service of process on such party in any
such suit; action or proceeding; and (iv) WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL: EACH OF THE COMP ANY AND THE
EXECUTIVE HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVE ANY AND ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL
PROCEEDINGS ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS
CONTEMPLATED BY THIS AGREEMENT; and (v) Limitation on Damages: the parties agree that there will be no



punitive damages payable as a result of or in connection with any claim, matter or breach under or related to this
Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and each of the parties agrees not to request punitive
damages. Notwithstanding the foregoing of this 263, each of the parties agrees that prior to commencing any
claims for breach of this Agreement (except to pursue injunctive relief) to submit, for a period of sixty (60) days, to
voluntary mediation before a jointly selected neutral third party mediator under the auspices of JAMS, Dallas, Texas,
Resolutions Center (or any successor location), pursuant to the procedures of JAMS Mediation Rules conducted in the
State of Texas (however, such mediation or obligation to mediate shall not suspend or otherwise delay any termination or
the-other Delaware-General-Corporationaw-action of the Company or affect the Company’ s other rights). 19.
Integration; Amendments. This is an integrated Agreement that amends, supersedes and replaces the Prior Employment
Agreement in its entirety. This Agreement constitutes and summary-final expression and a complete and
exclusive statement of the understanding and agreement of the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter of this
Agreement. All negotiations, discussions and writings between the parties hereto relating to the subject matter of this
Agreement are merged into this Agreement, and there are no rights conferred, nor promises, agreements, conditions,
undertakings, warranties or representations, oral or written, expressed or implied, between the undersigned parties as to
such matters other than as specifically set forth herein. No amendment or modification of or addendum to, this
Agreement shall be valid unless the same shall be in writing and Docusign Envelope ID: 83A040C4- SBAA- 463A- 9EE1-
6BFF714844D2 13 signed by the parties hereto. No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be valid unless
in writing and signed by the party against whom it is sought to be enforced. 20. Binding Effect. This Agreement is
binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective heirs, personal representatives,
successors and assigns; provided, however, that Executive shall not be entitled to assign his interest in this Agreement
(except for an assignment by operation of law to his estate), or any portion hereof, or any rights hereunder, to any party.
Any attempted assignment by Executive in violation of this Section 20 shall be null, void, ab initio and of no effect of any
kind or nature whatsoever. 21. Waiver. Any term or condition of this Agreement may be waived at any time by the party
hereto which is entitled to have the benefit thereof, but such waiver shall be effective if evidenced by a writing
signed by such party, and a waiver on one occasion shall not be deemed to be a waiver of the same or any other type of
breach on a future occasion. No failure or delay by a party hereto in exercising any right or power hereunder shall
operate as a waiver thereof nor shall any single or partial exercise thereof preclude any other or further exercise thereof
or the exercise of any other right or power. 22. Taxes. (a) All payments to be made to and on behalf of the Executive
under this Agreement will be subject to required withholding of federal, employment and excise taxes, and to related
reporting requirements. (b) Limitation on Parachute Payments. In the event that the payment and other benefits
provided for in this Agreement or otherwise payable to Executive (i) constitute “ parachute payments ” within the
meaning of Section 280G of the Code and (ii) but for this Section 11 (b), would be subject to the excise tax imposed by
Section 4999 of the Code, then Executive’ s payments and benefits will be either: (i) delivered in full, or (ii) delivered as
to such lesser extent which would result in no portion of such severance benefits being subject to excise tax under Section
4999 of the Code, whichever of the foregoing amounts, taking into account the applicable federal, state and local income
taxes and the excise tax imposed by Section 4999, results in the receipt by Executive on and-- an after- tax basis, of the
greatest amount of severance benefits, notwithstanding that all or some portion of such severance benefits may be
taxable under Section 4999 of the Code. If a reduction in severance and other payments and benefits constituting
parachute payments ” is gualified-necessary so that benefits are delivered to a lesser extent, reduction will occur in the
following order: (i) reduction of cash payments; (ii) cancellation of awards granted “ contingent on a change in
ownership or control ” (within the meaning of Code Section 280G), (iii) cancellation of accelerated vesting of equity
awards, and (iv) reduction of employee benefits. Within any such category of payments and benefits (that is, (i), (ii), (iii)
or (iv)), a reduction shall occur first with respect to amounts that are not Deferred Payments and then with respect to
amounts that are. In the event that acceleration of vesting of equity award compensation is to be reduced, such
acceleration of vesting will be cancelled in the reverse order of the date of grant of Executive’ s equity awards. Docusign
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will be made in writing by the Company’ s independent public accountants engaged by the Company for general audit
purposes immediately prior to the Change in Control (the “ Accountants ), whose good faith determination will be
conclusive and binding upon Executive and the Company for all purposes. If the independent registered public
accounting firm so engaged by the Company is serving as accountant or auditor for the individual, entity or group
effecting the Change in Control, or if such firm otherwise cannot perform the calculations, the Company shall appoint a
nationally recognized independent registered public accounting firm to make the determinations required hereunder.
For purposes of making the calculations required by this Section 22 (b), the Accountants may make reasonable
assumptions and approximations concerning applicable taxes and may rely on reasonable, good faith interpretations
concerning the application of Sections 280G and 4999 of the Code. The Company and Executive will furnish to the
Accountants such information and documents as the Accountants may reasonably request in order to make a
determination under this Section. The Company will bear all costs the Accountants may reasonably incur in connection
with any calculations contemplated by this section. 23. 409A. This Agreement is intended to provide payments that are
exempt from and / or that comply with the provisions of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended
(the “ Code ”) and related regulations and Treasury pronouncements (“ Section 409A ”), and this Agreement shall be
interpreted accordingly (it being understood that the payment of any reimbursement hereunder shall be made in a
manner exempt from, or in compliance with, Section 409A). If any provision of this Agreement would cause Executive to
incur any additional tax under Section 409A, this Agreement shall be deemed amended to reform, and / or the parties



hereto will in good faith attempt to reform, the provision in a manner that maintains, to the extent possible, the original
intent of the applicable provision without violating the provisions of Section 409A. For purposes of Section 409A, each
payment made under this Agreement shall be designated as a “ separate payment > within the meaning of the Section
409A. All references herein to Executive’ s “ termination of employment ” or other similar term shall refer to Executive’
s “ separation from service ” within the meaning of Section 409A and Treas. Reg. Section 1. 409A- 1 (h). Notwithstanding
anything herein to the contrary, if on the date of Executive’ s separation from service Executive is a “ specified employee,
” as defined in Section 409A, then any portion of any payments, benefits or other consideration under this Agreement
that are determined to be subject to the additional tax provided by Section 409A (a) (1) (B) of the Code if not delayed as
required by Section 409A (a) (2) (B) (i) of the Code shall be delayed until the first (1st) business day of the seventh (7th)
month following Executive’ s separation from service date (or, if earlier, Executive’ s date of death), and the total of such
delayed amounts shall be paid as a lump sum on such date. For purposes of clarification, any portion of any separation
allowance or other payment due to Executive under this Agreement that is not considered deferred compensation under
Section 409A through either the “ short- term deferral ” exception pursuant to Treasury Reg. 1. 409A- 1 (b) (4) or the “
separation pay ” exception pursuant to Treasury Reg. 1. 409A- 1 (b) (9) will not be subject to the 6 month delay described
in this paragraph as provided under Section 409A. With respect to any expense, reimbursement or in- kind benefit
provided pursuant to this Agreement that constitutes a “ deferral of compensation ” within the meaning of Section 409A,
(i) the expenses eligible for reimbursement or in- kind benefits provided to Executive must be incurred during the
Employment Period (or applicable survival period), (ii) the amount of expenses eligible for Docusign Envelope ID:
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calendar year will not affect the amount of expenses eligible for reimbursement or in- kind benefits provided to
Executive in any other calendar year, (iii) the reimbursements for expenses for which Executive is entitled to be
reimbursed shall be made on or before the last day of the calendar year following the calendar year in which the
applicable expense is incurred, and (iv) the right to payment or reimbursement or in- kind benefits hereunder may not
be liquidated or exchanged for any other benefit. Executive acknowledges and agrees that Executive has obtained no
advice from the Company or any of its entirety-affiliates, or any of their respective officers, directors, employees,
subsidiaries, affiliates, agents, attorneys or other representatives, and that none of such persons or entities have made
any representation regarding the tax consequences, if any, of Executive’ s receipt of the payments, benefits and other
consideration provided for in this Agreement. Executive further acknowledges and agrees that Executive is personally
responsible for the payment of all federal, state and local taxes that are due, or may be due, for any payments and other
consideration received by Executive under this Agreement. Executive agrees to hold the Company harmless for any and
all taxes, penalties or other assessments that Executive is, or may become, obligated to pay on account of any payments
made and other consideration provided to Executive under this Agreement. [ Signature page follows. | Docusign
Envelope ID: 83A040C4- SBAA- 463A- 9EE1- 6BFF714844D2 [ Signature Page to Amended and Restated Executive
Employment Agreement | IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement on the date set forth
above in the preamble of this Agreement. SONIDA SENIOR LIVING, INC. A Delaware Corporation Address: 14755
Preston Road, Suite 810 Dallas, TX 75254 By: Name: David R. Brickman
Its: Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary EXECUTIVE By:

Brandon Ribar Address: 105 Harvard Drive Southlake, TX 76092 Docusign
Envelope ID: 83A040C4- SBAA- 463A- 9EE1- 6BFF714844D2 A- 1 EXHIBIT A- RELEASE AND WAIVER This
Release and Waiver (this “ Release ”) is entered into by Sonida Senior Living, Inc., a Delaware Corporation (the «
Company ), and Brandon Ribar (“ Executive ”) as of the date this Release is signed by Executive. The Company and
Executive are referred to as the “ Parties. ” This Release cancels and supersedes all prior agreements relating to
Executive’ s employment with the Company except as provided in this Release. WHEREAS, the Company and Executive
entered into an Amended and Restated Employment Agreement as of December 17, 2024 (the “ Employment Agreement
). This Release is entered into by and between Executive and the Company, pursuant to the Employment Agreement;
WHEREAS, because of Executive’ s employment as an Executive of the Company, Executive has obtained intimate and
unique knowledge of all aspects of the Company’ s business operations, current and future plans, financial plans and
other confidential and proprietary information; WHEREAS, Executive’ s employment, with the Company and all other
positions, if any, held by Executive in the Company or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates, including officer positions,
terminated effective as of [ DATE | (the “ Separation Date ”); and WHEREAS, except as otherwise provided herein, the
Parties desire to finally, fully and completely resolve all disputes that now or may exist between them, including, but not
limited to those concerning the Employment Agreement (except for the post- termination obligations contained in the
Employment Agreement), Executive’ s job performance and activities while employed by the Company and Executive’ s
hiring, employment and separation from the Company, and all disputes over benefits and compensation connected with
such employment; NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and mutual covenants and agreements
hereinafter set forth, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby
acknowledged, the Parties hereto agree as follows: 1. Termination of Executive’ s Employment. Executive’ s employment
with the Company terminated on the Separation Date. 2. Certain Payments and Benefits. (a) Accrued Obligations. In
accordance with the Company’ s customary payroll practices, the Company shall pay Executive the Accrued Payments
(as defined in the Employment Agreement), including, without limitation, all unpaid salary, unreimbursed business
expenses, and any accrued but unused vacation through the Separation Date (“ Accrued Obligations ). (b) Separation
Benefits. Subject to Executive’ s consent to and fulfillment of Executive’ s obligations in this Release and Executive’ s
post- termination obligations in the Employment Agreement, and provided that Executive does not revoke this Release,




the Company shall pay Executive the amount of $ [ AMOUNT ] pursuant to Section 6 of the Employment Agreement,
Docusign Envelope ID: 83A040C4- SBAA- 463A- 9EE1- 6BFF714844D2 A- 2 minus normal payroll withholdings and
taxes (“ Separation Benefit ), payable as provided in the Employment Agreement. (¢) Waiver of Additional
Compensation or Benefits. Other than the compensation and payments provided for in this Release, the post-
termination benefits provided for in the Employment Agreement (including Section 6 of the Employment Agreement)
and any right or benefit provided upon termination under any outstanding equity awards, Executive shall not be
entitled to any additional compensation, benefits, payments or grants under any agreement, benefit plan, severance plan
or bonus or incentive program established by the Company. Executive agrees that the waiver and release in Section 3
below covers any claims Executive might have regarding Executive’ s compensation and any benefits Executive may or
may not have received during Executive’ s employment with the Company, other than the post- termination benefits
provided for in the Employment Agreement (including Section 6 of the Employment Agreement) and any right or benefit
provided upon termination under any outstanding equity awards. 3. General Release and Waiver. (i) In consideration of
the payments and other consideration provided for in this Release, that being good and valuable consideration, the
receipt, adequacy and sufficiency of which are acknowledged by Executive, Executive, on Executive’ s own behalf and on
behalf of Executive’ s agents, administrators, representatives, executors, successors, heirs, devisees and assigns
(collectively, the “ Releasing Parties ) hereby fully releases, remises, acquits and forever discharges the Company, and
all of its affiliates, and each of their respective past, present and future officers, directors, shareholders, equity holders,
members, partners, agents, employees, consultants, independent contractors, attorneys, advisers, successors and assigns
(collectively, the “ Released Parties ), jointly and severally, from any and all claims, rights, demands, debts, obligations,
losses, causes of action, suits, controversies, setoffs, affirmative defenses, counterclaims, third party actions, damages,
penalties, costs, expenses, attorneys’ fees, and liabilities of any kind or nature whatsoever (collectively, the “ Claims ),
whether known or unknown, suspected or unsuspected, accrued or unaccrued, whether at law, equity, administrative,
statutory or otherwise, and whether for injunctive relief, back pay, fringe benefits, reinstatement, reemployment, or
compensatory, punitive or any other kind of damages, which any of the Releasing Parties ever have had in the past or
presently have against the Released Parties, and each of them, arising from or relating to Executive’ s employment with
the Company or its affiliates or the termination of that employment or any circumstances related thereto, or (except as
otherwise provided below) any other matter, cause or thing whatsoever, including without limitation all claims arising
under or relating to employment, employment contracts, employee benefits or purported employment discrimination or
violations of civil rights of whatever kind or nature, including without limitation all claims arising under the Age
Discrimination in Employment Act (“ ADEA”’), the Americans with Disabilities Act, as amended, the Family and
Medical Leave Act of 1993, the Equal Pay Act of 1963, the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, Title VII of the United States Civil
Rights Act of 1964, 42 U. S. C. § 1981, the Executive Retirement Income Security Act, the Civil Rights Act of 1991, the
Civil Rights Acts of 1866 and / or 1871, the Genetic Information Nondiscrimination Act, Chapter 21 of the Texas Labor
Code, the Texas Payday Law, the Texas Labor Code or any other applicable federal, state or local employment statute,
law or ordinance, including, without limitation, any disability claims under any such laws, claims for wrongful
discharge, claims arising under state law, Docusign Envelope ID: 83A040C4- SBAA- 463A- 9EE1- 6BFF714844D2 A- 3
contract claims including breach of express or implied contract, alleged tortious conduct, claims relating to alleged
fraud, breach of fiduciary duty or reliance, breach of implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, and any other
claims arising under state or federal law, as well as any expenses, costs or attorneys’ fees. Executive further agrees that
Executive will not file or permit to be filed on Executive’ s behalf any such claim. Notwithstanding the preceding
sentence or any other provision of this Release, this Release is not intended to interfere with Executive’ s right to file a
charge with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (the “ EEOC ”), or other governmental agency, in
connection with any claim Executive believes Executive may have against the Company or its affiliates. However, by
executing this Release, Executive hereby waives the right to recover in any proceeding Executive may bring before the
EEOC or any other governmental agency or in any proceeding brought by the EEOC or other governmental agency on
Executive’ s behalf. This Release shall not apply to any of the Company’ s obligations under this Release or post-
termination obligations under the Employment Agreement, including Section 6 thereof. Executive acknowledges that
certain of the payments and benefits provided for in Section 2 of this Release constitute good and valuable consideration
for the release contained in this Section 3. Anything to the contrary contained in this Release notwithstanding, nothing in
this Release shall release or adversely affect (i) rights to indemnification and advancement of expenses the Executive has
or may have under the bylaws or certificate of incorporation or other governing documents of the Company or any
subsidiary or affiliate of the Company or any separate indemnification or similar agreement, or as an insured under any
director’ s and officer’ s liability insurance policy now or previously in force; (ii) any matters which expressly survive the
execution of this Release as set forth in the Employment Agreement, the terms and conditions of which are incorporated
herein 5 (iii) vested rights under benefit plans, which rights shall be governed by the terms of such plans; or
(iv) rights granted to Executive related to or arising out of the purchase or ownership of equity of the Company and any
related award or similar agreement. 4. Return of Company Property. As soon as possible, Executive shall, to the extent
not previously returned or delivered: (a) return all equipment, records, files, programs or other materials and properly
in Executive’ s possession which belongs to the Company or any of its affiliates, including, without limitation, all
computers, printers, laptops, personal data assistants, cell phones, credit cards, keys and access cards; and (b) deliver all
original and copies of confidential and proprietary information (as described in 263-8 of the Employment
Agreement) in Executive’ s possession and notes, materials, records, plans, technical data or other documents, files or
programs (whether stored in paper form, computer form, digital form, electronically or otherwise) in Executive’ s



possession that contain Proprietary Information. By signing this Release, Executive represents and warrants that
Executive has not retained and has or will timely return and deliver all the items described or referenced in subsections
(a) or (b) above; and, that should Executive later discover additional items described or referenced in subsections (a) or
(b) above, Executive will promptly notify the Company and return / deliver such items to the Company. Docusign
Envelope ID: 83A040C4- SBAA- 463A- 9EE1- 6BFF714844D2 A- 4 S. Non- Disparagement. Executive agrees that
Executive will not, directly or indirectly, disclose, communicate, or publish any disparaging information concerning the
Company or the Released Parties, or cause others to disclose, communicate, or publish any disparaging information
concerning the same. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the provisions of this Section shall not apply with respect to (i) any
charge filed by Executive with the EEOC or other comparable agency or in connection with any proceeding with respect
to any claim not released by this Release or (ii) any disclosure or communication that is made by or on behalf of
Executive in connection with the enforcement of any claim against, or defense of any claim by or on behalf of, the
Company or any of its affiliates. 6. Protected Rights. Executive understands that nothing contained in this Release limits
Executive’ s ability to file a charge or complaint with the EEOC, the NLRB, OSHA, the SEC or any other federal, state
or local governmental agency or commission (“ Government Agencies ). Executive further understands that this Release
does not limit Executive’ s ability to communicate with any Government Agencies or otherwise participate in any
investigation or proceeding that may be conducted by any Government Agency, including providing documents or other
information, without notice to the Company. This Release does not limit Executive’ s right to receive an award for
information provided to any Government Agencies. 7. Not An Admission of Wrongdoing. This Release shall not in any
way be construed as an admission by either Party of any acts of wrongdoing, violation of any statute, law or legal or
contractual right. 8. Voluntary Execution of the Release. Executive and the Company represent and agree that the-they
Detaware-have had an opportunity to review all aspects of this Release, and that they fully understand all the provisions
of this Release and are voluntarily entering into this Release. Executive further represents that Executive has not
transferred or assigned to any person or entity any claim involving the Company or any portion thereof or interest
therein. 9. Continuing Obligations. Executive reaffirms and understands his continuing obligations in the Employment
Agreement, including Sections 7, 8, 9, 10, and 11. 10. Binding Effect. This Release shall be binding upon the Company
and upon Executive and Executive’ s heirs, administrators, representatives, executors, successors and assigns and the
Company’ s representatives, successors and assigns. In the event of Executive’ s death, this Release shall operate in favor
of Executive’ s estate and all payments, obligations and consideration will continue to be performed in favor of
Executive’ s estate. 11. Severability. Should any provision of this Release be declared or determined to be illegal or
invalid by any government agency or court of competent jurisdiction, the validity of the remaining parts, terms or
provisions of this Release shall not be affected and such provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 12. Entire
Agreement. Except for the post- termination obligations in the Employment Agreement, this Release sets forth the entire
agreement between the Parties, and fully supersedes any and all prior agreements, understandings, or representations
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Executive’ s employment with the Company, the subject matter of this Release or any other term or condition of the
employment relationship between the Company and Executive. Executive represents and acknowledges that in executing
this Release, Executive does not rely, and has not relied, upon any representation (s) by the Company or its agents except
as expressly contained in this Release or the Employment Agreement. Executive and the Company agree that they have
each used their own judgment in entering into this Release. 13. Consideration and Revocation Periods. Executive, by
Executive’ s free and voluntary act of signing below, (a) acknowledges that Executive has been given a period of twenty-
one (21) days to consider whether to agree to the terms contained herein, (b) acknowledges that Executive has been
advised to consult with an attorney prior to executing this Release, (c) acknowledges that Executive understands that
this Release specifically releases and waives all rights and claims Executive may have under the ADEA, prior to the date
on which Executive signs this Release, and (d) agrees to all of the terms of this Release and intends to be legally bound
thereby. The Parties acknowledge and agree that each Party has reviewed and negotiated the terms and provisions of
this Release and has contributed to its preparation (with advice of counsel). Accordingly, the rule of construction to the
effect that ambiguities are resolved against the drafting party shall not be employed in the interpretation of this Release.
Rather, the terms of this Release shall be construed fairly as to both Patties and not in favor of or against either Party,
regardless of which Party generally was responsible for the preparation of this Release. This Release will become
effective, enforceable and irrevocable on the eighth day after the date on which it is executed by Executive (the «
Effective Date ). During the seven- day period prior to the Effective Date, Executive may revoke Executive’ s agreement
to accept the terms hereof by giving notice to the Company of Executive’ s intention to revoke. If Executive exercises
Executive’ s right to revoke hereunder, Executive shall not be entitled, except as required by applicable wage payment
laws, including but not limited to the Accrued Obligations, to any payment hereunder until Executive executes and does
not revoke a comparable release of claims, and to the extent such payments or benefits have already been made,
Executive agrees that Executive will immediately reimburse the Company for the amounts of such payments and
benefits to which he is not entitled. 14. Notices. All notices and other communications hereunder will be in writing. Any
notice or other communication hereunder shall be deemed duly given if it is delivered personally or sent by registered or
certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, and addressed to the intended recipient as set forth: If to
Executive: [ EXECUTIVE | [ EXECUTIVE ADDRESS | [ CITY STATE ZIP | If to the Company: [ COMPANY | |
COMP ANY ADDRESS | [ CITY STATE ZIP | Docusign Envelope ID: 83A040C4- SBAA- 463A- 9EE1- 6BFF714844D2
A- 6 Attention: [ NAME | Any Party may change the address to which notices and other communications are to be
delivered by giving the other Party notice. 15. Governing Law. This Release shall be governed by the laws of the State of



Texas. 16. Counterparts. This Release may be executed in counterparts, each of which when executed and delivered
(which deliveries may be by facsimile or other electronic method of delivery) shall be deemed an original and all of which
together shall constitute one and the same instrument. 17. No Assignment of Claims. Executive represents and agrees
that Executive has not transferred or assigned, to any person or entity, any claim involving the Company, or any portion
thereof or interest therein. 18. No Waiver. This Release may not be waived, modified, amended, supplemented, canceled
or discharged, except by written agreement of the Parties. Failure to exercise and / or delay in exercising any right,
power or privilege in this Release shall not operate as a waiver. No waiver of any breach of any provision shall be
deemed to be a waiver of any preceding or succeeding breach of the same or any other provision, nor shall any waiver be
implied from any course of dealing between or among the Parties. Il ACKNOWLEDGE THAT I HAVE CAREFULLY
READ THE FOREGOING RELEASE, THAT I UNDERSTAND ALL OF ITS TERMS AND THAT I AM
RELEASING CLAIMS AND THAT I AM ENTERING INTO IT VOLUNTARILY. EXECUTIVE

Name: Brandon Ribar Address:

Date: Docusign Envelope ID: 83A040C4- SBAA-
463A- 9EE1- 6BFF714844D2 FORM PERFORMANCE AWARD UNDER THE 2019 OMNIBUS STOCK AND
INCENTIVE PLAN Effective as of ,202_ (“ Date of Grant ), a PERFORMANCE AWARD (“ Award )

was granted by Sonida Senior Living, Inc. (the “ Company ”) to [ NAME ] (the “ Holder ). This Performance Award is
in all respects subject to the terms, definitions and provisions, of the 2019 Omnibus Stock and Incentive Plan For Sonida
Senior Living, Inc. (the “ Plan ”), and all of which are incorporated herein by reference, except to the extent otherwise
expressly provided in this Award. 1. Performance Award. The Company hereby sells, transfers, assigns and delivers to
the Holder an aggregate of | | shares of the Company (“ Award Restricted Shares ) subject to the Plan and to
the terms and conditions set forth in this Award, including, without limitation, the Restrictions more specifically set
forth in Section 4 below (““ Restrictions ), and further subject to Holder' s execution of this Award agreement. 2. Vesting
of Award Restricted Shares. (a) The Award shall be one hundred percent (100 %) unvested as of the Date of Grant.
Except as otherwise provided in the Plan and this Award, the Award Restricted Shares shall vest and become non-
forfeitable (referred to hereafter as “ Vested Shares ) on the later of (i) the third (3rd) anniversary of the Date of Grant
(such date, the “ Scheduled Vesting Date ) or (ii) the date that the Committee certifies the performance results as
described on Schedule I attached hereto (the “ Performance Vesting Date ”), provided that the Holder remains in
continuous service with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries on the Scheduled Vesting Date or the Performance
Vesting Date, as applicable. The Holder shall be entitled to receive that number of Award Restricted Shares (if any)
equal to (x) the Payout Percentage (as defined on Schedule I) multiplied by (y) the Target Restricted Shares (as defined
on Schedule I). (b) Except as otherwise provided in this Section 2, in the event that the Holder’ s continuous service is
terminated by the Company or by the Holder for any reason, the Holder shall forfeit the unvested Award as of the
Holder’ s termination date. (c) In the event that the Holder’ s continuous service is terminated by the Company due to
the Holder’ s death or Disability (as defined in such Holder’ s employment agreement (or, if not defined therein, as
defined in the Plan)), the unvested Award shall immediately vest in the amount of the Target Restricted Shares. 3.
Change in Control. Immediately prior to a Change in Control, the Target Restricted Shares shall convert into time-
based Award Restricted Shares and the Award shall vest on the Scheduled Vesting Date (without regard to achievement
of any of the Performance Measures set forth on Schedule I), provided that the Holder remains in continuous service
with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries on the Scheduled Vesting Date. Notwithstanding any provision herein to the
contrary, (i) if the Committee has made a provision for the substitution, assumption, exchange or other continuation of
the Award in connection with a Change in Control, then in the event that the Holder’ s continuous service is terminated
(A) by the Company due to death or Disability following the occurrence of the Change in Control, the unvested Award
shall immediately fully vest, or (B) by the Company other than for Cause (as defined in such Holder’ s employment
agreement (or, if not defined therein, as defined in the Plan)), and other than due to death or Disability, or by the Holder
for Good Reason (as defined in such Holder’ s employment agreement), in each case within one (1) year following the
occurrence of the Change in Control, the unvested Award shall immediately fully vest; or (ii) if the Committee has not
made a provision for the substitution, assumption, exchange or other continuation of the Award in connection with a
Change in Control, 100 % of the unvested Award Restricted Shares shall fully vest immediately prior to the Change in
Control. 4. Restriction- Forfeiture of Award Restricted Shares. The Award Restricted Shares are each subject to the
restrictions (“ Restrictions ) that (i) all rights of Holder to any Award Restricted Shares which have not become Vested
Shares shall, automatically and without notice, terminate and be permanently forfeited on the date Holder, for any
reason, ceases to be employed by the Company, except as otherwise stated herein; and (ii) all rights of Holder to the
specified percentage of Award Restricted Shares which have not become Vested Shares because the Performance
Measures (as shown on Schedule I) have not been satisfied shall, automatically and without notice, terminate and be
permanently forfeited. 5. Withholding. As set forth in Section 14. 3 of the Plan, the Company shall have the authority
and the right to deduct or withhold, or to require the Holder to remit to the Company, an amount sufficient to satisfy all
applicable federal, state and local taxes required by law to be withheld with respect to any taxable event arising in
connection with the Awarded Restricted Shares. 6. Issuance of Shares. During the Restricted Period (as defined in the
Plan), the certificates representing the Award Restricted Shares, shall be registered in the Holder' s name and bear a
restrictive legend disclosing the Restrictions and the existence of this Award. Such certificates shall be deposited by the
Holder with the Company, together with stock powers or other instruments of assignment, each endorsed in blank,
which will permit the transfer to the Company of all or any portion of the Award Restricted Shares which shall be
forfeited in accordance with the terms of this Award. The Company will retain custody of all related Restricted Share



Distributions, which will be subject to the same Restrictions, terms, and conditions as their related Award Restricted
Shares, until Holder is entitled to receive Vested Share certificates for the such Award Restricted Shares; and provided,
further, that the Restricted Share Distributions which relate to Award Restricted Shares which are forfeited, shall be
forfeited on the same date as such Award Restricted Shares are forfeited; and provided, further, that any Restricted
Share Distributions shall not bear interest or be segregated into a separate account but shall remain a general asset of
the Company, subject to the claims of the Company' s creditors, until the conclusion of the applicable Restricted Period;
and provided, finally, that on the date of any material breach of any terms of this Award, as reasonably determined by
the Committee (as defined in the Plan), there shall be, automatically and without notice, an immediate forfeiture of all of
both Award Restricted Shares and Restricted Share Distributions. Award Restricted Shares shall constitute issued and
outstanding Common Stock for all corporate purposes and, without limitation, Holder shall have all of the rights and
privileges of an owner of the Award Restricted Shares (including voting rights) except that Holder shall not be entitled to
delivery of the certificates evidencing any of the Award Restricted Shares, nor the related Restricted Share Distributions,
unless and until they become Vested Shares. 7. Administration of Award. The determinations under, and the
interpretations of, any provision of this Award by the Committee shall, in all cases, be in its sole discretion, and shall be
final and conclusive. 8. No Transfers Permitted. Without limitation, the rights under this Award are not transferable. 9.
Section 83 (b) Election. Holder may elect under Section 83 (b) of the Code to include in his or her gross income, for his
or her taxable year in which the Award Restricted Shares are transferred to such Holder under this Award, the excess of
the fair market value (determined without regard to any Restriction other than one which by its terms will never lapse),
of such Award Restricted Shares at the Date of Grant, over the amount (if any) paid for the Award Restricted Shares. If
the Holder makes the Section 83 (b) election described above, the Holder shall (i) make such election in a manner that is
satisfactory to the Committee, (ii) provide the Committee with a copy of such election, (iii) agree to promptly notify the
Company if any Internal Revenue Service or state tax agent, on audit or otherwise, questions the validity or correctness
of such election or of the amount of income reportable on account of such election, and (iv) agree to pay the minimum
withholding taxes required to be made by the Company. 10. Claw- Back. If Holder is covered under the Company’ s
Company Recovery Policy (as the same may be amended or restated, the “ Claw- Back Policy ”) and / or the Company’ s
Supplemental Compensation Recovery Policy (as the same may be amended or restated, the “ Supplemental Claw- Back
Policy ”), the Award Restricted Shares and any proceeds, gains or other economic benefit actually or constructively
received by Holder upon the sale of any Award Restricted Shares shall be subject to the provisions of, as applicable, (i)
the Claw- Policy and / or the Supplemental Claw- Back Policy. 11. Interpretation. (a) If any provision of this Award is
held invalid for any reason, such holding shall not affect the remaining provisions hereof, but instead the Award shall be
construed and enforced as if such provision had never been included in the Award. (b) THIS AWARD SHALL BE
GOVERNED BY THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF TEXAS. (c) Headings contained in this Award are for convenience
only and shall in no manner be construed as part of this Award. (d) Any reference to the masculine, feminine, or neuter
gender shall be a reference to such other gender as is appropriate. Dated as of thisday of, 202_. SONIDA SENIOR
LIVING, INC. By: Name: Title: SCHEDULE I PERFORMANCE MEASURE Assignment Separate From Certificate
FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned hereby sells, assigns and transfers unto Sonida Senior Living, Inc. the
Award Restricted Shares subject to this Award, standing in the undersigned' s name on the books of said Sonida Senior
Living, Inc., represented by a Stock Certificate herewith and do hereby irrevocably constitute and appoint the corporate
secretary of Sonida Senior Living, Inc. as attorney to transfer the said stock on the books of Sonida Senior Living, Inc.
with full power of substitution in the premises. Dated [ NAME |, Holder ACKNOWLEDGMENT The undersigned
hereby acknowledges (i) my receipt of this Award and the Plan, (ii) my opportunity to discuss this Award with a
representative of the Company, and my personal advisors, to the extent I deem necessary or appropriate, (iii) my
understanding of the terms and provisions of this Award, and (iv) my understanding that, by my signature below, I am
agreeing to be bound by all of the terms and provisions of this Award. Without limitation, I agree to accept as binding,
conclusive and final all decisions or interpretations of the Committee (as defined in the Plan) upon any questions arising
under this Award or the Plan. FORM OF EMPLOYEE’ S RESTRICTED STOCK AWARD Effective as of [ |
GRANTDATE ] ] (“ Date of Grant ), a RESTRICTED STOCK AWARD (“ Award ”) is granted by Sonida Senior
Living, Inc. (the “ Company ”) to [ [ FIRSTNAME | | [ [ LASTNAME | | (the «“ Holder ”), this Award being in all
respects subject to the terms, definitions and provisions, of the 2019 Omnibus Stock and Incentive Plan For Sonida
Senior Living, Inc. (the “ Plan ), and all of which are incorporated herein by reference, except to the extent otherwise
expressly provided in this Award. 1. Restricted Share Award. The Company hereby sells, transfers, assigns and delivers
to the Holder an aggregate of [ [ SHARESGRANTED | | Shares (“ Award Restricted Shares ) on the terms and
conditions set forth in this Award, including, without limitation, the Restriction more specifically set forth in Section 4.
below, subject only to Holder’ s execution of this Award agreement. 2. Vesting of Award Restricted Shares. The
Restriction on the specified percentage of Award Restricted Shares shall lapse (Award Restricted Shares with respect to
which the Restriction has lapsed are Vested and herein referred to as “ Vested Shares ”) on the earlier of (1) the dates set
forth in the following Vesting schedule: (i) 33 % of the Award Restricted Shares shown in Section 1, on the 1st
anniversary of the Date of Grant; and (ii) 33 % of the Award Restricted Shares shown in Section 1 on the 2nd
anniversary of the Date of Grant; and (iii) 34 % of the Award Restricted Shares shown in Section 1 on the 3rd
anniversary of the Date of Grant; so that, without limitation, the Restriction on all of the Award Restricted Shares will
have lapsed no later than the third anniversary of the Date of Grant; or (2) 100 % of the Award Restricted Shares shown
in Section 1, on the date of Holder’ s death, or (3) 100 % of the Award Restricted Shares shown in Section 1, on the date
of Holder’ s Disability, or (4) 100 % of the Award Restricted Shares shown in Section 1, on the date of Holder’ s



Retirement. 3. Change in Control. Award Restricted Shares shall not automatically become Vested Shares on a Change
in Control. Notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary, (i) if the Committee has made a provision for the
substitution, assumption, exchange or other continuation of the Award in connection with a Change in Control, then in
the event that the Holder’ s continuous service is terminated (A) by the Company due to death or Disability or
Retirement following the occurrence of the Change in Control, the unvested Award shall immediately fully vest, or (B) by
the Company other than for Cause (as defined in such Holder’ s employment agreement (or, if not defined therein, as
defined in the Plan)), and other than due to death or Disability or Retirement or by the Holder for Good Reason (as
defined in such Holders employment agreement), in each case within one (1) year following the occurrence of the Change
in Control, the unvested Award shall immediately fully vest; or (ii) if the Committee has not made a provision for the
substitution, assumption, exchange or other continuation of the Award in connection with a Change in Control, the
unvested Award shall fully vest immediately prior to the Change in Control. 4. Restriction — Forfeiture of Award
Restricted Shares. The Award Restricted Shares are each subject to the restriction (“ Restriction ) that all rights of
Holder to any Award Restricted Shares which have not become Vested Shares shall, automatically and without notice,
terminate and be permanently forfeited on the date Holder, for any reason, ceases to be employed by the Company. S.
Withholding. As set forth in Section 14. 3 of the Plan, the Company shall have the authority and the right to deduct or
withhold, or to require the Holder to remit to the Company, an amount sufficient to satisfy all applicable federal, state
and local taxes required by law to be withheld with respect to any taxable event arising in connection with the Awarded
Restricted Shares. 6. Issuance of Shares. During such time as the Award Restricted Shares are subject to the Restriction,
the certificates representing the Award Restricted Shares, and any Restricted Share Distributions, shall be registered in
the Holder’ s name and bear a restrictive legend disclosing the Restriction and the existence of this Award. Such
certificates shall be deposited by the Holder with the Company, together with stock powers or other instruments of
assignment, each endorsed in blank, which will permit the transfer to the Company of all or any portion of the Award
Restricted Shares, and any assets constituting Restricted Share Distributions, which shall be forfeited in accordance with
the terms of this Award. The Company will retain custody of all related Restricted Share Distributions (i. e., dividends,
which will be subject to the same Restriction, terms, and conditions as the related Award Restricted Shares) unless and
until Holder is entitled to receive the certificates for the related Vested Shares; provided, however, that any Restricted
Share Distributions shall not bear interest or be segregated into a separate account but shall remain a general asset of
the Company, subject to the claims of the Company’ s creditors, until the Restriction lapses; and provided, further, that
any material breach of any terms of this Award, as reasonably determined by the Committee, will cause a forfeiture of
both Award Restricted Shares and Restricted Share Distributions.- 2- 7. Administration of Award. The determinations
under, and the interpretations of, any provision of this Award by the Committee shall, in all cases, be in its sole
discretion, and shall be final and conclusive. 8. No Transfers Permitted. Without limitation, the rights under this Award
are not transferable. 9. Section 83 (b) Election. Holder may elect under Section 83 (b) of the Code to include in his or her
gross income, for his or her taxable year in which the Award Restricted Shares are transferred to such Holder under this
Award, the excess of the fair market value (determined without regard to any Restriction other than one which by its
terms will never lapse), of such Award Restricted Shares at the Date of Grant, over the amount (if any) paid for the
Award Restricted Shares. If the Holder makes the Section 83 (b) election described above, the Holder shall (i) make such
election in a manner that is satisfactory to the Committee, (ii) provide the Committee with a copy of such election, (iii)
agree to promptly notify the Company if any Internal Revenue Service or state tax agent, on audit or otherwise,
questions the validity or correctness of such election or of the amount of income reportable on account of such election,
and (iv) agree to pay the withholding amounts described in Section 5. above. 10. Interpretation. (a) If any provision of
this Award is held invalid for any reason, such holding shall not affect the remaining provisions hereof, but instead the
Award shall be construed and enforced as if such provision had never been included in the Award. (b) THIS AWARD
SHALL BE GOVERNED BY THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF TEXAS. (c) Headings contained in this Award are for
convenience only and shall in no manner be construed as part of this Award. Dated: [ [ GRANTDATE ] |- 3- [ NAME,
TITLE |- 4- FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned hereby sells, assigns and transfers unto Sonida Senior Living,
Inc. the Award Restricted Shares subject to this Award, standing in the undersigned’ s name on the books of said Sonida
Senior Living, Inc., represented by a Stock Certificate herewith and do hereby irrevocably constitute and appoint the
corporate secretary of Sonida Senior Living, Inc. as attorney to transfer the said stock on the books of Sonida Senior
Living, Inc. with full power of substitution in the premises. Dated: [ [ SIGNATURE_DATE ] |

[ [ FIRSTNAME | | [ [ LASTNAME ] |, Holder The undersigned hereby
acknowledges (i) my receipt of this Award and the Plan, (ii) my opportunity to discuss this Award with a representative
of the Company, and my personal advisors, to the extent I deem necessary or appropriate, (iii) my understanding of the
terms and provisions of this Award, and (iv) my understanding that, by my signature below, I am agreeing to be bound
by all of the terms and provisions of this Award. Dated: [ [ SIGNATURE_DATE ] |- 5- Should you choose to decline this
award, please contact ( @ sonidaliving. com).- 6- FORM OUTSIDE DIRECTOR’ S SONIDA
SENIOR LIVING, INC. 2019 OMNIBUS STOCK AND INCENTIVE PLAN Effective as of ,202_ (“ Date
of Grant ”’), a RESTRICTED STOCK AWARD (“ Award ) is granted by Sonida Senior Living, Inc. (the “ Company )
to NAME (the “ Holder ), this Award being in all respects subject to the terms, definitions and provisions of the 2019
Omnibus Stock and Incentive Plan For Sonida Senior Living, Inc., (the “ Plan ), and all of which are incorporated
herein by reference, except to the extent otherwise expressly provided in this Award. 1. Restricted Share Award. The
Company hereby sells, transfers, assigns and delivers to the Holder an aggregate of Shares (“ Award
Restricted Shares ”) on the terms and conditions set forth in this Award, including, without limitation, the Restriction




more specifically set forth in Section 3. below, subject only to Holder’ s execution of this Award agreement. 2. Vesting of
Award Restricted Shares. The Restriction on the specified percentage of Award Restricted Shares shall lapse (Award
Restricted Shares with respect to which the Restriction has lapsed are Vested and herein referred to as “ Vested Shares
) on the date set forth in the following Vesting schedule: (i) 100 % of the Award Restricted Shares shown in Section 1,
on the 1st anniversary of the Date of Grant; so that, without limitation, the Restriction on all of the Award Restricted
Shares will have lapsed no later than the first anniversary of the Date of Grant; or (2) 100 % of the Award Restricted
Shares shown in Section 1 on the date of Holder’ s death, or (3) 100 % of the Award Restricted Shares shown in Section
1, on the date of Holder’ s Disability, or (4) 100 % of the Award Restricted Shares as shown in Section 1, on the date of
Holder’ s Retirement. Without limitation, as provided in the Plan and limited by this Award, the Restriction on the
Award Restricted Shares shown in Section 1 will lapse, and such Award Restricted Shares shall be Vested, on the date of
a Change in Control. 3. Restriction- Forfeiture of Award Restricted Shares. The Award Restricted Shares are each
subject to the restriction (“ Restriction ) that all rights of Holder to any Award Restricted Shares which have not
become Vested Shares shall, automatically and without notice, terminate and be permanently forfeited on the date of
Holder’ s termination of service as a Director. 4. Withholding. On the date Award Restricted Shares become Vested
Shares, the minimum withholding required to be made by the Company shall be paid by Holder to the Company (as
defined in the Plan) in cash. 5. Issuance of Shares. During such time as the Award Restricted Shares are subject to the
Restriction, the certificates representing the Award Restricted Shares, and any Restricted Share Distributions, shall be
registered in the Holder’ s name and bear a restrictive legend disclosing the Restriction and the existence of this Award.
Such certificates shall be deposited by the Holder with the Company, together with stock powers or other instruments of
assignment, each endorsed in blank, which will permit the transfer to the Company of all or any portion of the Award
Restricted Shares, and any assets constituting Restricted Share Distributions, which shall be forfeited in accordance with
the terms of this Award. The Company will retain custody of all related Restricted Share Distributions (i. e., dividends,
which will be subject to the same Restriction, terms, and conditions as the related Award Restricted Shares) unless and
until Holder is entitled to receive the certificates for the related Vested Shares; provided, however, that any Restricted
Share Distributions shall not bear interest or be segregated into a separate account but shall remain a general asset of
the Company, subject to the claims of the Company’ s creditors, until the Restriction lapses; and provided, further, that
any material breach of any terms of this Award, as reasonably determined by the Committee, will cause a forfeiture of
both Award Restricted Shares and Restricted Share Distributions. 6. Administration of Award. The determinations
under, and the interpretations of, any provision of this Award by the Committee shall, in all cases, be in its sole
discretion, and shall be final and conclusive. 7. No Transfers Permitted. Without limitation, the rights under this Award
are not transferable. 8. Section 83 (b) Election. Holder may elect under Section 83 (b) of the Code to include in his or her
gross income, for his or her taxable year in which the Award Restricted Shares are transferred to such Holder under this
Award, the excess of the fair market value (determined without regard to any Restriction other than one which by its
terms will never lapse), of such Award Restricted Shares at the Date of Grant, over the amount (if any) paid for the
Award Restricted Shares. If the Holder makes the Section 83 (b) election described above, the Holder shall (i) make such
election in a manner that is satisfactory to the Committee, (ii) provide the Committee with a copy of such election, (iii)
agree to promptly notify the Company if any Internal Revenue Service or state tax agent, on audit or otherwise,
questions the validity or correctness of such election or of the amount of income reportable on account of such election,
and (iv) agree to pay the withholding amounts, if any, described in Section 4. above. 9. Interpretation. Dated as of this
day of ,202_ By: Brandon Ribar, President and Chief Executive
Officer FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned hereby sells, assigns and transfers unto Sonida Senior Living, Inc.
the Award Restricted Shares subject to this Award, standing in the undersigned’ s name on the books of said Sonida
Senior Living, Inc., represented by a Stock Certificate herewith and do hereby irrevocably constitute and appoint the
corporate secretary of Sonida Senior Living, Inc. as attorney to transfer the said stock on the books of Sonida Senior
Living, Inc. with full power of substitution in the premises. Dated ,202_ NAME, Holder Dated as of this

day of ,202_. RESTRICTED SHARE UNIT AWARD UNDER THESONIDA SENIOR LIVING,
INC. 2019 OMNIBUS STOCK AND INCENTIVE PLAN Effective as of [ [ GRANT DATE | | (“ Date of Grant ), a
RESTRICTED SHARE UNIT AWARD (*“ Award ”) is granted by Sonida Senior Living, Inc. (the “ Company ) to [ [
FIRST NAME | | [ [ LAST NAME ]| | (“ Director ), this Award being in all respects subject to the terms, definitions and
provisions of the 2019 Omnibus Stock and Incentive Plan For Sonida Senior Living, Inc. (the “ Plan ), and all of which
are incorporated herein by reference, except to the extent otherwise expressly provided in this Award. 1. Restricted
Share Unit Award. Pursuant to Section 8. 3 of the Plan, the Company hereby issues to Director on the Date of Grant an
Award consisting of, in the aggregate, [ [ NUMBER OF RESTRICTED SHARE UNITS ] | Restricted Share Units (the «
Award Restricted Share Units ). Each Award Restricted Share Unit represents the right to receive one share of
Common Stock, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Award and the Plan. The Award Restricted Share
Units shall be credited to a separate account maintained for Director on the books and records of the Company (the «
Account ). All amounts credited to the Account shall continue for all purposes to be part of the general assets of the
Company. 2. Vesting of Award Restricted Share Units. The Restriction on the specified percentage of Award Restricted
Share Units shall lapse (Award Restricted Share Units with respect to which the Restriction has lapsed are Vested and
herein referred to as “ Vested Restricted Share Units ”’) on the date set forth in the following Vesting Schedule: (a) 100
% of the Award Restricted Share Units shown in Section 1, on the 1st anniversary of the Date of Grant; so that, without
limitation, the Restriction on all of the Award Restricted Share Units will have lapsed no later than the first anniversary
of the Date of Grant; or (b) 100 % of the Award Restricted Share Units shown in Section 1 on the date of Director’ s




death, or (c) 100 % of the Award Restricted Share Units shown in Section 1, on the date of Director’ s Disability, or (d)
100 % of the Award Restricted Share Units as shown in Section 1, on the date of Director’ s Retirement. Without
limitation, as provided in the Plan and limited by this Award, the Restriction on the Award Restricted Share Units
shown in Section 1 will lapse, and such Award Restricted Share Units shall be Vested, on the date of a Change in
Control. 3. Restriction- Forfeiture of Award Restricted Share Units. The Award Restricted Share Units are each subject
to the restriction (“ Restriction ) that all rights of Director to any Award Restricted Share Units which have not become
Vested Restricted Share Units shall, automatically and without notice, terminate and be permanently forfeited on the
date of Director’ s termination of service as a Director. 4. Rights as Shareholder; Dividend Equivalents. (a) Director shall
not have any rights of a shareholder with respect to the shares of Common Stock underlying the Award Restricted Share
Units unless and until the Award Restricted Share Units vest and are settled by the issuance of such shares of Common
Stock. (b) Upon and following the settlement of the Vested Restricted Share Units, Director shall be the record owner of
the shares of Common Stock underlying the Vested Restricted Share Units unless and until such shares are sold or
otherwise disposed of, and as record owner shall be entitled to all rights of a shareholder of the Company (including
voting rights). (c) Until such time as the Award Restricted Share Units vest, Director’ s Account shall be credited with an
amount equal to all cash dividends (“ Dividend Equivalents ) that would have been paid to Director if one share of
Common Stock had been issued on the Date of Grant for each Award Restricted Share Unit granted to Director as set
forth in this Agreement. Dividend Equivalents shall be subject to the same vesting restrictions as the Award Restricted
Share Units to which they are attributable and shall be paid without interest on the same date that the Award Restricted
Share Units to which they are attributable are settled in accordance with Section 5 hereof. 5. Settlement of Award
Restricted Share Units. (a) Subject to Section 5 (b) hereof, promptly following the vesting date, and in any event no later
than March 15 of the calendar year following the calendar year in which such vesting occurs, the Company shall (i) issue
and deliver to Director the number of shares of Common Stock equal to the number of Vested Restricted Share Units
and cash equal to any Dividend Equivalents credited with respect to such Vested Restricted Share Units; and (ii) enter
the Director' s name on the books of the Company as the shareholder of record with respect to the shares of Common
Stock delivered to the Director. (b) Notwithstanding Section 5 (a), the Committee may, but is not required to, prescribe
rules pursuant to which Director may elect to defer settlement of Vested Restricted Share Units. Any deferral election
must be made in compliance with such rules and procedures as the Committee deems advisable. 6. Withholding. On the
date of settlement of a Vested Restricted Share Unit, the minimum withholding required to be made by the Company
shall be paid by Director to the Company in cash. 8. No Transfers Permitted. Without limitation, the rights under this
Award are not transferable. 9. Section 409A. This Award is intended to comply with Section 409A of the Code or an
exemption thereunder and shall be construed and interpreted in a manner that is consistent with the requirements for
avoiding additional taxes or penalties under Section 409A of the Code. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company
makes no representations that the payments and benefits provided under this Agreement comply with Section 409A of
the Code and in no event shall the Company be liable for all or any portion of any taxes, penalties, interest or other
expenses that may be incurred by Director on account of non- compliance with Section 409A of the Code. (d) Any
reference to the masculine, feminine, or neuter gender shall be a reference to such other gender as is appropriate. Dated
as of this day of, 20__. Brandon Ribar, President and CEO Without limitation, I agree to accept as binding, conclusive
and final all decisions or interpretations of the Committee upon any questions arising under this Award or the Plan.
Dated as of this day of ,20__.[[ DIRECTOR NAME | |, Director Effective as of [ * ] (“
Date of Grant ), a PERFORMANCE AWARD (“ Award ”) was granted by Sonida Senior Living, Inc. (the “ Company
”) to [ NAME ] (the “ Holder ). This Performance Award is in all respects subject to the terms, definitions and
provisions, of the Company 2019 Omnibus Stock and Incentive Plan (the “ Plan ”), and all of which are incorporated
herein by reference, except to the extent otherwise expressly provided in this Award. 1. Performance Award. The
Company hereby sells, transfers, assigns and delivers to the Holder an aggregate of [ * | Shares of the Company as of the
Date of Grant (“ Target Award Restricted Shares ”) subject to the Plan and to the terms and conditions set forth in this
Award, including, without limitation, the Restrictions more specifically set forth in Section 4 below (“ Restrictions ),
and further subject to Holder’ s execution of this Award agreement. 2. Vesting of Target Award Restricted Shares. (a)
The Award shall be one hundred percent (100 %) unvested as of the Date of Grant. Except as otherwise provided in the
Plan and this Award, the Target Award Restricted Shares shall vest and become non- forfeitable (referred to hereafter
as “ Vested Shares ) on the date that the performance results as described in Section (i), (ii), or (iii) of this Section 2 (a)
are satisfied at any time during the period that begins on the Date of Grant and ends on [ ¢ | (the “ Performance Period
), provided that the Holder remains in continuous service with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries through the later
of (i) the date on which the applicable performance results are satisfied, as applicable, or (ii) the first anniversary of the
Date of Grant: (i) If the volume weighted average price (the “ VWAP ”) of a share of the Company’ s Common Stock
exceeds $ [ « | per share for any ninety (90) calendar day trading period during the Performance Period, fifty percent (50
%) of the Target Award Restricted Shares shall become vested as of the later of (A) the last trading day of such trading
period or (B) the first anniversary of the Date of Grant; (ii) If the VWAP of a share of the Company’ s Common Stock
exceeds $ [ « | per share for any ninety (90) calendar day trading period during the Performance Period, seventy- five
percent (75 %) of the Target Award Restricted Shares shall become vested as of the later of (A) the last trading day of
such trading period or (B) the first anniversary of the Date of Grant; and (iii) If the VWAP of a share of the Company’ s
Common Stock exceeds $ [ * | per share for any ninety (90) calendar day trading period during the Performance Period,
one hundred percent (100 %) of the Target Award Restricted Shares shall become vested as of the later of (A) the last
trading day of such trading period or (B) the first anniversary of the Date of Grant. (c) In the event that the Holder’ s




continuous service is terminated by the Company on or after the first anniversary of the Date of Grant due to the
Holder’ s death or Disability (as defined in such Holder’ s employment agreement (or, if not defined therein, as defined
in the Plan)), the unvested Award shall remain outstanding and a pro- rated portion thereof shall vest if the applicable
VWAP target is satisfied during the Performance Period. The pro- rata portion, determined separately for each VWAP
target set forth in clauses (i), (ii) and (iii) of Section 2 (a) (or is deemed to be satisfied as provided in Section 3), and shall
be based on a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days that have elapsed between the Date of Grant and
the date of the Holder’ s termination and the denominator of which is the number of days that have elapsed between the
date of grant and the date the applicable VWAP target is satisfied or, if applicable, is deemed satisfied as provided in
Section 3. 3. Change in Control or Take Private. (a) Change in Control or Private Transaction Before First Anniversary
of Date of Grant. If, before the first anniversary of the Date of Grant, there occurs a Change in Control or an event
which results in the Company’ s Common Stock no longer being readily tradeable on an established securities market (“
Private Transaction ), the number of Target Award Restricted Shares that shall vest upon the first anniversary of the
Date of Grant (subject to the Holder’ s continuous service with the Company or a Subsidiary through such date) (herein,
the “ Earned CiC Target Award Restricted Shares ) shall be determined under Section 2 using the greater of (i) the
highest VWAP of a share of the Company’ s Common Stock for any ninety (90) calendar day trading period during the
portion of the Performance Period that began on the Date of Grant and ended on the date of (as applicable) the Change
in Control or Private Transaction, and (ii) a deemed 90- trading- day VWAP equal to the highest price per Share paid to
shareholders in the transaction. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, if the Holder’ s continuous
service with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries terminates in (x) an Involuntary Termination or (y) due to the
Holder’ s death or Disability, in either case on or after the date of the Change in Control or Private Transaction (as
applicable) and before the first anniversary of the Date of Grant, then the Holder will be vested in the Holder’ s Earned
CiC Target Award Restricted Shares immediately upon such termination. (b) Change in Control or Private Transaction
on or After First Anniversary of Date of Grant. If, on or after the first anniversary of the Date of Grant, there occurs a
Change in Control or a Private Transaction and, except as provided in Section 2 (c), provided that the Holder remains in
continuous service with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries on the date of the Change in Control or Private
Transaction, the price per Share paid to shareholders in the transaction shall be deemed to be the VWAP of a Share and
the provisions of Section 2 shall be applied based on such deemed VWAP to determine the extent to which, if any, the
Target Award Restricted Shares shall vest. 4. Restriction- Forfeiture of Target Award Restricted Shares. The Target
Award Restricted Shares are each subject to the restrictions (“ Restrictions ”) that (i) all rights of Holder to any Target
Award Restricted Shares which have not become Vested Shares shall, automatically and without notice, terminate and
be permanently forfeited on the date Holder, for any reason, ceases to be in service with the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries, except as otherwise stated herein; and (ii) all rights of Holder to the specified percentage of Target Award
Restricted Shares which have not become Vested Shares because the performance results as defined in Section 2 or
Section 3 have not been satisfied during the Performance Period shall, automatically and without notice, terminate and
be permanently forfeited upon the expiration of the Performance Period or, if earlier, upon the occurrence of a Change
in Control or a Private Transaction. 6. Issuance of Shares. During the Restricted Period (as defined in the Plan), the
certificates representing the Target Award Restricted Shares, shall be registered in the Holder' s name and bear a
restrictive legend disclosing the Restrictions and the existence of this Award. Such certificates shall be deposited by the
Holder with the Company, together with stock powers or other instruments of assignment, each endorsed in blank,
which will permit the transfer to the Company of all or any portion of the Target Award Restricted Shares which shall
be forfeited in accordance with the terms of this Award. The Company will retain custody of all related Restricted Share
Distributions, which will be subject to the same Restrictions, terms, and conditions as their related Target Award
Restricted Shares, until Holder is entitled to receive Vested Share certificates for the such Target Award Restricted
Shares; and provided, further, that the Restricted Share Distributions which relate to Target Award Restricted Shares
which are forfeited, shall be forfeited on the same date as such Target Award Restricted Shares are forfeited; and
provided, further, that any Restricted Share Distributions shall not bear interest or be segregated into a separate
account but shall remain a general asset of the Company, subject to the claims of the Company' s creditors, until the
conclusion of the applicable Restricted Period; and provided, finally, that on the date of any material breach of any
terms of this Award, as reasonably determined by the Committee (as defined in the Plan), there shall be, automatically
and without notice, an immediate forfeiture of all of both Target Award Restricted Shares and Restricted Share
Distributions. Target Award Restricted Shares shall constitute issued and outstanding Common Stock for all corporate
purposes and, without limitation, Holder shall have all of the rights and privileges of an owner of the Target Award
Restricted Shares (including voting rights) except that Holder shall not be entitled to delivery of the certificates
evidencing any of the Target Award Restricted Shares, nor the related Restricted Share Distributions, unless and until
they become Vested Shares. 9. Section 83 (b) Election. Holder may elect under Section 83 (b) of the Code to include in his
or her gross income, for his or her taxable year in which the Target Award Restricted Shares are transferred to such
Holder under this Award, the excess of the fair market value (determined without regard to any Restriction other than
one which by its terms will never lapse), of such Target Award Restricted Shares at the Date of Grant, over the amount
(if any) paid for the Target Award Restricted Shares. If the Holder makes the Section 83 (b) election described above, the
Holder shall (i) make such election in a manner that is satisfactory to the Committee, (ii) provide the Committee with a
copy of such election, (iii) agree to promptly notify the Company if any Internal Revenue Service or state tax agent, on
audit or otherwise, questions the validity or correctness of such election or of the amount of income reportable on
account of such election, and (iv) agree to pay the minimum withholding taxes required to be made by the Company. 10.



Interpretation. By: Name: Title: FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned hereby sells, assigns and transfers unto
Sonida Senior Living, Inc. the Target Award Restricted Shares subject to this Award, standing in the undersigned' s
name on the books of said Sonida Senior Living, Inc., represented by a Stock Certificate herewith and do hereby
irrevocably constitute and appoint the corporate secretary of Sonida Senior Living, Inc. as attorney to transfer the said
stock on the books of Sonida Senior Living, Inc. with full power of substitution in the premises.

[+ ], Holder [+ ], Holder (Page One of Eight)
In October 1997, Capital Senior Living Corporation (the “ Company ”) began trading shares of Common Stock on the
New York Stock Exchange under the symbol CSU. On November 15, 2021, Capital Senior Living Corporation changed
its name to Sonida Senior Living, Inc., whose ticker symbol is SNDA. Because the Company is a public company,
employees, officers, directors and consultants of the Company and its subsidiaries have responsibilities under federal
securities laws regarding trading the Company’ s stock and the disclosure of material information about the Company
that is not known by the public. It is unlawful to buy or sell securities while in possession of material, non- public
information concerning the Company or concerning another company where the information was obtained through
Company sources. It also is unlawful to pass such information to others who then trade in the Company’ s stock. The
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) aggressively prosecutes persons who trade on “ inside ” information, as it
sometimes is called. In addition, the disclosure of material, non- public information by a person acting on behalf of the
Company can result in a violation of SEC Regulation FD. THE CONSEQUENCES The consequences of insider trading
violations can be severe. For individuals who trade on inside information (or tip information to others), the following
may be imposed: ¢ a civil penalty of up to three times the profit gained or loss avoided; * a criminal fine (no matter how
small the profit) of up to $ 5 million; and ¢ a jail term of up to 20 years. For a company (as well as possibly any
supervisory person) that fails to take appropriate steps to prevent illegal trading, the following may be imposed: * a civil
penalty of the greater of $ 1 million or three times the profit gained or loss avoided as a result of the employee’ s
violation; and ¢ a criminal penalty for entities of up to $ 25 million. It is also important to note that insider trading
offenses can implicate broader criminal charges such as mail or wire fraud. If an employee violates the Company’ s
insider trading policy, sanctions imposed by the Company, including dismissal for cause, could result from failing to
comply with the Company’ s policy or procedures. Violations of SEC Regulation FD can result in civil sanctions
(including cease and desist order and monetary fines) against both the violating individual as well as the Company itself.
1 of 8Legal \ DisclosureCommittee \ InsiderTradingPolicy. vl7Revised 3 /10 /22 THE COMPANY’ S POLICY If an
employee, consultant, director or officer of the Company or its subsidiaries has material, non- public information
relating to the Company, it is the Company’ s policy that neither that person nor any related person may buy or sell
stock of the Company or engage in any other action to take advantage of, or pass on to others, that information. This
policy also applies to information relating to any other company, including without limitation our customers, suppliers,
landlords, or joint venture partners obtained in the course of service as a director, officer, employee or consultant of the
Company. Unless clearly demonstrated otherwise, you should presume that information is material and that it has not
been disclosed to the public. The Company has adopted as corporate policy that only the Chief Executive Officer, Chief
Financial Officer or other persons specifically designated by them are authorized to speak to the financial community
regarding the Company’ s financial condition, results of operations or strategic or other business matters. In addition,
disclosure of material, non- public information concerning the Company by anyone acting on its behalf (which will
generally include directors, officers and employees) can result in a violation of Regulation FD promulgated by the
Securities and Exchange Commission. Violations of that Regulation can result in sanctions against the disclosing party as
well as the Company itself. Transactions and disclosures that may be necessary or justifiable for independent or
personal reasons are not exceptions. Even the appearance of an improper transaction or disclosure must be avoided to
preserve the Company’ s reputation for adhering to the highest standards of conduct. If you have any questions about
the Company’ s policy, you should contact the Counsel of the Company to assist in interpreting these standards.
Material Information. In general, information is “ material > if its disclosure to the public could affect an investor’ s
decisions to purchase or sell the Company’ s stock. In short, any information that reasonably could be expected to affect
the price of the stock is material. However, other circumstances may exist (particularly under SEC Regulation FD)
where the price of the Company’ s securities is irrelevant as to whether the information in question is material.
Information, whether positive or negative, relating to the following topics often is deemed to be material. Such
information includes, but is not limited to: * projections of future earnings or losses, or other earnings guidance; ©
changes in previously disclosed financial information or earnings guidance; * news of a pending or proposed joint
venture, merger, acquisition, divestiture or tender offer; * news of a significant purchase or sale of assets or of a potential
purchase or sale; * the disposition of a subsidiary; * changes in dividend policies; * the proposed offering or issuance of
new securities; * recapitalizations;  issuer tender offers; * changes in management, including board changes;
significant changes in operations; 2 of 8Legal \ DisclosureCommittee \ InsiderTradingPolicy. vl7Revised 3 /10 /22 ¢
substantial changes in accounting methods; * labor disputes, including strikes or lock- outs; ¢ significant increases or
declines in backlog orders or the award of a significant contract; ¢ the gain or loss of or disputes with a substantial
customer or supplier; * significant new products, services or discoveries; * extraordinary borrowings; * major litigation;
e criminal indictments or government investigations; ¢ financial liquidity problems; ¢ write- downs or write- offs of
assets; and * additions to reserves for bad debt or contingent liabilities. Please note that these are only examples. Any
other information, positive or negative, that could reasonably affect the price of stock also is material. If your stock
transactions become the subject of an investigation, they will be viewed after- the- fact with the benefit of hindsight.
Thus, before engaging in any transaction, you should carefully consider how the SEC and others might view your




transaction in hindsight. When Information is Public. In order for information to qualify as inside information, it must
not only be material, it also must be “ non- public. ” Non- public information is information that generally has not been
made available to investors. Information received under circumstances where it is not yet in general circulation or where
the recipient knows or should know that only an insider could have provided the information also is deemed non- public
information. Once material, non- public information has been released to the investing public, it loses its status as inside
information. However, for non- public information to become public information, it must be disseminated through
recognized channels of distribution designed to reach the securities marketplace with sufficient time to be assessed by the
marketplace in general rather than a particular segment of the market. Material, non- public information is not made
public by selective dissemination. Material, non- public information improperly disclosed only to a particular
institutional investor or group of investors or to a particular analyst or group of analysts is a violation of this policy as
well as the SEC Regulation FD. Such disclosures can also result in a violation of the SEC’ s insider trading rules.
Similarly, partial disclosure does not constitute public dissemination. When any material component of the inside
information possessed by the Company or an affiliate has yet to be publicly disclosed, the information is deemed non-
public and may not be misused. To show that material information is public, you should be able to point to some fact
that verifies the information has become generally available from the Company itself. For example, disclosure must have
been made by the Company via a national business and financial wire service (BusinessWire, PR Newswire or Dow
Jones), a national news service (Reuters, Associated Press or United Press International), a national newspaper of record
(the Wall Street Journal or the New York Times), or a publicly disseminated Company disclosure document (Form 8- K,
Form 10- Q, Form 10- K, proxy statement or prospectus). The circulation of rumors or talk on the street, even if
accurate, 3 of 8Legal \ DisclosureCommittee \ InsiderTradingPolicy. vl7Revised 3 / 10 / 22 widespread and reported in
the media, does not constitute the requisite public disclosure by the Company. It is improper for an employee,
consultant, director or officer, or their spouses or immediate family members, to enter a trade immediately after the
Company has made a public announcement of material information, including earnings releases. Because the Company’
s shareholders and the investing public should be given time to receive the information and act upon it, as a general rule
you should not buy or sell any Company stock until after the first business (trading) day following the release of the
material information. Thus, if an announcement is made on a Monday, you should not trade before Wednesday. If an
announcement is made on a Friday, you should not trade before Tuesday. HEDGING TRANSACTIONS Hedging or
monetization transactions can be accomplished through a number of possible mechanisms, including through the use of
financial instruments such as prepaid variable forwards, equity swaps, collars and exchange funds. Such hedging
transactions may permit a director, officer or employee to continue to own securities of the Company obtained through
the Company’ s incentive plans or otherwise, but without the full risks and rewards of ownership. When that occurs, the
director, officer or employee may no longer have the same objectives as the Company’ s other stockholders. Therefore,
directors, officers and employees are prohibited from engaging in any such transactions. MARGIN ACCOUNTS AND
PLEDGING COMPANY SECURITIES Securities held in a margin account as collateral for a margin loan may be sold
by the broker without the customer’ s consent if the customer fails to meet a margin call. Similarly, securities pledged (or
hypothecated) as collateral for a loan may be sold in foreclosure if the borrower defaults on the loan. Because a margin
sale or foreclosure sale may occur at a time when the pledger is aware of material nonpublic information or otherwise is
not permitted to trade in the Company’ s securities, directors, officers, and other employees are prohibited from holding
securities of the Company in a margin account and also are prohibited from pledging securities of the Company as
collateral for a loan unless such pledging has been disclosed to the Board and pre- approved by the Board.
TRANSACTIONS UNDER COMPANY PLANS This policy does not apply in the case of the following transactions,
except as specifically noted: Stock Option Exercises. This policy does not apply to the exercise of an employee stock
option acquired pursuant to the Company’ s incentive plans. This policy does apply, however, to any sale of stock as part
of a broker- assisted cashless exercise of an option, or any other market sale for the purpose of generating the cash
needed to pay the exercise price of an option. Restricted Stock Awards. This policy does not apply to the vesting of
restricted stock. This policy does apply, however, to any market sale of restricted stock. 4 of 8Legal \
DisclosureCommittee \ InsiderTradingPolicy. vl7Revised 3 /10 /22 RULE 10B5- 1 TRADING PLANS Notwithstanding
anything else contained in the Company’ s Policy on Insider Trading, officers and directors shall be entitled to execute
transactions in accordance with a trading plan that is adopted in accordance with Rule 10b5- 1 promulgated by the
Securities and Exchange Commission. As a general rule, such plans cannot be established during the pendency of a
Company blackout period or at any other time during which the party establishing the plan is in possession of material,
non- public information concerning the Company. POST TERMINATION TRANSACTIONS This policy continues to
apply to transactions in Company stock even after termination of employment to the Company. If an individual is in
possession of material nonpublic information when his or her employment terminates, that individual may not trade in
Company stock until that information has become public or is no longer material. The preclearance procedures
specified in Rule 1 below, however, will cease to apply to transactions in Company stock upon the expiration of any
blackout period or other Company- imposed trading restrictions applicable at the time of the termination of
employment. RULES OF TRADING Following are certain rules prohibiting the misuse of inside information. No
Company employee, consultant, director or officer may violate these rules or authorize or allow any violation of these
rules. Any Company employee, consultant, director or officer who knows or has reason to suspect that these rules have
or may be violated shall bring such actual or potential violation to the immediate attention of the Company’ s General
Counsel and may not be retaliated against for disclosing such actual or potential violations. Rule 1. All transactions in
Company stock (purchases, sales, transfers, etc.) by directors and officers, as well as their spouses and members of their



immediate family residing with such director or officer, must be pre- approved. If an officer or director is considering
entering into a transaction involving the Company’ s stock, such officer or director should contact the Chief Executive
Officer or the General Counsel in advance. This requirement does apply to stock option exercises as well as market sales
of stock received by stock option exercises, market sales of restricted stock, open market purchases of sales and trades
for accounts where a director or officer or a related entity has discretionary authority. Rule 2. No purchases or sales of
Company stock will be permitted by Company directors or officers or any other employee in or outside of the Company’
s Dallas corporate who may have access to current non- public financial information about the Company for a period
beginning 20 days before the scheduled date of an earnings release and ending following the first trading day after an
earnings release. No purchase and sale of Company stock will be permitted during any other blackout period established
by the Company by those persons to whom such blackout applies. Rule 3. Under SEC Rule 16 (b), sales and purchases,
or purchases and sales, of Company shares during any six- month period can result in “ short- swing profit ” liability to
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officers of the Company. As a result, under this policy, the shares you purchase must be held for a minimum of six
months and a day before those shares or any other shares of the Company can be sold. Likewise, you cannot have a
purchase of shares of Company stock within six months after a prior sale of Company stock. [ Note: Section 16 (b)
liability can attach even if no actual economic profit is realized. | Rule 4. No employee, consultant, director or officer of
the Company, while in possession of inside information relevant to a security, shall purchase, sell, recommend or direct
the purchase or sale of that security for himself / herself, his / her friends or family, the Company, any affiliate or any
third party including any account over which he / she or a related entity has investment authority. For example, in the
course of a meeting, you learn that the Company’ s management is considering a major acquisition. Upon leaving the
meeting, you direct your broker, or tip a friend, family member or business relationship, to buy the targeted company’ s
or the Company’ s stock even though the proposed buy- out has not been publicly disclosed. By doing so, you have
exposed yourself and the Company to very substantial liability, since you directed the trading of securities in an account
over which you had investment discretion while in possession of inside information relating to those securities. Rule 5. No
employee, consultant, director or officer of the Company shall utilize or take advantage of inside information to purchase
or sell or recommend or direct the purchase or sale of a security for his / her own account or for any account over which
he / she has a direct or indirect beneficial interest, including an account held by or for any family member, e. g., custodial
account for a minor child, or for any other account over which he / she has discretionary investment authority or power
of attorney, e. g., a spouse’ s account or elderly parent’ s account or an account for which he / she or a related entity
serves as an investment advisor. For example, in the course of your Company duties, you learn that the Company is
having financial problems. While there has been occasional speculation about these problems in the media and a Dallas
Morning News columnist recently suggested that readers sell the Company’ s securities, the specific inside information
known by you because of your relationship with the Company has not been publicly disclosed. You sell the Company
stock held by the family foundation and your spouse’ s individual retirement account and you retain the Dallas Morning
News column in case there is any question as to what motivated the sales. Once you possess inside information, you are
foreclosed from trading securities affected by that information, as well as tipping that information to friends, family
members or business relationships. Rumors and talk on the street, even if accurate, do not release you from that
obligation. Moreover, the fact that a columnist advised readers to sell the Company’ s securities is immaterial, since you
will be deemed to have traded on the inside information you possessed and not on the columnist’ s advice. Rule 6. No
employee, consultant, director or officer of the Company shall disclose inside information to any person unless such
disclosure is both authorized by the Company under its stated policies and necessary to effectively carry out the project
or transaction for which the Company has been approached or engaged. For example, in your capacity as a Company
actuary, you learn that XYZ Firm has advised the Company in confidence that it seeks to terminate its overfunded
pension plan and use the excess 6 of 8Legal \ DisclosureCommittee \ InsiderTradingPolicy. vl7Revised 3 /10 /22 funds to
immediately repurchase 20 percent of its outstanding shares. Though you are made privy to this information solely
because you are charged with calculating the Company’ s bid on XYZ Firm’ s vested pension obligations, you
improperly disclose this inside information to an employee of an affiliated mutual fund who, trading on the information,
realizes a net profit of $ 10 million for the fund’ s shareholders. Though the fund’ s shareholders have profited from the
transaction, they do not incur any liability. By contrast, you (the tipper) and the individual who improperly traded on the
inside information would be jointly and severally liable for three times the profit gained or loss avoided, or $ 30 million
in civil sanctions alone. Additionally, depending on the adequacy of the relevant supervisory procedures, the corporate
investment adviser, the Company, and the personnel of both could face substantial, additional sanctions. Rule 7. No
employee, consultant, director or officer of the Company shall engage in “ tipping ” or solicit or recommend, whether
formally, informally, orally or in writing, the purchase or sale of any security based on inside information relevant to
that security. For example, you are a petroleum industry analyst and you’ re playing golf with the CEO of one of the
Corporatiorrcorporations Law-you follow . After a particularly poor round, the CEO turns to you and notes, “ My golf
was terrible. Luckily, I’ m a much better geologist. Last night, the Bayou well came in. Tests show it is guaranteed to
quadruple our reserves. It’ Il be on the broad tape late tomorrow. ” Upon returning to the office, you immediately
prepare a research report recommending purchase of the shares of the CEQ’ s oil concern. While there may not have
been any implied expectation of confidentiality, the CEO disclosed the information either as a gift to you or to enhance
his reputation in your eyes. Accordingly, you have inside information that cannot be the basis of a recommendation. Rule
8. No employee, consultant, director or officer of the Company shall misappropriate confidential information held by the
Company in connection with the purchase or sale of securities. For example, you learn in your capacity as a Company



attorney that the Company has been cooperating with the Justice Department regarding certain antitrust violations
engaged in by a competitor and that an indictment of the competitor and its management is imminent. You buy the
competitor’ s October put options. While you have no confidential commercial relationship with the competitor, you
nevertheless incur liability because you have misappropriated confidential information possessed by the Company for
your own use. Rule 9. The foregoing prohibitions apply not only to all securities directly affected by the inside
information, including any options related to those securities, such as puts, calls or index securities, but also to any other
securities including debt securities that may be reasonably expected to be indirectly affected by the public disclosure of
the inside information. Rule 10. No employee, consultant, director or officer of the Company shall make purchases of
Company stock on margin or engage in short sales. Rule 11. No employee, consultant, director or officer of the Company
shall engage in the purchase or sale of puts, calls or index securities that violate any of the foregoing rules. 7 of 8Legal \
DisclosureCommittee \ InsiderTradingPolicy. vl7Revised 3 /10 / 22 For example, the prohibition against the misuse of
inside information reaches all types of securities (whether stock or other equity interests, corporate debt, government or
municipal obligations, or commercial paper), as well as any option related to that security (such as a put, call or index
security). Rule 12. The very same restrictions that apply to employees, consultants, directors and officers apply to their
family members and any others living in their household. Family members include spouses, children, stepchildren,
grandchildren, parents, grandparents, siblings, and in- laws as well as all persons (whether or not related to the
employee, consultant, director or officer) who are financially dependent on the employee, consultant, director or officer,
or whose investments are controlled by the employee, consultant, director or officer. Employees are expected to be
responsible for seeing that members of their immediate family and personal household comply with these restrictions. In
addition, these restrictions apply to any entities influenced or controlled by employees, consultant, directors and officers,
including any corporations, partnerships or trusts (collectively referred to as “ Controlled Entities ”), and transactions
by these Controlled Entities should be treated as if they were for such employee’ s, consultant’ s, director’ s and officer’ s
own account. Rule 13. When information about the Company is proprietary or could have an impact on the Company’ s
stock price, employees, consultants, directors and officers must not pass the information on to others. The
aforementioned penalties apply, whether or not you get any benefit from another’ s actions. For example, the SEC has
imposed penalties on a tipper even though he did not profit from his tippee’ s trading. To reduce the chances of
inadvertent tipping of inside information, any nonpublic information that might be considered should not be discussed
with any person outside the Company. In addition, employees, consultants, directors and officers should avoid
recommending to any person the purchase or sale of the Company’ s stock. Caution must especially be used when
receiving inquiries from securities analysts, investors, prospective investors, companies in the same business as the
Company and members of the press. All such inquiries should be referred to the Company’ s General Counsel, at 972 /
770- 5600. As noted elsewhere herein, the Company has adopted Corporate Governance Guidelines that specify that
only certain authorized persons in management should speak to the financial community regarding the Company’ s
financial condition, results of operations or strategic or other business matters. Disclosure of material, non- public
information concerning the Company by anyone acting on its behalf (which will generally include directors, officers and
employees) can result in a violation of Regulation FD promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Violations of that Regulation can result in sanctions against the disclosing party as well as the Company itself. Rule 14.
Any person who has any questions about specific transactions may obtain additional guidance from the Company’ s
General Counsel, at 972 / 770- 5600. However, please remember that the ultimate responsibility for adhering to this
Policy and avoiding improper transactions rests with the employee, consultant, director or officer. 8 of 8Legal \
DisclosureCommittee \ InsiderTradingPolicy. vl7Revised 3 /10 /22



